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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
however arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part
of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of
Harbour Equine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement
T JE By

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), | am
delighted to present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue
decreases to approximately HK$69.1 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 9.5%, as compared to
revenue of approximately HK$76.3 million for the vyear
ended 31 December 2022. The Group’'s net loss increases
to approximately HK$46.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 from approximately HK$22.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022, representing an increase of
approximately 104.4%. Such increase is primarily due to the
significant loss increased by segment of equine services and
the segment of manufacturing and trading of threads.

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
selling of sewing threads and board categories of garment
accessories, provision of interior design, interior decoration
and furnishing services, and provision of trading of bloodstock,
stallion services and equine handling services, provision
of securities, advising on corporate finance and assets
management.

The Group currently manufactures polyester sewing threads,
which are mainly used for garments. The major product of the
Group is 100% spun polyester sewing threads. Other types of
sewing threads are also offered, including textured polyester
series, elastic filament sewing threads and weft yarn. The
Group’s customers are located in the People’'s Republic of
China (the “"PRC"), Hong Kong as well as overseas countries,
including but not limited to the Middle East and Mauritius.
While the Group's customers in the PRC and Hong Kong
are mainly garment manufacturers, its overseas customers
are mainly wholesalers. The production facilities of the
Group, where the sewing threads manufacturing process is
conducted, are located in Liwan, Guangzhou (the “Guangzhou
Production Facilities”).

B AR

AANZBERRESTS((ESSDRARE
ARARENBAR(LEIAEEEHEE =
E-_=ZF+-_A=+—BIEEZFEH

% o

RBERE

BE-_E-_=F+-_A=+—B1L=EE"
AEEM U =T = 469,100,000 7t -
EIEAAIL%  MEBE-_ZE-_—_F+=A4
=t+—BLEFEH KR4 A76,300,000
BT BE_E-_=%f+-_A=+—H1
FE AEEBMNEEFEREE_T -
F+Z A=+ —HIEFE422,900,000%
7T 7t = #946,800,000 7T - B A B
104.4% - ZENEEE2HRASTERBE »
HRENRTERES D BWINHE KX
BT AT R -

AEEITERERIRNMBEAREHH
TERHBHE REZART ZEARHR
EARKRERY  REHEAEFSEE ESR
BEBLIERERY RHESF REER
ERHEEAMNEEER -

AEERKEETZRARMEN KGR
AEBOEMEMABIOO% KimMAR - NE
BTARRHEEBMBEENRAR BEREGS
MR SBHBRORLEEH® K&
BEPURPEARKMBE(HE]D -
BEERERE  BEETRRBREE
BEXH - AKEBEURTEAREAENETEFE
ERREER  MEBIFPAEZEZAH
Bl o AKREMNEERBUREMNSER
(TERMNEEES]) BAGKNBERED
MR HETET

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H

5



6

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

+ EHE(8)

For the business line of interior design, fitting out and
decoration services, the Group considers that there is a
growing popularity of interior design, fitting-out and decoration
in commercial, residential and public sectors in Hong Kong and
the Greater Bay Area to seek individuality and style. Hence,
the Group expects this line of business can diversify its
existing business portfolio and to increase source of income.

For the segment of the equine business, we have taken the
opportunities to dispose of certain non performing and out
of flavour stock in order to reduce our future upkeeping and
maintenance costs. A certain level of loss has been recorded
as a result.

On the other hand, the mare Kinky Boom who was sold at
the Inglis Chairmans Sale for AU$400,000 to the bid of Lime
Country, we had purchased her for AU$320,000 two years
ago. Unfortunately, she failed to conceive in her first season at
stud but still maintained and in fact increased her value in that
period. The good-looking mare Ridicule, who was sold in May
for AU$200,000 was another highlight at the Magic Millions
National Sale along with a strong colt by Street Boss from the
imported mare “Belveeta” who sold for AU$90,000 to the bid
of Sullivan Bloodstock.

An opportunity to trade privately was identified and capitalized
when 2 foals, by Farnan and Deep Field respectively, were
sold for AU$145,000 and AU$182,000. This is a low risk
play given there is much less purchaser scrutiny from buyers
given the age of the stock purchased. An early sale eliminates
the risk of developmental issues for the seller, avoids sales
commission due when sold through traditional markets and
of course provides quick turnover and cashflow necessary for
any business.

The management team looked to consolidate our portfolio
as we seek to identify and eliminate underperforming stock
which in turn positively impacts on day to day operational
costs. The entire portfolio is reviewed weekly and assets are
selected to be retained or disposed.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

T JF B (8

The breeding and racing industry in Australia has shown a
level of resilience against the macroeconomic environment in
Australia, where the Reserve Bank of Australia has tightened
monetary policy. Huge Prize money boosts for both New
South Wales and Victoria has seen participation at an all time
high. More and more international players are getting involved,
racing is going from strength to strength and the reputation of
the Australian galloper, particularly the sprinter is the envy of
the world.

APPRECIATION

| wish to take this opportunity to extend my sincere thanks to
our shareholders, business partners, customers and suppliers
for their continuous support. | would also like to express
my deep gratitude to my fellow Directors and the Group's
management team and staff for their efforts and dedication to
the Group during the past year.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
Chairman, chief executive officer and executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis

BEE WO

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
trading of sewing threads and board categories of garment
accessories, the provision of interior design, fitting out and
decoration services and equine services business during the
year. The business review are set out in the above Chairman’s
Statement.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
The revenue was generated from the segment of

manufacturing and trading of threads product, interior design
and decoration, and equine services. The following table sets

#E
AEBFANTERETROAGNBSHRE
HBHLEERES RHEARG  KER

KRB R FERSE - FHLEEHN X
EEEE

1 3% 18
ey 78
ZREDRBAREERES EAR

FAREBEUREERESIEE - TRE
NAEERBEE T _=FK_FT_-—

out a breakdown of the Group's revenue attributable to three + - A=+ —BHBItEEAREB =D 2 E
segments of the Group of the year ended 31 December 2023 {5 Ug 25 BF 48 :
and 2022:
Year ended 31 December
2023 2022 change
—EZ-= SIS BExE
% of total % of total
HK$°000 revenue HK$'000 revenue %
FET HAKE% THET HBEKE
Manufacturing and HBOBEER
trading of threads 25 21,196 50,972 66.8 -68.4
Interior design and ERNRETREEZ
decoration 16,450 17600 23.1 -6.5
Equine services BT RB 31,413 7702 10.1 +3079
69,059 76,274 100.0 -9.5
Manufacturing and trading of threads RVNGEERES

The revenue attributable to the manufacturing and trading of
threads decreased to approximately HK$21.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately HK$51.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing
a decrease of approximately 58.4%. The revenue decrease
was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales both the
oversea market and local PRC market. The keen competition
of thread industry was deteriorating the profit margin of PRC
local market, therefore, the group slowed down the local PRC
market during the second half of 2023 and will focus for the
oversea market afterward.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B A am Mo AT (4B

Interior design and decoration

The revenue attributable to the interior design and decoration
decreased to approximately HK$16.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 from approximately HK$17.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022, representing a decrease of
approximately 6.5%. The revenue decrease is mainly due to
the group mainly focus on the higher profit margin customer
under the existing resources during the year. The Group will
release more resources to expand this segment on 2024.

Equine Services

The revenue attributable to the equine services increased
to approximately HK$31.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 from approximately HK$7.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022, representing an increase of
approximately 307.9%. The revenue increase is mainly due to
the management seen price weakness in selected segments
of the thoroughbreds market. As a result, decision has been
made to accelerate to disposal of certain bloodstock to keep
future operating expenses at a management level.

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales primarily consists of direct material
costs, processing fees, direct labour costs, welfare and social
insurance agistment costs, bloodstock insurance and direct
cost of bloodstock. The following table sets out a breakdown
of the Group’s cost of sales attributable to three segments of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Manufacturing and trading of BABEER
threads 25

Interior design and decoration ERRETRERS

Equine services BT AR 7%

EARFTREE

ERNRAREBEELAKSRIEZHEHZE
TEC=F+ A=+ —BILEFEENY
16,500,000 0 RBEE-_T-_—_F+=
A=+ —H1LEFEK#17,600,000% T &
LH65% WRBLPEZEBERFALRE
BEFXFrZH iR BAERTHBEERENE
P oAREBBR_Z-_NERMELER
AR &6 -

B R#%

FErREEEKRZENEBE-_TE-_=F
+ZA=+—HB1EFE R %31,400,0007%
T REE-_ZTE-__F+-_A=+—HI
F E K 47,700,000 7T 12 I 49307.9% -
WHEENMDETEHARNEEEIEZINMAES
MBERMBEIMBERSEHR - Bt - &
BEEEFELAENMRESZ S T4E SR
BEARRLEERS -

HERE

AEENHERATIZREEREM KA
MIEREESTRA @ RESRER
RERE  SESRBREEESERKA -
TRENAEERBE_T_=FR_-_F
T+ A=+ -—BLEEEASEE=E
7> BB & {5 35 & A AN B A

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1t—-HLEE

Rate of
2023 2022 change
—¥-=F —E-C BEpth %
HK$'000 HK$'000 %
THER FET
19,019 42,768 -55.5
12,237 11,418 -7.2
41,103 8,707 3721
72,359 62,893 15.1
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEE A Mo AT ()

Manufacturing and trading of threads

The cost of sales attributable to the manufacturing and trading
of threads decrease to approximately HK$19.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately HK$42.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing a
decrease of 55.5%. The cost of sales for the manufacturing
and trading of threads decreased was in line with the decrease
in sale for the year.

Interior design and decoration

The cost of sales attributable to the interior design and
decoration increase to approximately HK$12.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately HK$11.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 representing an
increase of 7.2%. The cost of sales for the interior design and
decoration increased is mainly due to increase of the direct
material cost for the year.

Equine services

The cost of sales attributable to the equine services increase
to approximately HK$41.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 from approximately HK$8.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 representing an increase of
372.1%. The increase of cost of sales for equine services is
mainly due to the significant agistment cost generated from
the bloodstock and the direct cost of bloodstock generated
compared with the preceding year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BB Mo AT ()

Gross (loss) profit and gross (loss) profit margin

The Group recorded a gross loss of HK$3.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 as compared with the a
gross profit HK$13.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2022, which representing a decrease of HK$16.7 million of
gross profit compared with the last year. The gross margin
deteriorated to negative 4.8% for the year end 31 December
2023 from 17.5% for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The gross profit margin of the threads segment decreased
to 10.3% for the year ended 31 December 2023 from 16.1%
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the gross profit
margin for the decoration segment is decreased to 25.6%
for the year ended 31 December 2023 from 35.1% for the
year ended 31 December 2022. However, the segment of the
equine services recorded a gross loss of HK$9.7 million and a
gross loss margin of 30.9% for the year ended 31 December
2023 totally offset the gross profit of another two segments.
The Australian economy is feeling the impact from repeated
interest rate increase by the Reserve Bank of Australia. The
management seen price weakness in selected segments of
the thoroughbreds market. As a result, decision has been
made to disposal of certain bloodstock at loss in order to keep
future operating expenses at a management level.

Other income and gain/(losses and expenses), net

The Group’s record other losses and expenses, net of
approximately HK$9.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 as compared with other income and gain, net of
approximately HK$2.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. Such change was main due to the significant increase of
fair value loss on the biological and decrease of the exchange
gain compared with last year.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of staff costs
and transportation expenses for the segment of manufacturing
and trading of threads. Selling expenses decreased to
approximately HK$3.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 from approximately HK$5.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2022, representing a decrease of approximately
35.8%. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the
staff cost and transportation expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEE A Mo AT ()

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of staff costs,
Directors’ remuneration and legal and professional fees.
Administrative expenses decreased to approximately
HK$21.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
from approximately HK$29.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, representing a decrease of approximately
27.0%. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease
in staff costs and the share option expenses recognised on
the preceding years.

Finance costs

The Group’'s finance costs increased to approximately
HK$5.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from
approximately HK$2.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2022, representing an increase of approximately 90.0%. Such
increase was mainly due to the new borrowings to support the
segment of equine services.

Loss before income tax

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded a loss before
income tax of approximately HK$46.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 from approximately HK$22.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing an
increase of approximately 103.1%.

Income tax expense

The Group recorded income tax expenses of approximately
HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. There
was no income tax expenses record for the year ended 31
December 2022. The income tax expenses is generated
from the decoration segment and the tax loss for decoration
segment is fully utilised during the year.

Total comprehensive expenses attributable to the
owners of the parent

The total comprehensive expenses attributable to the owners
of the parent increased to approximately HK$48.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately
HK$27.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022,
representing an increase of approximately 75.7%. Such
increase was mainly due to the significant loss recorded by
the equine segment and manufacturing and trading of threads
segments compare with the preceding year.
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Basic and diluted loss per share

The Company’'s basic and diluted loss per share for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately HK11.44
cents (2022: HK5.60 cents), representing an increase of
approximately 104.3%, which was mainly due to the increase
in loss attributable to the owners of the parent.

Final dividend

The board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's
operations were primarily financed through its operating and
financing activities. The Directors believe that in the long
term, the Group's operations will continue to be funded by
a combination of cash generated from the Group's operating
activities and financing activities.

The Group’'s cash and bank balances amounted to
approximately HK$4.1 million and approximately HK$2.2
million as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
functional currency of the Group is the Hong Kong dollar.
As at 31 December 2023, 93.4% of the Group's cash and
bank balances were denominated in the Group's functional
currency (31 December 2022: 35.5%) and the remaining 6.6%
(31 December 2022: 64.5%) in other currencies, mainly the
Renminbi and Australian Dollars.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has net current liabilities
of approximately HK$10.5 as compared with net current
assets of approximately HK$29.9 million compared as at
31 December 2022. The current assets included trade
receivables, contract assets, deposit and other receivables,
inventories, biological assets, tax recoverable and cash and
cash equivalents. The Group’s current ratio decreased from
approximately 1.4 as at 31 December 2022 to approximately
0.8 as at 31 December 2023.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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GEARING RATIO

The Group's gearing ratio is calculated based on net debt
(including borrowings, trade payables, other payables and
accruals, and lease liabilities, and retirement benefit obligation
less cash and cash equivalents) divided by the total equity
plus net debt at the respective reporting date. The gearing
ratio is approximately 73.5% and approximately 48.8% as at
31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively. The increase of
the gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the loss incurred
during the year.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any capital
commitments (as at 31 December 2022: nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no
change in the capital structure of the Group and the share
capital of the Group only comprises ordinary shares of the
Company (the “Shares”).

As at 31 December 2023, the Company's issued share capital
amounted to approximately HK$20.5 million, divided by
409,141,860 Shares of HK$0.05 each.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

There were neither significant investment held as at 31
December 2023 nor material acquisitions during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

EEREBLR

AEBENEEABLERNDUESREAHD
FEBEBEER BEAXSZHRE - E4
ENZERESAER HEAGEREKS
BRET BRESRRESEEY) b AE
HEBENFER2MNAE - R - =
RKZEZZ_F+ZA=+—H BEBE
Lt RS B4 B73.5% N48.8% - B E B &
LEFAFTEHANFRAEEBBEME -

BAREE

R—ZEBE-_=%+-_A=+—8B A5 H
VTEARNEAAE(R_ZE__F+=A
=+—H:&E)-

BRER
R el S ek ey il =l = o

AEENEARBYEES  AAKEN
BRAEBEARBEBEBR (KRG -

RZEBE-_=F+-_A=+—H ' ARQA8H
2 % 17 I AN 4 A&20,500,0008 5T 0 o A
409,141,860 1% & X E {E0.05/8 T M {7 ©

ERRE

0|

R-EBE-_=F4+-_A=+—HUEEEAE
AEBE BE-_S-_=#+=-A=+—H
IFEEIRES KW -



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not
have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

There is no plan for material investment or capital assets as at
31 December 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have material
contingent liabilities (as at 31 December 2022: Nil).

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its
treasury policies. The Group strives to reduce exposure to
credit risk by performing ongoing credit evaluation of the
financial conditions of its clients and credit review of the
Group’s loan portfolio. To manage liquidity risk, the Board
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk when it enters
into transactions which are not denominated in the Group's
functional currency. Such exposure mainly relates to the
distribution and sale of the Group’s products and purchases
of raw materials in the PRC and the acquisition and disposal
of broodmares and stallions and the equine services income
in Australia. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. Yet, the Group’s management
monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise. The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure
to foreign exchange risk and other financial risks are set out in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group's
assets were pledged to lenders to secure certain borrowings
granted to the Group. For details thereof please refer in Notes
29 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BB Mo AT ()

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of
123 employees (as at 31 December 2022: 141), of whom
105 were located in the PRC and 18 were located in Hong
Kong. The Group’s staff costs mainly comprised wages
and salaries, social insurance, housing provident fund and
severance payments. For the two years ended 31 December
2023, the Group’s total staff costs (excluding Directors’
emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$14.2 million and
HK$18.6 million, respectively. The Group offers remuneration
packages comprising basic salaries, discretionary bonuses
and allowances to its management and office staff. For the
workers at the Guangzhou Production Facilities, the Group
offers them salaries above the minimum wage, promotion
opportunities and budgets for social events.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations
in the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a
certain rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant
authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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There was no forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme
and Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by the
Group to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The remuneration committee of the Company is responsible
for reviewing and determining the remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management members with
reference to the salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and the desirability of
performance-based remuneration. Any discretionary bonus
and other merit payments are linked to the profit performance
of the Group and the individual performance of the Directors
and senior management members. The existing share option
scheme of the Company (the “Share Option Scheme"”)
was adopted by the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 8 February 2023 and the
previous share option scheme of the Company adopted on
24 November 2017 (the “Old Share Option Scheme"”) was
terminated on the same date. Under the Old Share Option
Scheme and the Share Option Scheme the Company may
grant options to, among others, any employees (full-time or
part-time) or Directors with a view to rewarding them for
their contributions to the Group, giving incentive to them for
optimising their performance and efficiency and attracting
as well as retaining those whose future contributions are
important to the long-term growth and profitability of the
Group. Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and
up to the date of this annual report, no share options have
been granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. Details
of share granted under the Old Share Option Scheme are set
out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statement of this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has in
all material respects complied with all relevant laws, rules and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group and its
operations in Hong Kong, PRC and Australia.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

In order to better integrate the concept of social responsibility
into the Group’s strategy and decision-making and to further
guide the Group to develop a socially responsible practice,
the Group has established an environmental, social and
governance (“ESG") report preparation team. While preparing
the report, the Group strives to incorporate the notion of
sustainable development into its daily operations.

Meanwhile, the Group has established a systematic
stakeholder communication channel with the aim to facilitate
positive interactions with the Group’s stakeholders, actively
respond to relevant litigation issues and promote quality,
effective and sustainable growth. Throughout the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group has maintained its business
integrity and dedication to environmental protection, while
continuously striving to improve quality management and
employee care.

For further information in relation to the Group's ESG
practices, please refer to the Group's separate ESG report,
which is published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Employees are considered to be one of the most important
factors that contribute to the productivity of the Group.
Employees of the Group are mainly provided with on-the-job
training as well as remuneration packages and allowances.

The Group also communicates closely with its customers to
obtain valuable feedback and provides them with information
about the Group’'s products and trends in the sewing threads
market. The Group has maintained business relationships
with its five largest customers for a period ranging from
approximately five to twenty years, respectively. Likewise,
the Group has also established stable relationships with its
suppliers. As such, the Directors believe that the Group has
developed a trustworthy and reliable reputation as well as a
strong partnership with its customers and suppliers.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

For the existing principal business of manufacturing and
selling of sewing threads, the Group has experienced some
difficulties and uncertainties due to the ongoing trade conflict
between the People's Republic of China (the “PRC") and
the United States of America (“U.S.”) as well as the gradual
slowdown of the PRC economy. In coming year, we expect
that the trade conflict between the PRC and the US and the
high interest rate environment will still continue impacting our
business. The Group will continue to pay close attention to
the trade conflict and high interest rate environment and to
evaluate its impact on the financial position, cashflows and
operating result of this business line.

For the business line of interior design, fitting out and
decoration services, the Group consider that there is a
growing popularity of interior design, fitting-out and decoration
in commercial, residential and public sectors in Hong Kong and
the Greater Bay Area to seek individuality and style. Hence,
the Group expected the new line of business can diversify its
existing business portfolio and to increase source of income.

For the equine services segment, the management approach
the most exciting period for Autumn racing we are excited
to have our 3 years old Group 3 winner Raikoke heading to
Sydney for the A$1M Arrowfield sprint on day 2 of the Sydney
Championships. The headline race for the 3 years old which
goes a long way to deciding Champion 3 years old. Raikoke,
who was purchased at the Inglis Premier sale, will be a live
chance to be partnered by regular jockey Ben Melham.

Moreover, 3 years old colt Transatlantic, was most impressive
winning over 1500m last start and will target the G2
Queensland Guineas. Queensland’s champion trainer affirmed
his strong opinion of this colt by Snitzel post race saying “he
has taken a little time but he is a serious colt who will play a
leading role throughout the Queensland carnival. If successful,
given his pedigree, one would think a career in the stallion
barn beckons.
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For the stallion, Jacquinot, who we retired to the famous
Widden stud in the Hunter Valley, was most popular amongst
the key Australian breeders and will have a first crop of over
130 goals hit the ground come Springtime (Aug onwards).
His fellow barn mate Portland Sky, himself the only Group 1
winning sire at stud by HK favourite Deep Field, will see his
first weanlings hit the sales ring in May. A favourable market
reception will further enhance his stallion prospects.

We have a number of exciting breeding prospects heading to
the sales highlighted by the smashing Wooton Basset colt x
Slypheed at the Inglis weanling sales. Sylpheed herself will
also grace the sales ring when offered by Segenhoe Stud with
an exciting early service to the aforementioned Portland Sky.

The Directors would continue to review the existing
businesses of the Group from time to time with a view to
improving the business operation and financial position of the
Group. The Board considers that it is beneficial for the Group
to seek suitable investment and disposal opportunities with
a view to increasing the value of the Group and maximising
returns to the Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (£ Bl {£), aged 64, was appointed
as a Director and the chairman of the Board on 18 August
2016 and re-designated as an executive Director on 23 June
2017. He is also the chief executive officer, the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company, one of the Group's
controlling shareholders. Mr. Wong is primarily responsible
for the management and overall strategic planning and
development of the Group. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of
experience in accounting and assurances.

Mr. Wong obtained his higher diploma in accountancy from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in November 1982. Mr. Wong was
admitted as a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and as an associate of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in November
1992 and February 2008, respectively. From April 2019 to
May 2020, Mr. Wong is an independent non-executive director
of JBB Builders International Limited (stock code: 1903), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
From May 2019 to January 2020, Mr. Wong served as an
independent non-executive director of Yi Hua Holdings Limited
(stock code: 2213), a company delisted on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 21 March 2022.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.
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Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch (B ¥ %), aged 57, was appointed
as the company secretary, compliance officer and an executive
Director of the Company on 18 August 2016, 23 June 2017
and 19 February 2020, respectively. Mr. Chan resigned as the
company secretary on 31 August 2022. Mr. Chan obtained his
bachelor’s degree of art in accountancy from City University of
Hong Kong (formerly known as City Polytechnic of Hong Kong)
in November 1992 and was admitted as a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in February
1997 and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in April 2001, respectively. From June 2006 to
December 2011, Mr. Chan served as an executive director
of the tax department of Ernst & Young, an international
accounting firm, where he was primarily responsible for
providing tax and business advisory services to both
international and domestic companies operating in the PRC.
Further, Mr. Chan served as a partner in the tax department
of the Guangzhou Branch of Grant Thornton, an international
accounting firm, from October 2012 to October 2015 where
he was primarily responsible for developing the tax practice in
Guangzhou. Mr. Chan has also been serving as an independent
director of Natural Health Trends Corp. (stock code: NHTC), an
international direct-selling and e-commerce company listed on
the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, since December 2015, and is
responsible for supervising and providing independent advice
to the board of the company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.
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Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex (£ 57%), aged 46, obtained his
bachelor's degree in commerce specialising in economics
and finance from the University of Melbourne in Australia in
1999. Mr. Leung has over 20 years of experience in financial
services sector, mainly in compliance and asset management.
From July 2014 to December 2020, Mr. Leung served as an
executive director of DT Capital Limited, whose shares are
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 356).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Leung did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.

Mr. Ma Pok Man Josiah (51 X), aged 44, has over 15
years of experience in the horse racing and breeding industry
in Hong Kong and Australia. Mr. Ma set foot in the horse
racing industry as a horse owner in Hong Kong in 2005.
Since 2009, he has also been involved in the horse breeding
industry and is a shareholder of various stallions in Australia
and manages various syndicates which own broodmares,
yearlings and racehorses in Australia. Mr. Ma is also the Hon
Secretary (Racing) of the Hong Kong Racehorse Owners
Association. Apart from his experience in the horse racing and
breeding industry, Mr. Ma has over 20 years of experience as
an engineer in the construction industry. Mr. Ma is currently a
director and shareholder of JM & Associates Limited (X # B8
fl B BR A |]), a company principally engaged in the provision of
architectural and engineering consultancy services in respect
of property development in Hong Kong, which he acted as
the Authorised Person, Registered Structural Engineer and
design engineer for various construction projects. Mr. Ma
obtained his bachelor’'s degree in civil engineering from the
University of New South Wales, Australia in May 2002 and a
master’s degree in business administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in September 2011. He was admitted
as a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
("HKIE") in 2007, a Registered Professional Engineer in 2008,
a Registered Structural Engineer in 2009 and an Authorised
Person (List of Engineers) in 2010. Mr. Ma is also a director
of Wai Ji Christian Service and a Professional Assessment
Assessor to the HKIE.

Mr. Ma did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the three
preceding years.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

REMRE(RKE]D 465 R—LLAN
FRENBEAXBEE FEREBLE
U FEEERSHE - RAETSRE
BH(FERERNEEEEFEHEA
BAFERH RNRIE—NFE+AE-_ZZ
TFE+_H REEETRERTERABRA
ANRITEE EHBRMOREBEBH ARSI
ERAR BRI ER LMD AR
356) °

BREXHEEN RELBEERKRERA
THHA=ZFRELEREZFREBLEIH
FAESFME LM IEMEM ETRAR
RAFEEEMEMEERY -

BEAXALE 445 REERBRMNESFR
ERTXEEBRISFER -FSEER_E
ThEPREBTE KAFEBE - A
“RRNFUR RS RBFEERITE
TRMEBRESHRR  YRXBRMNEER
EERES  —mEREFNEREAL -
SAEENRETEEFTINENEBWE (B
S5FE% BEEGEEAERERERATE
MR TREETERAB20FH
TERALR FSERERAREBEREARA
A-HAEIERERETEFHEREREM
BERTIRBARBOARTDNEZTER
R -UBEEZBERERENRAAL
A TARAD R R AT TA2AD - HSELER
“EE_HERARBRMNFT R K
TATIREBLEN - IR_ZE——FNA
RMEFBEFINAREIFEEB L2 - &
R-ZBZELFRBEARBTEIRMBE(F
BIERMBE)EE R_TT/\FEE
MRIMEXTREN R-STNFER
MREAMEBIREMENR _ZT-—SFER
MEBRATAL(IEMBE) - FEETR
BEHEERBGREESREFETIEMES
HEXFREAMEE -

SEENBE=ZFHRERIEFNETER
BIMEMEFESME LM AT EM LWk
NRBAREFEMETRY -



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Mr. Shane McGrath, aged 46, has over 20 years of
experience in the horse racing and breeding industry in
Australia. Mr. McGrath has been the chief executive officer
of Aquis Farm since May 2017 and will resign from such
position with effect from 31 December 2021.
bloodstock sales manager at Coolmore Australia from
November 2009 to May 2017 and a general manager at Eliza
Park Stud from March 2000 to March 2009. At Eliza Park
Stud, in addition to the development of a successful pre-
training and racing division, Mr. McGrath oversaw the stallion
operation from a three-stallion roster to 12 during his tenure.
Under his leadership, Eliza Park Stud became one of the most
recognized stud farms in Victoria, Australia with participation
from local and international partners Mr. McGrath introduced.
At Coolmore Australia, Mr. McGrath promoted successfully
the syndication concept with an aim to achieve risk sharing
and capital participation in its stallion portfolio and assisted in
raising fresh capital for expansion. Two of the most famous
stallion syndicates promoted by Mr. McGrath were retired
champion racehorses “Pierro” and “So You Think"”. During his
tenure at Aquis Farm, Mr. McGrath was the chief executive
officer and oversaw a team of approximately 150 staff. He
led the team and established stud bases in different states
across eastern Australia, most notably a Hunter Valley base in
the state of New South Wales, in partnership with Emirates
Park in which the stallion careers of Invader and Spieth were
launched. In addition, at the Canungra headquarters in the
state of Queensland, inaugural stallion “Spill The Beans”
served a record number of mares in his first season and
also subsequently became the champion first season sire in
Queensland. Mr. McGrath was also instrumental in selecting
high calibre racehorses for Aquis Farm including Farnan,
Anders, Prague, Sunlight, Fundamentalist, Houtzen, Away
Game, Osamu and Holyfield. Under Mr. McGrath's leadership,
Invader, The Mission, Divine Prophet, Spieth have commenced
their stallion careers.

He was a

Mr. McGrath did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the three
preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming (R 2 8), aged 66, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director on 24 November
2017. Mr. Sung is also the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of each of the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of the Group. Mr. Sung has over
30 years of experience in accounting and assurances. Mr.
Sung graduated from La Trobe University in Australia in March
1984 with a bachelor’'s degree in economics. Mr. Sung was
admitted as a fellow of the Taxation Institute of Australia and
a member and fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in November 1987, December 1987
and February 1995, respectively. He was also admitted as
an associate of CPA Australia and Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand in March 1986 and April 1989,
respectively. Mr. Sung has been the sole proprietor of Alfred
Sung & Co. since 1999 and he is primarily responsible for
overseeing audit and taxation works. Currently, Mr. Sung
serves as an executive director and chief financial officer of
Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited (stock code:
8426), a company listed on GEM.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Sung did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.
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Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold (PR # B1), aged 64, obtained his
bachelor’'s degree in business administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1986, a postgraduate diploma in
banking and finance from the City University of Hong Kong
(formerly known as City Polytechnic of Hong Kong) in 1990
and a master's degree in finance from City University of Hong
Kong in 1995. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute, UK Chartered Management Institute,
Certified Practising Accountants, Australia and a Chartered
Financial Analyst charterholder. Mr. Chan has extensive
experience in project finance and fund-raising activities for
construction projects in Hong Kong and Asia Pacific. He
is currently an independent non-executive director of JBB
Builders International Limited (stock code: 1903) and Upbest
Group Limited (stock code: 335), whose shares are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel (& & 18), aged 41, obtained
his bachelor of science degree in mathematics, economics
and finance from The University of Hong Kong in 2004. Mr.
Chow is a Chartered Financial Analyst. Mr. Chow has over 15
years of experience in managing investment funds. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Chow served at Dah Sing Bank from
October 2004 to July 2005 as a risk control assistant and he
served at JK Capital Management Limited from July 2005 to
December 2017 with his last position as an assistant portfolio
manager. From May 2018 to May 2019, Mr. Chow served as
an assistant portfolio manager at Step Capital Management
(HK) Limited. From May 2019 to August 2020, Mr. Chow
served as a portfolio manager at Reliance International
Financial Planners Limited. From September 2020 to June
2022, Mr. Chow served as a portfolio manager at Perpetuum
Wealth Management Limited, he served as a responsible
officer to carry out Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the SFO. From
June 2022 to September 2023, Mr. Chow served as a portfolio
manager at Browen Capital (HK) Limited, he served as a
responsible officer to carry out Type 4 (advising on securities)
and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
SFO.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EEkafheEBEBNREFE(E)

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chow did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung Tat Chi (R¥Z &), aged 50, is the director of LMP
International Limited., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (“LMP"). Mr. Leung is primarily responsible for
the management of business operations of LMP. Mr. Leung
joined the Group in February 2021. Mr. Leung graduated from
the Caledonian University with a higher national diploma
in interior design. Mr. Leung has over 24 years experience
in interior design and project management. Mr. Leung
was a member of Hong Kong General Chamber of Young
Entrepreneurs and also the Vice President of Hong Kong
Bio-Environment Energy Association (HKBEE) between 2017
to 2018. Mr. Leung had also been appointed Junior Police Call
Honorary President for Tseung Kwan O District by the Hong
Kong Police Force.

Ms. Liu Jinghui (2/# £), aged 50, is the financial controller
of Guangzhou Xinhua Thread Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (“Guangzhou Xinhua").
Ms. Liu is primarily responsible for the financial control of
Guangzhou Xinhua. Ms. Liu joined the Group in August 1994.
Ms. Liu received her associate degree in polymer chemical
engineering from the South China University of Technology
(E2® I T KE) in the PRC in July 1994. She also obtained
qualifications as a registered tax adviser from the Department
of Personnel of the Guangdong Province (B E & AFEEE) in
October 2004.

Mr. Lui Hak Kong ( & % Ml ), aged 59, is the production
manager of Guangzhou Xinhua. Mr. Lui is primarily responsible
for the production management as well as quality control of
Guangzhou Xinhua. Mr. Lui joined the Group in June 1996.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lui worked for Dik Sun Dyeing
Factory Ltd. as a person-in-charge for its laboratory and
quality control from June 1990 to April 1996. From June 1983
to March 1990, Mr. Lui worked as a merchandiser and site
leader of Fang Brothers Knitting Limited, which was a knitting
company.
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Corporate Governance Report

TERERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that cultivating and maintaining a culture
focused on good corporate governance is essential to
effect strong business growth and continue the efficient
management of the Company. The Directors are of the view
that strong corporate governance practices can safeguard the
interests of and ensure accountability to the Shareholders as a
whole.

The corporate governance code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules has been adopted
by the Board. Nevertheless, the Directors are committed
to regularly reviewing its corporate governance practices to
ensure conformity with the standard set out in the CG Code,
as well as meeting the rising expectation of the Shareholders
and other stakeholders of the Company.

Except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code, details of which are set out in the section headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” in this corporate
governance report, the Board is of the view that the Company
has complied with the code provisions for the year ended 31
December 2023.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the standard of dealings regarding
securities transactions by the Directors equivalent to the
required standard of dealings as set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors have all confirmed,
having been made specific enquiry by the Company, that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings and the
required standard concerning securities transactions by the
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TERER®RSE(E)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises:

Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
(Chairman and chief executive officer)
BRRBEE(FEFTHAEE)
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch
PR 1R 3R % A&
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex
REWREE

E=xg
EEEnAK

EEeRRERE:

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah (resigned as an Executive Director on 29 February 2024)
B EE (R=ZFZF-A=-FLAFGFFHNTESE)

Mr. Shane McGrath
Shane McGrath 5t 4

Independent non-executive Directors
BIYFHTES

Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming

RIRAR % A&

Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold

PR ME B 55 4

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel

AREEXE

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

Except as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management”, there has been
no financial, business, family or other material relationship
among the Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

tERER®RE(E)

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has provided
a written confirmation of his independence and the Company
regards them as independent pursuant to rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Board will hold regular board meetings at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Such meetings are
expected to involve active participation, either in person or
through electronic means of communication, of a majority of
the Directors entitled to be present.

Below is the attendance record of each Director at the Board
meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2023:
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Attendance/

number of

meetings held

HERE

Name of Directors EENR BITEERY
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert HEERE 3/4
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch PR 2 3R ST A& 4/4
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex REWEE 4/4
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah SEXEE 4/4
Mr. Shane McGrath Shane McGrath %t & 3/4
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming NI LA 4/4
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold PR i B % £ 4/4
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel BAEREXSE 4/4
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Below is the attendance record of each Director at the general
meeting of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2023:

NTASAEERBE_S-=4F+-f
S+—ALFEEGNARAREBEA
ChEE

Attendance/

number of

meetings held

HERE

Name of Directors EENF BITERERH
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert EREFELEE 1/1
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch PR B 2R ST A 1/1
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex REWREE 11
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah SEXELE 1/
Mr. Shane McGrath Shane McGrath 7t 4 1/1
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming RIZEH % A& 11
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold BR 3 B 5% & 11
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel BAEELXSE 1/1

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is primarily responsible for the overall management
and strategic planning and development of the Group, which
may involve convening general meetings and reporting the
Board's work at a shareholders’ meeting, determining business
and investment plans, preparing annual financial budgets and
final reports and formulating proposals for profit distributions.
Day-to-day management is alternatively delegated to the
executive Directors and senior management. The functions
delegated to senior management are regularly reviewed by the
Board to ensure that they are appropriately aligned with the
Group's needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company had
three independent non-executive Directors and was at all
times in compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules, which specifies that the independent non-executive
Directors must represent at least one third of the Board
members with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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The Company has arranged appropriate insurance policies to
cover the Directors’ risk exposure/liabilities with respect to
any legal actions against the Directors arising from corporate
activities of the Company. Such insurance coverage was
reviewed by the Board and shall continue to be reviewed
annually.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no committee for
corporate governance was established and the Board is thus
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
outlined in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Directors may hold Board meetings when necessary and
include any relevant matters for discussion in the agenda as
they see fit. A minimum of 14 days’ notice of such Board
meetings is given to all Directors. A draft agenda for each
Board meeting typically accompanies the notice to give the
Directors an opportunity to raise any other relevant issues for
discussion in the meeting. Board papers and related materials
to the meeting are circulated to each Director before each
meeting for their perusal to ensure that they can make an
informed decision to discharge their duty as a Director.

Draft minutes are also circulated to the Directors for their
comment and review after each Board meeting is held, and
the minutes of the Board and the Company’s committees are
kept by the company secretary of the Company. Each Board
member and Director has access to the advice and service
of the company secretary of the Company in order to comply
with relevant procedures and applicable rules and regulations.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating
elements of good corporate governance in management
structures and internal control procedures in order to achieve
effective accountability.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules, except for the deviation from the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, which stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

ARBICEEBEERR  AREARAE
XEPmol BBt B EETNEMERF
AREENEERR B - FHEAREE
ERHEFSRHNIEBEFEHN R -

DR EABEE
RBEZF-_-F+-A=+—HALFE
BERXIVECXERZES Hit  EFE
BEETHE ST A ST AR XD.3ME B
M bR E BB -

EFURLERBHEFESS INHE

ﬂ%m?%%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ FEHAAEG
ZEE AHREFETRANTREFH

HELURBRN -SEFC2HARVE
BEERNSR  UAEERME-—ERE

FREECAEMCERIREENRS - &
FEXHLRERERMHREEZNTH
TERERAHEFRN  BEREAELANIE
RENBITTEESHE -

ERCHVIRNMEREFTUHEANESES
CERBRTREREALEN EFER

ARAEZEEERCHALRRARAWE
RE - BEFEXREBEREFCREARFA

REMEZRBERXMRE  NETFHH
2R ERRRRER -
IRERITRAR

EZAREERBRANENREFTE
ARMEEEATEZUNEREREAEN
EEZM%-

BE_E_=Ff4+-_A=+—HBItFE"
AREB—HEFTCGEM EmHAME TR
FrEmE<FR - ERBEDE T A& SF R
& SCA2 VG BR AN - FZ & FT AR £ T 8177 X
BRENBEESED  THEA—ARKR
£ o

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H

33



34

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TERER®RSE(E)

Mr. Wong, who is the chairman of the Board as well as the
chief executive officer of the Company, has been involved
in the daily operations and management of the Group since
2008. The Directors consider that vesting the roles of the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company in Mr. Wong will ensure strong and consistent
leadership, facilitate the Group’s business strategies and boost
the effectiveness of the Company’s operation. The Board will
continue to review this arrangement and consider splitting
the roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company when such role splitting is beneficial
to the Group as a whole.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”)
state that at each annual general meeting (the "AGM"), one
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
Director retiring by rotation shall be eligible for re-election.

While each of the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company to act as a non-executive
Director or independent non-executive Director for a fixed
term of three years, the non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors appointed are also
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election according to
the Articles. Independent non-executive Directors are required
to notify the Company as soon as practicable if there is any
change that may affect their independence and each of them
must provide a written confirmation of his independence every
year.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To ensure that the Directors’ contribution to the Board remains
relevant and informed, the Directors are to participate in
continuous professional development through which their
knowledge and skills can be refreshed and strengthened. As
part of the Directors’ continuous professional development
programme, newly appointed Directors are to receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction upon their
appointment as a Director while existing Directors receive
additional training when appropriate to ensure that they
are aware of and are able to comply with the obligations
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and any other statutory
requirements. The company secretary of the Company is
responsible for maintaining and updating records for the
Directors’ training sessions.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all the Directors,
namely, Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert, Mr. Chan Yiu Tung,
Enoch, Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex, Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah,
Mr. Shane McGrath, Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming, Mr. Chan Tsun
Choi, Arnold and Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel, comprising the
Board during the year ended 31 December 2023, participated
in a training session and each Director was provided with
relevant guidance materials with respect to the laws applicable
to Directors, the roles and responsibilities of Directors and the
Directors’ duty to disclose their interest.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) on 24 November 2017 in
order to oversee particular functions of the Company. These
committees of the Board have been established with written
terms of reference that clearly outline their authorities, powers
and duties. These terms of reference can be found on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established pursuant to rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3
of the CG Code. The Audit Committee is mainly responsible
for reviewing financial information, monitoring the Company’s
financial reporting system and internal control procedures and
maintaining the relationship with the Company’s auditors.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming
(the chairman), Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold and Mr. Chow Chin
Hang, Joel. No member of the current Audit Committee is a
member of the previous independent auditor of the Company.
The Audit Committee has reviewed this annual report as well
as the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The current terms of reference state that the Audit Committee
shall have at least four meetings annually. The Audit
Committee held a meeting on 28 March 2024 to (i) review
and approve the annual financial results in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2023; (ii) discuss and consider issues
significant to financial reporting, controls on operations and
compliance, the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems; and (iii) review the appointment of
the auditor and its relevant scope of work.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit
Committee held five meetings, where the Audit Committee
reviewed and discussed, amongst other matters, (i) the
Group's consolidated results for the year ended 31 December
2022; (ii) the Group’s consolidated results for the three months
ended 31 March 2023; (iii) the Group's consolidated results
for the six months ended 30 June 2023; (iv) the Group’s
consolidated results for the nine months ended 30 September
2023; (v) the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures of the Group; and (vi) appointment of auditor of the
Group.
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Below is the attendance record of each member of the Audit I TAEZE-_ZTZT-_=F+-_/F=+—HI1t
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2023: FTEEZZESSKELFEEZMNLH:
Attendance/
number of
meetings held
HERE
Name of Directors EENR BITEERY
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming (chairman) RIBEEE(EE) 5/5
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold PR 3 B % 5/5
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel BAEREZLSE 5/5

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chow Chin
Hang, Joel (the chairman), Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming and Mr.
Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold.

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible
for making regular recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management of the Company and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing the remuneration policy. The remuneration
committee also responsible for reviewing and/or approving
matter relation to share schemes under Chapter 23 of the
GEM Listing Rules and approving the grant of options and
share awards to eligible participants pursuant to the share
schemes of the Company.

The current terms of reference state that the remuneration
Committee shall have at least one meeting annually. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting, where they reviewed
the remuneration packages for all Directors and senior
management of the Company and made recommendations to
the Board.

FHESES

FWEE SRR 2B UFNTES
AERELRE(ER) RERLEERRE
BrEAE -

YWEZESTEZRAERARRAEZBESER
EREEEN TR R REBAREZ L
HEFHBRENERARERRERF BE
EeEH T HEZ - FHNZESeFEgaEE
BIEGEM Em B A F23E M &5 it
HHERBROTEEENERT  URILERE
AARBRMHAERMEERLEEREER
ERRGHER -

REBREBENE FWEESETFER
HEL—Rg8F HE_ZT-_=ZF+=A
=+ —HLtLFE FHEESEBIT K
CE MESERELEHNARARZEE
EREREEENTNES  TREES
EHER -

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H

37



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEER/RHE(E)

Below is the attendance record of each member of the MNTAHEZE-_ZTZ-_=F+-_A=+—HI1t
Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 December FEFHHEZEeSKELEESZ ML

2023:
Attendance/
number of
meetings held
HEXRE
Name of Directors BEENF HTERREY
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel (chairman) ARELEE(EE) 1/1
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming RIBRP &4 1/1
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold PR HE B 5 A 1/1

Details regarding emoluments of the Directors for the year BB ESEFREBEE_ZT_=F+_-_A=+—
ended 31 December 2023 are outlined in note 13 to the BIFFEMNMELEBMARNAEERE LS
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. A RN TS -

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the number of HEZZT-_=F+=-A=+—HIEFE -
senior management members whose remuneration fell within  Bl& N F T3 HBE NS R EIEEK B A

the following band is as follows: m
Number of
individuals
Remuneration band N & E A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 3
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZEE®

The Nomination Committee currently consists of one executive RELZZECRABE—ZHITES  Aa
Director, namely, Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (the chairman) BEX4E(XFFEIR="EBBIEHTES
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. BIRIERALA  REFLEERFEARELALE -
Sung Alfred Lee Ming, Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold and Mr.

Chow Chin Hang, Joel.
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The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for
regularly reviewing the structure of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed change
to the structure of the Board. Following the establishment of
the Nomination Committee, the Company has adopted a board
diversity policy in order to achieve diversity on the Board.
As such, Board members are selected based on a range of
diverse perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.

The current terms of reference state that the Nomination
Committee shall have at least one meeting annually.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting, where they assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
recommended to the Board for the re-appointment of all the
retiring Directors at the annual general meeting.

Below is the attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 December
2023:
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FERZZEBSSHNELNFESHMNLE:

Attendance/

number of

meetings held

HERE

Name of Directors EEHR BITEREARH
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (chairman) — & B{& % 4 (£ &) 1/1
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming N IR BA SR A 1/1
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold PR i B % A 11
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel BARELE 1/1
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board recognises the importance of diversity in the
Board composition and has adopted a board diversity policy
which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company and also to enhance
the quality of performance of the Company. In designing
the Board’s composition, selection of candidates has been
considered from a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
industry experience, technical and professional skills and/or
qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be
devoted as a director. The Company will also take into account
factors relating to its own business model and specific needs
from time to time. The ultimate decision is based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee has considered and reviewed
the composition and diversity of the Board. All the executive
Directors and non-executive Director possess extensive
and diversified experience in management and industrial
experience. The three independent non-executive Directors
possess professional knowledge in management, finance,
accounting and legal aspects. The Nomination Committee will
review the board diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Board understands a single gender board will not
consider diversity to be achieved. The Board has looked
forward the potential candidates and will appoint a director
of a different gender no later than 31 December 2024. For
the detailed gender ratio in the workforce, please refer to the
environmental, social and governance report.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Group has mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board and such mechanisms will
be reviewed annually by the Board, encouraging all directors
including independent non-executive directors to express their
views in an open manner during the Board/Board Committees
meetings. While all independent non-executive directors are
also members of the board committees to enable various
and independent view in company’s matter. In addition, all
Directors, including independent non-executive directors, are
entitled to seek further information and documentation from
the management on the matters to be discussed at board
meetings. They can also seek assistance from the company
secretary (the “Company Secretary”) and, where necessary,
independent advice from external professional advisers at
the Company’s expense. The Board considered the said
mechanisms has been operating effectively.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors understand and recognise their responsibility to
(i) prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group;
and (i) ensure that such financial statements are prepared to
give a true and accurate view of the state of affairs, results
and cash flows of the Group in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance as well
as any internal standards deemed appropriate and necessary
by the Directors in order to prepare the Group's consolidated
financial statements. Further, the Directors also strive to offer
a fair and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s financial
position and prospects and ensure timely publication of the
financial statements of the Group. The Directors confirm that
as at 31 December 2023, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
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The responsibility of the independent auditor of the Company
is to form its independent opinion based on its audit on those
consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board, and
to report its opinion to the Shareholders. Further details of
their reporting responsibility are set out in the independent
auditor’s report of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems. As such, the Directors are committed to
reviewing such systems regularly. The Board, the Company’s
internal audit division and the Audit Committee conducted a
review of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems during the year ended 31 December 2023 and were
satisfied with their adequacy and effectiveness. Similarly, the
Board also examined the Group's internal control systems in
terms of financial, operational, compliance, procedural and risk
management functions and were generally satisfied with the
effectiveness of the current systems in place.
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The Directors understand that the enforcement of risk
management and internal control systems is essential to the
Group's ability to manage and minimise risks that may affect
the Group’s efficiency and effectiveness, or inhibit it from
achieving the business objectives.

In relation to the undertakings provided by the controlling
Shareholders in respect of the deed of non-competition,
the details of which are outlined in the Prospectus, the
independent non-executive Directors confirm that they
have reviewed the enforcement of such undertakings and
conclude that there are no outstanding issues regarding the
undertakings that need to be raised with the Shareholders and
the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees paid or
payable to the Company's independent external auditor, Asian
Alliance and subsidiaries’ auditor, for the audit services for the
Group are approximately as follows:
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Amount

&4

HK$'000

Type of service BR 7% 38 Bl FAETT
Audit services E 2R 1,022

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman on board governance matters, and is responsible
for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and also
facilitating communications among Directors as well as with
shareholders and management.

Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan (“Mr. Hui"”) was appointed as the
Company Secretary on 31 August 2022. Mr. Hui had complied
with the professional training requirements to update his skills
and knowledge under Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In order to protect their own rights and interests, Shareholders
may propose separate resolutions in regard to substantial
issues at Shareholders’ meetings for consideration and voting.
According to the GEM Listing Rules, all resolutions presented
at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll, and after
the relevant Shareholders’ meeting, the results of such a
poll will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company. Pursuant to the Articles, an AGM will be
held annually in the relevant territory where the Shares are
listed, or elsewhere as may be determined by the Board.
Any meeting other than an AGM is deemed an extraordinary
general meeting ("EGM").

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETINGS

Extraordinary general meetings can be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of the deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at the general meetings. Such requisition must be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition.

Shareholders must send their written resolutions, together
with their full name, contact details and identification, by post
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong or by email for the attention of the company secretary of
the Company, details of which are set out below:

. b/F, Caltex House
258 Hennessy Road
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Principal place of
business of the
Company in Hong
Kong

Email address . info@harbourequine.com
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An extraordinary general meeting must be within two months
after the deposit of the requisition. If, within 21 days after
the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

RIGHT OF RAISING ENQUIRIES

For queries about shareholdings, share transfers, registrations
and dividend payments, Shareholders should contact the
Company’'s Hong Kong branch share registrar, whose details
are set out in the section headed “Corporate Information” of
this annual report.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'’
MEETINGS

The Articles provide that Shareholders who wish to put
a resolution to a vote may convene an EGM by means of
requisition using the procedure set out above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company utilises various channels to communicate with
its shareholders and investors, including (i) the AGM or EGM,
which allows Shareholders to comment and exchange views
with the Board; (ii) the publication of interim, quarterly and
annual reports; (iii) notices, announcements and circulars; and
(iv) the Company's website at www.harbourequine.com.
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The Directors are pleased to present this report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 18 August 2016.
On 22 June 2017, the Group completed a group reorganisation
(the “Reorganisation”), details of which are set out in the
section headed "History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure” in the Prospectus. Through various reorganisation
procedures, the Company became the holding company of the
Group upon completion of the Reorganisation.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the
primary activities of its principal subsidiaries are the sale
and manufacture and selling of sewing threads and board
categories of garment accessories, provision of interior
design, interior decoration and furnishing services, trading of
bloodstock, stallion services and equine handling services.
The principal activities also included securities, advising
on corporate finance and assets management. Details of
the Group’s principal activities are set out in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of this
annual report. The Board does not recommend the payment of
a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the Group's property, plant and
equipment for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group's performance for the year
ended 31 December 2023, the main issues impacting its
results and financial position are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
In addition, a discussion of the likely future development of the
Group's business is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's profitability, financial position, results of
operations, business operations and prospects may be
affected by a variety of risks including foreign currency risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's risk
management system and policies are shown in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Further, the Group may also be exposed to other risks that
may be beyond its control. For the threads segment, the
Group may experience material price fluctuations of fibre
and yarn, both being raw materials principally used in the
manufacturing process of sewing threads. The Group also
faces business risks, including (i) failure to secure a supply as
the Group does not enter into long-term supply contracts with
its suppliers; (ii) any unexpected disruption in the Guangzhou
Production Facilities; and (iii) any labour shortage, increase
in labour costs or other factors affecting labour supply in the
PRC, For the equine segment, the Group may experience
material price fluctuations of the bloodstock market due to the
impact from repeated interest rate increase by the Reserve
Bank of Australia. Also, the performance and growth condition
of the bloodstock also influence the price of the bloodstock.
Each of which may materially and adversely affect the Group's
operations, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the five years ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the
section headed “Five Year Financial Summary” of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements of the issued share capital of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights pursuant to
the Articles or the laws of the Cayman lIslands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would require the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of this annual
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, no Company's reserves available
for distribution to Shareholders, calculated according to
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands (2022: HK$47.0 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, sales to the Group's
largest customer and five largest customers represented
approximately 11.6% (2022: approximately 22.4%) and 39.1%
(2022: approximately 43.0%) of the Group’s total revenue,
respectively. The Group's suppliers include suppliers of
raw materials and processing works. For the year ended
31 December 2023, supplies attributable to the Group's
largest supplier and five largest suppliers represented
approximately 6.8% (2022: approximately 11.9%) and 21.7%
(2022: approximately 45.3%) of the Group’s total supplies,
respectively.
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To the Directors’ best knowledge, none of the Directors or
any of close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
or any Shareholder who or which own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital had any beneficial interest in
any of the five largest customers and/or five largest suppliers
of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
(Chairman and chief executive officer)
BREBEE(FERTHEH)
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch

BEEMA EFRTANETHEACE
EZRGEMLEMRA XK HEBL5% A LR F
EETRANBRERATERELELAEE
AAREFR,/SAREEETHEETME

Az ogde Nz
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RBE-_ T _=F+_A=+—HILtFE
FEEAFEREBH  EEWNTHR:

B 1B R % A4

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex

REWESE

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah (resigned as an Executive Director on 29 February 2024)
BEXTE (RZFZF-A=-FNLAFEFEHNTESE)

Mr. Shane McGrath
Shane McGrath 7t 4

Independent non-executive Directors
BYFHITES

Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming

RIBHEE

Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold

BR M BY SR &

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel

B8 %k &
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Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, the Directors shall
have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director but the number of Directors so appointed
shall not exceed the maximum number determined from time
to time by the Shareholders in a general meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, notwithstanding
any other provisions in the Articles, at each annual general
meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being, or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one third, shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

For the biographical details of the Directors, please refer to
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company pursuant to which he has agreed
to act as an executive Director for an initial term of three
years, which shall be renewed as determined by the Board or
the Shareholders. Either party is entitled to give not less than
one month’s notice to terminate the service agreement.
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Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company to which he has agreed to act
as a non-executive Director or an independent non-executive
Director for a fixed term of three years, which shall be
renewed as determined by the Board or the Shareholders.
Except for the Director’s fees, no independent non-executive
Director is to receive any other emolument for acting as an
independent non-executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has proposed
or entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation other than the statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCY OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has provided
the Company with a confirmation of independence pursuant
to rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. As such, the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent as at the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles, a Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he may incur or sustain in or about
the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

Appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage
has been arranged for the Directors and officers of the
Company.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals are set out in Notes 13 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Directors receive compensation in the form of an annual
director’'s fee while members of the senior management
receive compensation in the form of salaries, discretionary
bonuses and other allowances. The Group also reimburses
the Directors and senior management for expenses which are
necessarily and reasonably incurred in relation to the Group's
operations or in the course of discharging their duties to the
Group. The Remuneration Committee regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration packages of the Directors and
the senior management, taking into account factors including,
salaries payable by comparable companies, employment
conditions, responsibilities and the individual performance of
the Directors and senior management.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions
of each of the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"), which
were (a) required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO; or (c) as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long position in the Shares and underlying Shares REGREBERGZFE
(a) Ordinary shares of the Company (a) ARE]EER

Percentage of issued
share capital of the
Company (Note 1)

Number of
ordinary shares held

Nature of interest/

Name of Director Holding capacity

BARRTE

ERITREN

BExns EENE BRIG FREBREE BAL (A1)

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert Interest of a controlled corporation 120,000,000 (L) 29.33%
(Notes 2)
E XEHEEER 120,000,0004% A% 13 (L)
(Bratz)

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex Beneficial owner 10,100,000 (L) 2.47%
REWEE ExnBEAA 10,100,000 A% 13 (L)

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah 8,800,000 (L) 2.15%

BFEXtE

Beneficial owner
g

ERBAA

8,800,000 % A% 7 (L)
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(b) Share options of the Company

Name of category of

participant

SRERRLE

Directors

Bz

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah
BEXLE

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah
BEXEE

Mr. Shane McGrath
Shane McGrath % 4

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex
ZERSE

Other eligible participants

Ao ERSRE
Nil
£

Date of grant
of share

option

BRERHAE

13 May 2021
—E--f%
RAT=H

31 August 2022
kSt 2

NA=t+-R

3 January 2022
—E-Ck
-A=H

31 August 2022
it St
NBZt+-H

Exercisable period

g3

13 May 2021-12 May 2024
“E--FRR+ZHE
“Z-RERATCA

31 August 2022-30 August 2025
ZEIZENAET-RE
ZE-RFN\AZTA

3 January 2022-2 January 2025
ZBICE-fZRE
ZZ2-R%-AzZA

31 August 2022-30 August 2025
ZRIZENAZT-RE
ZZZRENAZTH

Exercise price

i3

HK$
B

(b) ALREIBRE

Number of underlying shares in respect of which share option were granted

EREBRENRBROYE
Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed at31
at 1 January during the during the during the December
2023 year year year 2023
R-B-zE R-g=z=f
-B-A tzB=1-H
AEE RERRE  REREGE  REAKN FEAE

0.57 3,500,000 i o - 3,500,000
0.59 4,000,000 e ks o 4,000,000
0.492 4,001,418 = = = 4,091,418
0.59 4,000,000 S — — 4,000,000
15,391,148 S S S 15,591,418
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Notes:

1. As at the date of this annual report, the Company’s issued ordinary
share capital was HK$20,457,093 divided into 409,141,860 Shares of
HK$0.05 each.

2 Three Gates Investment Limited ("Three Gates Investment”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on 15 August 2016
is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (“Mr.
Wong"), who is the chairman and an executive director of the Company.
Therefore, Mr. Wong is deemed to be interested in 120,000,000 Shares
held by Three Gates Investment by virtue of the SFO.

3. During the period, no share options mentioned above were cancelled.

Except as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
other interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange according to
rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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A8 BB Three Gates Investment Ff 5
120,000,000 B P E B #E 2= °

3. B bt B R R R R Y e

BREXHEEN R-_ZTE-_ZF+-A
=+ —H AXRAREEXRETETHAER
AARSEAMEBREIB(EERESR
HERMIEXVI MG, - BERKRGKE
FEPRERE \ua)\ % & BB & )
FEIR2(EMEARFBAGFTENELMKIR
TJ%GEM_}:FH%EE'J%54615671‘515,\ 17 A
CANR MBI TMEAEMERSAR -
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

To the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31 December
2023, the following persons or corporations (other than the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who had
interests and/or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Shares and underlying Shares

Name of Substantial

Nature of interest/

Number of ordinary

FERRRAQTRAD K AR 5 Y

BakAR

BEEHMMN RZEZ=F+ZA=+—
B W TFTATH EZB(RAREEREE
ITEA BB AN RA DR B 7 sk 48 78 B 1»
THERBESRBEEMNEXVIBE2R
3D HERETARRHKARL AR FHKH
EIEPEIBKEBETATENET LM E
wmR KB IT

REGREBRGZHFE

Percentage of issued
share capital of the

Shareholder Holding capacity shares held Company (Note 1)

N

BRITREN

TERRER BEtME BREH6 FESEREE Botk(#iFr)

Three Gates Investment Beneficial owner 120,000,000 29.33%
(Notes 2, 3)
EaERA 120,000,000 8% &% 17
(Ktit2 - 3)

Gold-Face Finance Limited Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Shares (Notes 3, 4)
HRGFBHERAT BEROEZOAL 80,000,0008% A& 12
(B33 - 4)

Upbest Credit and Mortgage Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
EREEREBERRAT BEERODEZOAL 80,000,000 A& 12
(B33 - 4)

Good Foundation Company Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
MEEAR QA BAERMDEROAL 80,000,000 & 12
(B1i£3 - 4)

Upbest Strategic Company Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
ERRBAERDA BEROEROAL 80,000,0004% & 13
(BtiE3 - 4)

Upbest Financial Holdings Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
BERODERZOAL 80,000,000 4% A% 13
(K &t3 - 4)
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Percentage of issued

Name of Substantial Nature of interest/ Number of ordinary share capital of the
Shareholder Holding capacity shares held Company (Note 7)
RN
ERTREN
TERRER EEtE BRE 6 fEEBEREE BAL (1)
Upbest Group Limited Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Shares (Notes 3, 4)
EREEERAQA BEROEZOAL 80,000,000 & 17
(B33 - 4)
Fung Wing Cheung, Tony Beneficial owner 40,800,000 9.97%
% K FF EREAA 40,800,000 A& 15
Notes: B it -
T As at the date of this annual report, the Company’'s issued ordinary 1. RAFEREAH  ARARANEFETETRRRK
share capital was HK$20,457,093 divided into 409,141,860 Shares of 7N 520,457,093 7T+ 9 £409,141,860 % & A%
HK$0.05 each. [ f80.05 TTHY LD ©

2. Three Gates Investment is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. 2. Three Gates InvestmentBA AR A E FRNITE

Wong, who is the chairman and an executive Director of the Company. ERAEZEAEREA R BEXEHERAR
Therefore, Mr. Wong is deemed to be interested in 120,000,000 Shares % 38 FT#5 Three Gates Investment 100% % #& 7
held by Three Gates Investment by virtue of his 100% shareholding Three Gates InvestmentFT$5120,000,000/% A%
interest in Three Gates Investment. MAEEER -

3 80,000,000 Shares held by Three Gates Investment have been charged 3. Three Gates Investment T #80,000,000 % % 17

in favour of Gold-Face Finance Limited (“Gold-Face") as security for EEERTFHRGBERAR(HEERD - AE
a loan granted in favour of Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert, the chairman, RADRBERE THEB BTEEHRERRK
chief executive officer, executive director and controlling shareholder of RERBELEAERERONEKMT -

the Company.

4. As Gold-Face is wholly-owned by Upbest Credit and Mortgage Limited, 4. HRERBEEECFEREBEERAAZER

which in turn is wholly-owned by Upbest Strategic Company Limited A MEREERRBAERAAAEERRE
and Good Foundation Company Limited in equal parts, which in turn are ERARKERFABRBRAGDEZERNSHAE  TM
both wholly-owned by Upbest Financial Holdings Limited, which in turn # /i Upbest Financial Holdings Limited & & #
is wholly-owned by Upbest Group Limited, Upbest Credit and Mortgage A © fUpbest Financial Holdings Limited &l f
Limited, Upbest Strategic Company Limited, Good Foundation Company ZEEEBERQAAZERE  BHREZEHFRS
Limited, Upbest Financial Holdings Limited and Upbest Group Limited BEGf XEEEREBERAR EE&XR
are all deemed to be interested in the security interest in the 80,000,000 BAEMRAR - FXAERADF - Upbest Financial
Shares charged in favour of Gold-Face by virtue of the SFO. Holdings Limited R X2 &BBR AR HHE R
B E R T 19K 6980,000,0008% & h P A &
HhEs -
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Except as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the
Directors are not aware of any interests and short positions
owned by any other parties, other than a Director or the
chief executive of the Company who held interests or short
positions in the shares and the underlying shares of the
Company, which were required to be recorded under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who
was interested, directly or indirectly, in 10% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme of the Company (the
“Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 8
February 2023 and the previous share option scheme of the
Company adopted on 24 November 2017 (the “Old Share
Option Scheme”) was terminated on the same date. The
following is a summary of the major terms of the Share Option
Scheme:

(a) Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract
and retain the best available personnel of the Group,
to provide additional incentive for employees working
full-time and part-time as well as other eligible personnel
under the Share Option Scheme and to promote the
success of the business of the Group.

(b) Eligible participants

Eligible participants include (i) employee participant(s)
including the director(s) and employee(s) (whether
full-time or part-time) of any member of the Group
(including persons who are granted Options under the
Share Option Scheme as inducement to enter into
employment contracts with the Group); and (ii) service
provider(s) including person(s) who provide services to
any member of the Group on a continuing or recurring
basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which
are in the interests of the long term growth of the Group,
which include any independent distributor, contractor,
supplier, agent, consultant or adviser to any area of
business or business development of the Group, but
exclude any placing agent or financial adviser providing
advisory services for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions,
and other professional services provider such as auditor
or valuer.
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(¢) Subscription price (c) REBEE

REEERESS2RBBERE
HERUFATBERATZES

The subscription price shall be determined by the
Board at its absolute discretion, provided that it shall

not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Shares as shown in the daily quotations sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the offer date, which must be
a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
the shares as shown in the daily quotations sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five (5) consecutive business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the
nominal value of the share on the offer date.

(REEBEH(AREER) B FR#E
O BREBRERAIORDKHE:
(i A BEEE L B H AR (5) @ Z % B

B %

PrEmueRRERMAINK

U T E - K (i) B Z EAE e

(d) Time of exercise of options (d) 171 BB R EREER
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms BRETRESGAETMN TG
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period BRELAHRBATTFA BRI
as the Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 BERETE ZIERITE RIFRE
years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of FHRILGEXEERTE °
early termination thereof.

(e) Grant of options (e) BREBRHE
An offer for the grant of options shall remain open for REBREZEZNEAR T —X(EB
acceptance for a period of twenty-one days, including the FEREEYH 2B BE ARG KA HE
day in which the offer was made. The amount payable by W BMBEEARAREARLER
the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance BZEHNREBENARGHNEE A0
of the offer for the grant of the option is HK$1.0. BT ©

(f) Maximum number of shares available for issue (f) ARTRONERSEE

(i)  The total number of shares which may be issued in
respect of all options which may be granted at any
time under the Share Option Scheme together with
options and awards which may be granted under
any other share schemes for the time being of the
Company shall not exceed such number of shares
as equals to 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme (“Adoption Date”). Unless
Shareholders’ approval has been obtained pursuant
to sub-paragraphs (iii) and (iv) below. options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme will not be regarded as utilised for the
purpose of calculating the scheme mandate limit
and the service provider sublimit.

(i)

BAE AR AT 8 A AL BE B IR
W FT B B8 B% M T A) RE B 1T A9 AR
MBEE - ERAEREARARF
FREMBRETSMEEN
HERERE  TEBEALAQT
REMERESZ AR
BHEI)EZEITRAM10% © BrIE
2R B T X (i) & (iv) 5 B EE
B - At B EIEER
LRGSR EESHEREMS
RIEBERET B IR R B
fEEE TR ABEBNE -
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

= ¥HE(E)
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The total number of shares which may be issued in
respect of all options which may be granted at any
time under the Share Option Scheme together with
options and awards which may be granted under
any other share schemes for the time being of the
Company to service providers shall not exceed such
number of shares as equals to 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at Adoption Date.

The Company may seek approval of the
shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
scheme mandate limit and/or the service provider
sublimit under the Share Option Scheme after three
(3) years from the Adoption Date (or the date of
Shareholders’ approval for the last refreshment),
provided that the limit so refreshed must not
exceed 10% of the relevant class of shares in issue
as at the date of passing the relevant resolution.

The Company may also seek separate approval of
the shareholders in general meeting for granting
options beyond the scheme mandate limit provided
that the options in excess of the scheme mandate
[imit are granted only to eligible participants
specifically identified by the Company before such
approval is sought. For the purpose of seeking
approval of shareholders under this sub-paragraph
(iv), the Company must send a circular to the
shareholders containing a generic description of the
specified eligible participants who may be granted
such options, the number and terms of options to
be granted, the purpose of granting options to the
specified eligible participants with an explanation as
to how the terms of the options serve such purpose
and such other information as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

R BB A A 5T 8 AT BE BE IS IR 1
)P B B R T AT BE 1T MY X
B ERAEREARARA
1T {7 2 At B8 B4 5T & 0 @) A AR
BREARINAERER -
TERBEARANEMBEHE
BITRAMNI% °

REHRBH (BRI EREE
MEHR=ZQF  ARF AR
EREGFERBER KRG HRK
RAEEHAERBRE R
IRBIEHREDHERE R
HMENRBEISEEABERS
EBRBRAHCETHBERMNEY
10% °

ARBARBRERE ERRK
REEERIBAGFIRERE
BB R - tEE A A DA R R
KEBUERNBRERAZAEE
R2EERIBEAG;IHRER
BEOBERE - BLRE D RIVE
KBERHUAEMS  ARA LA
MBRRTE —DEEK  EPH
JIMMERZEERERALN
—RENTRAEEAERAL
BHzEBERE BRENK
B MR I B AR R R
# 40 fa] 22 B bt B M R GEM b
MRAUANBEZHMER -



Report of the Directors (Continued)

—-

=

(g)

(h)

(i)

g HmE (B

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options and awards granted to each
participant under the Share Option Scheme or any other
option schemes of the Company in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue, unless approved by the Shareholders
in the manner stipulated in the Share Option Scheme.

Duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall continue in force for the
period commencing from the Adoption Date, and expiring
at the close of business on the date which falls ten (10)
years after the Adoption Date.

Termination of the Share Option Scheme

The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting
may at any time terminate the operation of the Share
Option Scheme and in such event no further options will
be offered but in all other respects the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in force to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted but not yet exercised prior thereto or otherwise
as may be required in accordance with the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme and options granted prior
to such termination shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

Since the Adoption Date and up to date of this annual report,
no share options have been granted pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme. Details of share granted under the Old Share
Option Scheme are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statement of this annual report.

(g)

(h)

(i)

BE2RECESESE
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MR E TREEAT-EAB
MR RITEREBRE S NA
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TR BE 1% -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Shareholder’s loan agreement between Mr. Wong
and Tseyu International

On 31 March 2020, Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert, a controlling
shareholder of the Company and an executive Director (“Mr.
Wong”), and Tseyu International Trading Company Limited
("Tseyu International”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a shareholder’'s loan agreement in
respect of the shareholder’s loans provided by Mr. Wong to
Tseyu International. The shareholder’s loans, amounting to
HK$19,171,000, are interest-free, unsecured and repayable in
cash on demand. As the shareholder’'s loans were provided
on normal commercial terms or better and were not secured
by the assets of the Group, the shareholder’'s loans are fully
exempt under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details
of the shareholder’s loan agreement are set out in the circular
dated 16 February 2021.

Loan agreement between Mr. Wong and Guangzhou
Xinhua

On 31 March 2020, Mr. Wong and Guangzhou Xinhua Thread
Company (BEMFEREABRAF) (“Guangzhou Xinhua"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a loan agreement in relation to the intra-group current
accounts balance in a sum of RMB16,760,277 (equivalent to
HK$18,603,907) due from Mr. Wong to Guangzhou Xinhua. It
was agreed that, among other things, interest shall be payable
by Mr. Wong to Guangzhou Xinhua to be accrued at a rate of
2% per annum on the outstanding current accounts balance
from the date of the loan agreement and the current accounts
balance shall be repaid by Mr. Wong within three years from
the date of the loan agreement. Such loan agreement has
been approved by the independent shareholders based on
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of the loan
agreement are set out in the circular dated 16 February 2021
and announcements of the Company dated 8 March 2021.
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Save as disclosed above, there are no connected transaction
during the year ended 31 December 2023 which is required
to be disclosed under the GEM Listing Rules. Related party
transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023, which constitute fully exempt continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules are disclosed in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

The Directors and the controlling shareholders of the Company
have confirmed that for the year ended 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this annual report, none of the Directors,
controlling Shareholders or any of their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) engaged
in any businesses that compete or may compete with the
business of the Group, or had any other conflict of interest
with the Group.

On 24 November 2017, each of Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert and
Three Gates Investment, being the controlling Shareholders,
entered into a non-competition undertaking in favour of
the Company, details of which were set out in the section
headed "Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders
— Non-competition Undertaking” in the Prospectus. Such
undertakings have been fully complied with and enforced during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

The Board confirms that as at the date of this annual report,
no other matters are required to be brought to the attention of
the Shareholders and the potential investors.

Further, the independent non-executive Directors confirm that
they have reviewed the enforcement of such undertakings and
conclude that there are no outstanding issues regarding the
undertakings that need to be raised with the Shareholders and
the Company.

BREXHEEEN BE_T_=F1+=
A=+—BL&E UEEMFNRBEGEMLE
MHARNEFHEENBEERS - AEERE
BT _=F+_A=+-—BIFEFNX
RS X5 (BKGEM EM R B 5205
BTHEZ2AREFERERIZIIREAR
B SRR M FES9HE FE -

EERERBRRNEFERNEDR

ESRARRIERBRREER  REBEEZ
E_ZF+_A=Z+—BLEFEREER
FEMRERR EF ERBRIAIAESS
B2EMEEBEAEERGEM EMRA]
BELETCMEAREEER S FRAEEH
FOoREASEEEENEMANSTHRNE
ﬁ% °

R-ZZTE—tF&+—A-+MWHE #EREKE
= B 18 % & K Three Gates Investment %
BT AR R B AF e AT B FEE
FRERNBREEZEERREOER —
THEFERBI—H - BHEZT-_=F+=
A=+ BLEFEREEARFEREHEH -
ZEARBOEBRETRHNT -

EECHR RAFERSAEMERMD
EHARFRRLEEREEILIE -

B BIERTEERR  RIEOBE
HEABONTER LR A EE R
EERENABREEARBRR AR R
Hj o

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H

63



64

Report of the Directors (Continued)

_|__|_

gHmE ()

SANCTIONS UNDERTAKING

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company provided an
undertaking to the Stock Exchange that it would not use the
proceeds from the Share Offer or any funds raised through the
Stock Exchange to finance or facilitate, directly or indirectly,
activities or business with, or for the benefit of, countries
that are sanctions under international sanction laws, or any
sanctioned government, entity or individual.

To ensure its compliance with this undertaking and to further
enhance its risk management, the Group will continue to
evaluate any business opportunities with those countries
sanctioned under international sanction laws and will have
delegated members of the senior management of the
Company review the transaction documents from customers
or potential customers from countries sanctioned under
international sanctions laws.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s related party transactions are set out in
Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Directors confirm that during the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this annual report, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
complied with the minimum public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2023

Details are set out in Note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

P

BMMBRERZAFE - ARF S @A
RE—FAR KR TSPRBHEEM
TREREBHIME %E’Jﬁﬁéi'
VA B $2 S F 5 B Bh ok MR E BR X B BRI &
%@%U%ﬁﬁ’]l%‘k&ﬂx%ﬂﬁﬂ(ﬁ‘ i

FEAZENEBHHER  ASHESEN
AEEER -

RERETIHAGLE - T MNBRE AR
%ﬁ*$%§%%%ﬁﬁﬁ&%il%ﬂ
BEEWNENBRZEOEAEE - K
EFXBEXEPRAX BRI E AR
MBER ARBEZEREAARSREEREXE
BEEHREHENRH M -

BB LRS
AEENBBIRSFBERAFERS

RAaMBwRKEI9 -

EEAN

BE-—E-_=%€+-_A=+—H1EE"
AEBVEITVKTFTEABAERZ K

FRERBLOEBHNERBRITRZALH o
EREARERE
EERR NRBE_T_=%t+_AH

=t-— Eﬁif‘&ﬁ%@ﬁif%&iﬁﬁﬁ
BREXARBDRAFAEEMSEHNENRES
EFA - ARBEETGEM LT AR R AT R
EHREARTFRE -

REBE-ZE_=F+"A=1+—-HILEE
®’EI1E
BRAEEREES

18 B 75 R M A

43



Report of the Directors (Continued)

EFgRE(E

AUDITOR

Asian Alliance was appointed as the auditor of the Company.
A resolution for the reappointment of Asian Alliance as the
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Harbour Equine Holdings Limited
Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
Chairman, chief executive officer and executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Independent Auditor's Report
8 3 Az BE RS

/ ER(EE)SHMEBEFAERATE
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

To the Shareholders of Harbour Equine Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Harbour Equine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 84 to 291, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B Az BAD R & ()

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred loss
for the year attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$46,825,000 and had approximately
HK$3,300,000 of gross loss for the year ended 31 December
2023 and, as of that date, the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$10,531,000.
As at the same date, the Group's other borrowings due within
one year of approximately HK$33,445,000, while its cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$4,123,000 only. These
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3.1 to
the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

BEERRzER

BEEDRBEAGAMASEEMNER
B EN(ERBEAENDRARERZ - &
FEZFEATHEEFRRARSEZE
MU BEZEAMBERERNEE - R
BEEEGFMAGNBESMER TR
TR - EFBLY E5EE BEF
ERBTARETEMEREME - BSHEE
EEMEBSHNEXRENADRE M A
BEENERIEMER -

FRFARECEATRERE

IR A B RERWES A E &
r BEEREBEE-_Z-_=%+=-A4
T+ BLEFEEE ERREBARE
1l £ N &5 18 #946,825,0008 ;T X E B Y
3,300,000 - MEZE%ZH X BE£EH
REBAEBEBEHE RS EEL10,531,0008
TeRAAR BEER—FRIBHHHE
g &4 A33,445,00008 0 MEBE S &
ReEEBYWELNEL123,0008 T % E
B A K R A B 75 3R R BT 3.7 BTl Y
HMWEBBARGTEAREERY BS£EHF
BE2NENIREBEEERNEARATE
Tl BEZERITERLEETELER -

FARELZEE

MRERFREESREZXHERS
HAREAVBRENELZREEN
ZEFHR BEEERBDEAMB R
EERBEEANEEAEREZSFER AE
ETeRREFEREHRERBER -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

Bz B S ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BREZEE

Impairment of trade receivables

EWRXSHRERE

AREZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESHEBERTREEFABEREENGE

We identified impairment assessment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of trade receivables to the Group’s
consolidated financial position and the involvement
of subjective judgement and management estimates
in evaluating the expected credit losses ("ECL")
under HKFRS 9 of the Group’s trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period.

iMHﬁﬂ’éﬂﬁlx%mﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%&ﬂ75'5?@%@%ﬁ%lﬁi :
THRERZZREYH E£ENGEEHBERAE
E2EKN I/bF)SHEBf%-i/%ﬁM%#E%EE‘J%9%%{%
i EXEERBRENRNEBURIGIRENTEREE
JEHE(HEHME.E%TEJ)ZI&E#\JI%E&%?EEFﬁ?r g

As disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounting to approximately HK$7595,000 have been
net off with ECL on trade receivables amounted to
approximately HK$424,000 as at 31 December 2023.
B EMBERERMAMERE R _=F
TZA=1T—HB EBESEERXRSHKRBIFHROA
7,695,000/ - EEMBRERR I HRIENTEREE
&5 18 49424,0007% 7T °

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment

of trade receivables included:

EERERRSGRBERETHAETZEFBHE:

e Evaluating the independent valuer's competence,
capabilities and their experiences in conducting
valuation of ECL;

e EBUMEMHEBRCEERRETHENE
ujjﬂ%%.%ﬂﬁ:

e Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the credit loss allowance
for trade receivables;

e THEWUEEENMAFRRIINEBEESD
18 1 1 A0 A 4R 4 I HE B

e Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the provision matrix,
including trade receivables ageing analysis as
at 31 December 2023, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with
the relevant sales invoices and other supporting
documents;

e HMEAFNEEES CREBEEMAER(BER
CEC=FTA=T AN EKRXRFIRER
BROMMAIERE  AEARBDTFAERIE
BEHERERAMBEEB XM HEE L&
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B Az BAD R & ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)

HWREEZEE(HA)

Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

H it & WK TR R E ()

HREZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESEBERTREEREERSENT X

As disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management of the Group
estimates the amount of ECL of trade receivables
based on provision matrix through grouping of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns,
after considering internal credit ratings of debtors,
ageing, repayment history and/or past due status of
respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates
are based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information. In addition, trade
receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for
ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the
credit-impaired trade receivables are measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future credit
losses.

WG E VB MREAIHERE E5EHEEE
KEBRBEBANANITFEETR SR ZIHED
R BRELR/XBHAMRR BREZSABEUE
BEANZEBADERSG L6 B E E R EW
RHRBENEHEESESE FAHABEBEXDER
ERARRFEFHRABERMENELELER - WA
EMERELHRAE - HREERENEKRR
SHRBNDEREREEBEBEETEBTMG - HBRE
ERENERRIRENEERESHZREER
HEELEZEREHARGEERENMGTREKR S
MERBECHNEETE -

e (Challenging management'’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables as at 31 December 2023, including
their identification of significant balances
and credit-impaired receivables and, the
reasonableness of management’'s grouping of
the remaining debtors into different categories in
the provision matrix, and the basis of estimated
loss rates applied in each category in the
provision matrix (with reference to historical
default rates and forward-looking information);

e MEBEBER-ZE-_=Ft+ZA=+—83
HREEERBRBENRRISIRNIE 2 EH &2
B PEERSHEALAHKREREERENE
WZSHBEZHRN BEERAAEMERT
BEHEAITEZBREBERENTRER - A &3 #
BEESESHEERABLABEXR(ZEESL
BROERABEUEERNBRELES

e FEvaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of trade receivables in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements;
and

o NHMEEHMBHREAMAIGCAMBEBRREKT IR
HRE A EE: &

e Reviewing subsequent settlements of significant
balances of trade receivables, on a sample basis,
by inspecting supporting documents in relation
to cash receipt from trade debtors subsequent
to the end of the current reporting period.

s FRBRBPEARGTHNHEREEAXEESED
A B & WA B e FE PR S B A R R
REHORBHEREHRNBRELEE -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

Bz B S ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Key audit matter (Continued)

HREEFLZER(E)

Impairment of other receivables

H fth FE W =X H RUE

EREZEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESHEBERTEEBMREREENS X

We identified impairment assessment of other
receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with
management’s estimation in measuring the ECL
under ECL model as stipulated in HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”).
EEBNHEMER KRB Z RENGERSBERET
FE DERBRBEAVBEGERTEH2EEN - U
REBEBEREBUKRSENEIRIemMITAITE
BUBREERBIR DR ERBERACEEEE
BEXRARFERREEER M -

As disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’'s net other receivables
amounting to approximately HK$12,175,000
have been net off with ECL on other receivables
amounted to approximately HK$10,194,000 as at 31
December 2023.

MR E MR RMFHMERZR R =
+=Z—A=+—H8" ﬁmlﬁm%Wmﬁéﬁmﬁ
12,175,000 7 - BE IR E i KRR BN TE 85
B E184910,194,000/8 7T °

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment

of other receivables included:

EERAEMERRBERENGAETZEFBE:

e Evaluating the independent valuer’'s competence,
capabilities and their experiences in conducting
valuation of ECL;

. %%ﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%h%%%

DRI E<3:3

° Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the credit loss allowance
for other receivables;

s THEUEREEWNMAMAEAHEMEUREEFES
18 B e B R 4R 1% R B

e Reviewing the reasonableness of management's
estimation in expected timing of collection and
the credit quality of individual debtors, including
the background of the debtors and their credit
worthiness and collection history; and

. ﬁﬂxﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%b%Aw K T8 B B R K A5

%MAEE BEEHEABERHEEER

s K&

THEENE

I =

%* )U]]:\
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

Bz BE ¥ ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
BREXSBEE)

Impairment of other receivables (Continued)

H it & WK TR R E ()

HREZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESEBERTREEREERSENT X

Management performed periodic assessment on
the recoverability of the other receivables and the
sufficiency of impairment loss allowance based on
information including credit profile of the debtors,
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, ageing of the other receivables and expected
timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balances.

ERMEER EHAGEEER  ELEHRS

BEEME  HUREUKKBENRE L& ﬁ$1ﬁ
FRED TR BB ] & & B E B KL E B3R b B b /B WS OR

BAKEEBREEEREESTRRE °

Management also considered forward-looking
information that may impact the ability of the
debtors to repay the outstanding balances in order
to estimate the expected credit losses for the
impairment assessment.
ERENEZRARTEBEHAEBEREN G R
BATIEMER WA RETHENEHRAEESE -

Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of other receivables in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements;
and

BT 456 B 7% ¥ 2 M 52 36 FT 3 A B H b & UK
BERETHOKRE &

Checking the accuracy of ageing classification
of the other receivables balances on a sample
basis.
MEREHEMREERIBLEARRER D BNERN -
Reviewing subsequent settlements of significant
balances of other receivables, on a sample basis,
by inspecting supporting documents in relations
to cash receipt from debtors subsequent to the
end of the current reporting period.

ERRBREAREHEERRERGEHAZ
e WK AR E %Y#ﬁ%* B H R

RENBEXERNKREREE -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

Bz B S ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
BREXSEE)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

ME - BERRERE

EREZEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEEERTREEREEFERSENS X

The carrying values of the Group's property,
plant and equipment as at 31 December 2023
amounted to approximately HK$4,544,000, after
making provisions of impairment of approximately
HK$799,000. The carrying values of these
assets are reviewed annually by management
for potential indicators of impairment. For assets
where such indicators exist, management engages
an independent external valuer to assist them
to perform detailed impairment review of the
recoverable amount of these non-financial assets.
E#hﬂﬁ%ﬁmm%w%xé R—ZE-=F
+ZA=+—H8" SEYME BELRRBENE
ﬁfﬁ%@?%4,544,000/a7n CREERENKREEHRTE
BEEBFEEHAUREREREEERENR - 3tF
EZETRMNEEMS  EEESZEB LINBME
BERAGBRERZEFEREENTRE S HE
TRERESERE -

We identified the impairment of property, plant
and equipment as a key audit matter because
the assessment involves a significant degree
of management judgements and estimates in
determining the key assumptions.

EEBYME BMERKBRESA ABEEZEE -
THREAIERETTIEREBIRAEEEE
# B S Ak &t o

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment included, but were not limited to:

EEHEHME BEARENERBMEETRENEAE
MR FEEEIRRL:

e Understand the Group's impairment assessment
process, including the impairment model
performed by the independent qualified valuer,
basis of allocation of property, plant and
equipment to the cash generate units (“CGUs"),
the preparation of the cash flow projection
("Cashflow Forecast”) and key assumptions
adopted in this Cashflow Forecast through
enquiries with the independent valuer and
management'’s review process of the work of
the independent valuer with respect to the
valuation of CGUs;

e T EXEENREETHAERE BEBIER
HEMATHRERE RREEEEM(R
ﬁ?i%ﬁD Y- BMEKIEREBHER

AARBYMEMMARMNEEEY B LHEE
MR IENETETRE GRHRAERERA
(riﬁimugi@ E'H)iﬂjfﬁi/mgfg E\JEP%?HE’JE%
FRE

e Evaluating the independent valuer's competence,
capabilities and their experiences in conducting
valuation of similar property, plant and
equipment;

e MEBUMEBEMEELUDE BER
HENEE - kHOMER:

RiBHETT
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B Az BAD R & ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)

HWREEZEE(HA)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
(Continued)
ME BRERZHEHEGE

HREZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESHEBERTRERARERS RN X

The significant judgements and estimates and
related disclosures on the movements of properties,
plant and equipment are included in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FHlZEME BRERREZ S E XA EH NG
REARBEH N GEEMBRERMT7 -

Checking the respective independent valuation
reports and discussing the valuation of
the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment with the management;
BEZENBYAERS  WHEEREMN®YE
BEIEHBREBENMGE:

Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
models, the preparation of the Cashflow
Forecast and assumptions based on the industry
knowledge;

AEHEREMNEEN BRETEANHEFER
® = TR AR

Evaluating the appropriateness of the key
inputs in the Cashflow Forecast by checking
to the relevant historical financial information
including budgeted revenue and gross margin,
and terminal growth rate by considering the
approved financial budgets;
RARSHBAELHMBER  EBEEZERAMN
EMNE UREEHRHAEANMBEENRRIER
X R eRERAPHEREBARBENES
:|$ :
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BREZSEIE(E)

Key audit matter (Continued)

BREREZEEE)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)

ME BRERZHEHEGE) EEEBERTEEBRERSENSE

e Comparing the historical cash flows forecast
against the performance of CGUs to test the
reasonableness of projections; and

e BETHRENEVAERESEFELNELEE
T - LAHBRANEENE: &

e Checking the mathematical accuracy of valuation
calculations.

e MEMEAENHBEERIM -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)

HWREEZEE(HA)

Impairment assessing of goodwill

75 1A B 1

HREZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESEBERTREEREERSENT X

The Group has goodwill with carrying amount of
approximately HK$6,683,000 as at 31 December
2023, which is allocated to the CGU represented
by interior design and decoration business. In
determining the recoverable amounts of goodwill,
the Group engaged an independent professional
valuer to perform such valuation. The valuation is
determined based on the value-in-use model for
the CGU discounted to their present values and
it requires the use of key assumptions, including
the discount rate, terminal growth rate, budgeted
revenue and gross margin, taking into account the
financial budgets approved by the directors of the
Company based on the management’s experience
from interior design and decorations business, and
also management’'s expectations for the market
development. During the year ended 31 December
2023, no impairment loss had been recognised on
goodwill.
EEEEE_ZE_=F+-_A=+—ANEEERD
B 49 /6,683,000 7T+ 9 BL 45 LA = N 28 5T A0 & &
EFBRARRNBCELEN -EREFENATRE
SR EEERFBEVEXEMGAEMETZMGE
HTEERBEReEAENUTRIRENEREERE
AT EHREFEABERREE BRuBERX .
BFEWRAMEMNEZEANBERRR  FTER B4
AEFRBEEREEZTARTMEMEE T ENRL
BHANMBEE  UREEBHMSEENHE -
BHEZZE-_=F+-_RA=T—HLLFE HMEXHY
BHABMEEE -

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of the carrying amount of goodwill included, but
were not limited to:
EEYRERDELETRENIGCEENREFEER
PR

e Understand the Group’s impairment assessment
process, including the impairment model
performed by the independent qualified valuer,
basis of allocation of goodwill to the CGU, the
preparation of the Cashflow Forecast and key
assumptions adopted in this Cashflow Forecast
through enquiries with the independent valuer
and management’s review process of the work
of the independent valuer with respect to the
valuation of CGU;

e TH BEHEEMNAEBENHAE EREBUSK
HEMABTHRERR mMREcELEEUIE
MENER BLEBYGEMNABMNER
BHBYHEMONTEHEIENEERE  GE
ReEMEBAMBESREEAFEKBNERE
B

e FEvaluating the independent valuer’'s competence,
capabilities and their experiences in conducting
valuation of similar business;

e TMBUGEBMBBUXBETHENEE -
EERARIECS -

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H

75



76

Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) AREXSE(E)

Key audit matter (Continued)

HEREBEZXEER(E)

Impairment assessing of goodwill (Continued) How our audit addressed the key audit matter
8 R E 5T £k () EEEERTREEBRERBHENG X

We identified the impairment assessment of e
goodwill as a key audit matter due to its complexity
and the inherent subjectivity arising from the
significant management judgement.

AR ENEMEUAREEEERABELENES o
FEM - EZMERENRETTBRERBRERS

I8 o °

The significant judgements and estimates and
related disclosures on goodwill are included in Note

20 to the consolidated financial statements. °
EEmENERHENGAREEABEEHENGEEY
% ¥R & Y 5£20 © .
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Checking the respective independent valuation
reports and discussing the valuation of
the carrying amount of goodwill with the
management;

BRERBNBIMGERS  VTEREEEN B
BEmMENMGE:

Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
models, the preparation of the Cashflow
Forecast and assumptions based on the industry
knowledge;

TEEEREMNEEN BETEANEFEER
EmEEBMER:

Evaluating the appropriateness of the key inputs
in the Cashflow Forecast by independently
checking to the relevant external market data
and/or relevant historical financial information
including budgeted revenue and gross margin,
and terminal growth rate by considering the
approved financial budgets and the available
industry and market data;
BABVREMBINTITBEHEER REEE
LHBEE BEBRERANMENE  URKE
B ENMBRENMATANITENT S HIEN
mmERE -FEReRERAPHEE AR
BHEE T



Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BAREXRSE(E)

Key audit matter (Continued)

BREXZEEE)

Impairment assessing of goodwill (Continued) How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B R E R (&) EEEBERTEEBREXSENE %

e Comparing the historical cash flows forecast
against the performance of CGU to test the
reasonableness of projections; and

e BESHEREBALEBSCEABUMNERE
T AR BANEENE: &

e Checking the mathematical accuracy of valuation
calculations.

s MEMEFENHREERIE -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
BREXSEE)

Valuation of biological assets

EMEEMLE

AREZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESEBERTREEREERSENT X

As at 31 December 2023, biological assets
measured at fair value are classified as level 3 under
the fair value hierarchy, amounted to approximately
HK$15,414,000.
HE-_ZT-_=ZF+_A=+—8B ' LAREFE
MEMEBEECRANLESRTITERERAZIR  OA
15,414,000 7T °

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the net fair
value losses on biological assets is approximately
HK$9,505,000.
HE_ZT-_=F+_A=+—HLEFE £YEE
B F N L {E 518 49 49,505,000/ 7T °

In determining the fair values of biological assets,
the Group engages independent professional valuers
to perform valuation of the aforesaid biological
assets.
ESEEERTEMEEN R ALBER -
HEME ERENEEEITHE -

CERBUER

We identified the valuation of the aforesaid biological
assets as a key audit matter due to the degree of
complexity involved in valuing biological assets,
the significance of the judgment and estimates
made by the management in determining the inputs
used in the valuation models and the subjectivity in
determination of level 3 fair value given the lack of
availability of market-based data.
HREEMEEETHESIRNERRREE  UKLE
MRRZEXNTEHEE  EREEREHERER R
ERMEABBERMEOOHEMEFNEENE - A
NREBTESEIMAAEROHTEHLE  EFHF L4
MEENGHERTABAREREE -

Our procedures in relation to biological assets
included, but were not limited to:

BEFHEAYEELEERNBRFEFBEETRR:

e (Obtaining understanding of the valuation models
and the processes through enquiries with the
independent valuers and management’s review
process of the work of the independent valuers
with respect to the valuation of biological assets;

e BBHBUMEMMNAE UREBEHBEL
HEMEEMEEREBETENITENEETRIE
TRR fH E R B A AR

e Evaluating the independent valuer’'s competence,
capabilities and their experiences in conducting
valuation of similar biological assets;

o FMEBUAEMEBUEMEEETHENEE
BE A5

e Checking the respective independent valuation
reports and discussing the valuation of the
biological assets with the management, and
together with our own external valuation
specialists:

e MEZEWBIYMERS VHEEENHRE
MEENMHE TEHESNIIBEEER -
Bl

e FEvaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
models and assumptions based on the industry
knowledge;

s RETENMIGHEREMBRNEEE:
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B Az BAD R & ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
BREXSBEE)

Valuation of biological assets (Continued)

Y& EKEGR)

HREZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESEBERTREEREERSENT X

Evaluating the appropriateness of the key inputs
by independent checking to the relevant data
and/or relevant historical financial information;
BABYVREEBINITEEER KIEEE
CHBERE  THEREASBENEE T
Checking the mathematical accuracy of valuation
calculations; and
MEREFENHRBERT K

Making inquiry for the background of the
contracted parties and obtaining direct external
confirmations from the contracted parties
to understand the relevant investments and
identifying any conditions that were relevant to
the valuation of biological assets.
ABEHNAIANES  WRFTHNFTBESEEDHIH
HHER UWTHHEHERE ATHTEEMEE
HEME ARG -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B Az BAD R & ()

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are
responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

Bz BE ¥ ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Directors.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

Bz B S ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE BB BERGSMBHRRNEMT

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL (%)
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of °
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content °
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding °
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and #®EMEBELTHERE REBEZER  BES
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 2 £ 25 4% Hi 8 % 38 &9 (£ 7] & K A & 4% 4
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify  Fg °

during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a &%/

TR EERERH  RTEFERE

statement that we have complied with relevant ethical <~FHBEBIHEERE  THRFEZERA
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate #EA IR ,\\\Eﬁi%%%ﬁﬁ*ﬁ B PTA B R
with them all relationships and other matters that may MEMEE UEREBEANBILT 5 H
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and BRI FTERECHBR BB N 1TEI S & E i -

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

B Az BAD R & ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Cheng Ting Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: P06598

8/F., Catic Plaza
8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e H Aty 2 AR

" For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £

—EF_=ZFf_A=F—HILFE

Notes
M it
Revenue W = 5
Direct cost HEKAK
Gross (loss) profit (E#E)EF
Other gains and losses, net Hih = R BB F5HE 7
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEMX
Administrative expenses TTHBH X
Impairment losses under expected EHEEEBEBEEATH
credit loss model, net of reversal BEEEGNKRER) 8
Impairment losses of property, plant M- -BMELEERE
and equipment [Ri! 17
Finance costs Bl & KA 9
Loss before tax bR B A& 1B
Income tax expense Frisfimx 10
Loss for the year FAEAE 11
Other comprehensive expense Htt2EEAX
/tems that may be reclassified RE 1% B ] A 58 2 %7
subsequently to profit or loss: SEEBERHIEE
Exchange differences arising on 2 E G I T B E A
translation of foreign operations X
Other comprehensive expense forthe Z2FHM2MEMA Y -
year, net of income tax =R EY
Total comprehensive expense for 2FE2HBXAE
the year
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF AR EBAEM
THE COMPANY
Loss per share BEREEB
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARK#EECEN) 6

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

2023

—=E=-=
HK$°000

FTERT

69,059
(72,359)

(3,300)
(8,984)
(3,317)
(21,495)

(3,662)

(799)
(5,010)

(46,567)
(258)

(46,825)

(48,540)

(48,540)

2022

HK$'000
TAET

76,274
(62,893)

13,381
2,023
(5,170)
(29,450)

(1,051)

(2,637)

(22,904)

(22,904)

(4,720)

(4,720)

(27624)

(27,624)

(5.60)



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

NN RN

At 31 December 2023 R_-_ZE_-_=#+_H=+—H

Notes
B it
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BEREK 17
Investment properties REME 18
Right-of-use assets FTRAEEE 19
Goodwill RS 20
Intangible assets mEEE 21
Biological assets EYMEE 22
Financial asset at fair value through BRAnRBEFABEZE (&
profit or loss (“FVTPL") AREFABREDN

TREE 23
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories & 24
Biological assets EMEE 22
Trade receivables R R 5 RIEAE 25
Contract assets EHNEE 26
Deposit and other receivables e & CH b e W sk I8 25
Cash and cash equivalents BehkIREEEY 27
Tax recoverable B EE R
CURRENT LIABILITIES B & 1
Trade payables R RS IE 28
Other payables and accruals H fh e 5RIE K AT

-] 28
Borrowings &% 29
Lease liabilities HEBE 30
Tax payables FE T B IR
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) AB(BE)EEFRE

ASSETS

2023 2022
—_E_=5F —_ZE- =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
6,159
4,500
951
6,683
3,788
11,386
5,226 5,179
31,790 38,646
5,780 9,011
9,550 45,407
7,595 16,002
7,755 2,559
12,175 21,145
4,123 2,166
561 1,684
47,539 97874
12,857 23,354
9,399 10,208
33,445 32,071
1,046 1,197
1,323 1,143
58,070 67973
(10,531) 29,901
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e B R(E)

" At 31 December2023 R-—F-—=F+=-H=+—H

2023 2022
—_E_=5F —ETEq]- =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
o i FE T F&ET
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHRERRBAR
LIABILITIES 68,547
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kFRBERE
Lease liabilities HEEE 30 —
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIEARE 34 619
Retirement benefit obligations BRERAEMT 40 il
619
NET ASSETS EEFE 67928
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARG®E
Share capital [N 31 20,457 20,457
Reserves 15 (1,069) 47471
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 19,388 67928

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 291 HF84BEEF2MNA KA BHRERE R
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of ZE_WH&F=A-+\BAESZES £ LF

Directors on 28 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: BEMH WAHTINEESE
Wong Kwok Wai, Albert Leung King Yue, Alex
EEHE REW
Director Director
EE EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
I\‘/ \ 1;_"_ /\/\ e Ej) %

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #F -~ E - =F+_-H=+—HIFF&E T~
Share Share Merger Share option ~ Statutory ~ Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total

R BRAEE  AHEE BREBE  iTRE  ENGE ZitEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn Tin TER TiEn i TER TEn Fian
Note @) (Note 32) Note (b))
Wae) W2 (W)

At 1 January 2022 AZRZE-f-
A 20,457 130,674 (1,000 1,155 5,670 11,631 (76,822) 91,765
Loss for the year EnER - - - = = = 22.904) (2904)
Other comprehensive expense for the 2 £ 2EH L
year, net of income tax BARAER
Jtems that may be reclassified RERBET#EYN
subsequently to profit or oss: FEZERY
Exchange differences arising on REBNERH
translation of foreign operations EAEE - - - - - (4,720 - (4,720
Total comprehensive expense PERERTAE
for the year - - - - - (4,720 22,904) (27624)
Recognition of equity-settled share- B ME R £ EH
based payments Rzt - = = 3787 = = = 3767
At 31 December 2022 and RZSZZE+2A
1 January 2023 =+-Ak
ozE
-R-H I 130,674 (1,000) ! ! i (99,726) 67928
Loss for the year EnEE (46,825) (46,825)
Other comprehensive expense for the 2 F £t 2 AR
year, net of income tax BEARAER
tems that may be reclassified HEE W kA
subsequently to profit or oss: EFSEEERY
Eg:
Exchange differences arising on REBNERE
translation of foreign operations EXZE (1,715) (1,715)
Total comprehensive expense PERERTEE
for the year (1,15) (46,825) (48,540)
At 31 December 2023 it St
tZA=t-A ! 130,674 (1,000) ! ! 5,196 (146,551)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

[\\/ A

—H— \N 7/
/ ~ II\EIII\

goxR(E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

Notes:

(a)

The merger reserve represented the difference between the Company’s
shares of the nominal value of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries
acquired and the Company’s cost of acquisition of the subsidiaries under
common control upon the reorganisation undergone by the Group.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), the companies registered in the PRC shall appropriate
a certain percentage of their net profit after tax (after offsetting any
prior years' losses) calculated under the accounting principles generally
applicable to the PRC enterprises to the reserve fund. When the balance
of this reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity's capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised
to offset prior years' losses or to increase capital. However, the balance
of the statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at a minimum of
25% of the capital after these usages. After making the appropriation to
the statutory surplus reserve, the companies may also appropriate their
profits for the year to the discretionary surplus reserve upon approval by
the board of directors or the shareholders in a general meeting.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
elHEEREXR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

/\\/ \

Written-off of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment losses of property, mE - BERZERE
plant and equipment &5 18

Impairment losses under expected credit TEHEEBEBEENIE TR
loss model, net of reversal BEEEGIRED)

Written-down of inventories WeETE

Equity-settled share based payment
expense
Loss (gain) on disposal of biological assets

2023
—E-=
HK$°000
FRT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETH
Loss before tax R B A& 18 (46,567)
Adjustments for: FEES
Finance costs Bl & KA
Financial guarantee service income B 75 7E 4R AR 7 A
Interest income M EM A
Remeasurement of defined benefit pension E#H it 8 R EEHEKR S
plans &l
Fair value gains (losses) on financial asset BRAREFAERZ
at FVTPL TREENAABENRS
(E518)
Fair value losses (gains) on investment HEMERIAARBEEE
properties (Y z)
Fair value losses on biological assets EMEERALEEIE
Depreciation of property, plant and mME BERZBTE
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant HEME BEREKEZ
and equipment 18 ()

WMEWME - BERRE

NiEm s E RO
Fl 32

HEEMEEMNEE
(e a)

2022

—EF--

HK$'000
TER

(22,904)

2,637

(549)

62

(139)
4,514

1,756
2,255

(2)

62

3,787

(1,065)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
melRensak(E

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ_F_-=F+ A=+ —HIFEF

2023 2022
—E-= —EF--

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FET

Operating cash flows before movements 2 EE B BHHLERSE

in working capital RE (22,609) (8,535)
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,851 5,039
Decrease in trade receivables FE W 2 5 5 IE R 8,741 642
Decrease (increase) in deposit and other %o K& E b e W E R

receivables (38 hn) 5,051 (6,904)
(Decrease) increase in trade payables FE P22 5 3 I8 O ) 38 0 (10,497) 15,963
Increase (decrease) in other payables and Hih B REREFE R

accruals 20 Ot 4) 1,536 (3,322)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets BHMEEGEM B (5,273) 264
Decrease (increase) in biological assets H W& E R A (8 n) 26,854 (38,897)
Cash generated from (used in) operations K& S (FTARE 5,654 (35,750)
Income taxes refunded (paid) BEEEMNAEH 1,023 (1,245)

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING K2 ZBHRES(FFARSE

ACTIVITIES FE (36,995)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZD
Purchase of biological assets BEEMEE (7,665)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary U B& W B A 7B &7 1 F 58 (3,324)
Proceeds from sales of biological assets EYMBEEHEE R 2,848
Interest received B B 549
Proceeds from disposal of property, plantand HEW ¥ -  MENRE S

equipment KIB 21
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEEW%¥  BEKX (462)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING REZBHFES(FFARS

ACTIVITIES F (8,033)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

weEReRER(E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New borrowings raised
Repayment of borrowings

BMEEH
MEHEK

18 & & 5K

Interest paid B B

Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAaRE

(Repayments to) advance from directors (MEBEFER)ESTHX

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING RBIEZFEH(FFA)FBES
ACTIVITIES F

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

BRERBESEWEMOED)
FHE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERERBSEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE EREHNE
CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND & XBReRBELZEEY -
OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY BANK URITESHRESARR

BALANCES AND CASH

2023 2022
—E_-= —EF--

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTEx FET

25,453 33,959

(23,999) (7,697)

(5,882) (1,737)

(1,548) (2,743)

(1,445) 1,445

23,227

(21,801)

27277

(3,310)

2,166
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

W N

ira B ERR M A

GENERAL INFORMATION

Harbour Equine Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman lIslands under the Companies
Law (as revised) of the Cayman lIslands on 18 August
2016. The registered office address of the Company is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company.
During the year, the Company’'s subsidiaries were
principally engaged in the manufacture and selling of
high performance sewing threads and broad categories
of garment accessories, provision of interior design,
interior decorating and furnishing services, trading
of bloodstocks, stallion services and equine handling
services and provision of advisory on securities,
corporate financial advisory services and asset
management services.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“"Directors”), the ultimate holding company of the
Group is Three Gates Investment Limited, which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI") with
limited liability and is controlled by Mr. Wong Kwok Wai,
Albert ("Mr. Wong").

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
Dollars ("HK$"), which is also the presentation currency
of Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\‘/—J_\

& MR R M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to Hong Kong Definition of Accounting
Accounting Standards Estimates
("HKAS") 8
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

2.

R RGBT TR BRE
ZA(TEHRMBREER])

REFEBEERZHTEBUHK
HEARHEEIT A

RAEE AEERHEGEVHRE
RERERABE-_T_=Ff—A—8B%
ZERBFERRE RGN ERNT
JIEAEMAS ((BEEAAE])
BHOFAIEAM B RS EINRE
CHESE

BEAVBRELERN REBEH
BN (BEZZ
—EF+ARZ
T--F-Az
BB REE
B 2175 (18 5T
)

BEAGHEN(TE grHHEe
BEITERDSE TE &

85k (& 7] )
EEGHEF2 BE-—RFHGEHLE
5 (18 7T &) ZEENRE
18 HH B B IR
FE T IR
EEEHERNE12 BEERBEHE
S (£ 7T A) — XHEZR
& 5 Al

EARGHERET SHBEN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

2.

2.1

2.2

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments define accounting
estimates as “monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An
accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves
measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. The amendments
to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates, and changes in accounting policies
and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments narrow the scope of
the recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12
Income Taxes so that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

The application of the amendments in the current year
has had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

2.

2.3

& MR R M E(E)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 12 Income Taxes International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two model Rules

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. HKAS 12 is amended to add the
exception to recognising and disclosing information about
deferred tax assets and liabilities that are related to tax
law enacted or substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development (the “Pillar
Two legislation”). The amendments require that entities
apply the amendments immediately upon issuance
and retrospectively. The amendments also require that
entities to disclose separately its current tax expense/
income related to Pillar Two income taxes in periods
which the Pillar Two legislation is in effect, and the
qualitative and quantitative information about its exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the Pillar
Two legislation is enacted or substantially enacted but
not yet in effect in annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2023.

The Group is yet to apply the temporary exception
during the current year because the Group's entities are
operating in jurisdictions which the Pillar Two legislation
has not yet been enacted or substantially enacted. The
Group will disclose known or reasonably estimable
information that helps users of financial statements to
understand the Group’s exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in the Group’'s annual consolidated financial
statements when the Pillar Two legislation is enacted or
substantially enacted and will disclose separately current
tax expense/income related to Pillar Two income taxes
when it is in effect.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

2.4 Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and
to judge whether information about an accounting policy
is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group’s accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERHIRKEITIEEBMBRE
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING ZA([BFEMBEREED])(E)

2.5

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long

25 EREBEMASHARNES

BEUHRBIMARE ((ZF&
) -REBRBE (RARE
=) EH NS T BN

Service Payment (“LSP") offsetting mechanism CIEHNETTBREE
in Hong Kong
As disclosed in Note 40, the Group has several BN A0 R AEEA

subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong which are obliged
to pay LSP to employees under certain circumstances.
Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory MPF
contributions to the trustee who administers the assets
held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of
each individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an
employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived from
employers’ MPF contributions was allowed under the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57). In June 2022, the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region gazetted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the "Amendment
Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the
“Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect on
1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under
the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’'s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of the
date of termination of employment) is used to calculate
the portion of LSP in respect of the employment period
before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance for
the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and the
impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this, the Group has
implemented the guidance published by the HKICPA in
connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively so as
to provide more reliable and more relevant information
about the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the
Abolition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FERHITIRKEBIIEEMBRE
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING ZA(HBMERELER])(E)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

2.5 Change in accounting policy as a result of 25 EREBETMASERES
application of the HKICPA guidance on the BECHRFIMABE ((ZE
accounting implications of the abolition of the Z2]) —REBR%E S ((REKRSE
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long 2 )E B EN S ENE
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism SIEMES TR EE (&)
in Hong Kong (Continued)

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from rEERREFrRESHIEE
employer MPF contributions that have been vested with MEFEFN(EEBEE WA
the employee and which could be used to offset the BERERENRBRE SEF)
employee’s LSP benefits as a deemed contribution by HRREEHRHARBSHMEIK -
the employee towards the LSP. Historically, the Group B AEBEB—EHEEAREAE
has been applying the practical expedient in paragraph 5T % Bl 81957 5593(b) B ) & B
93(b) of HKAS 19 to account for the deemed employee f’* 55 BRIEEBHBRA
contributions as a reduction of the service cost in the R - ERIREMEERBEEMED
period in which the related service is rendered. Rk 35 B S 008 ©

Based on the HKICPA’'s guidance, as a result of the BREEBSFTMAENES
Abolition, these contributions are no longer considered HREE ZSEHATHBER
“linked solely to the employee’s service in that period” RIEEESTZPHENRER
since the mandatory employer MPF contributions after 9] AA/ERER % |
the Transition Date can still be used to offset the pre- METRESERDNITARK
transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it would not be HBEAMNRBERESEMT -
appropriate to view the contributions as “independent E U - A5t 3R B 8 R 7% 4 2
of the number of years of service” and the practical EBEITTAE MEBGTE
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer B 2195 F93b) M EBERE R
applicable. Instead, these deemed contributions should FETBEA BR ZFR
be attributed to periods of service in the same manner as EHREZREERE ST %E
the gross LSP benefit applying paragraph 93(a) of HKAS B %199 £93(a) B M K& B IR 75
19. Accordingly, the Group has recognised a cumulative cRMNEBRERNTXBEBER
catch-up adjustment in profit or loss for the service PR EAR - At AEEE 3t
cost, interest expense and remeasurement effect from HE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—H
changes in actuarial assumptions for the year ended 31 HEFERERILEHELANR
December 2022, with corresponding adjustment to the BRA - FMERZIREFFE
LSP obligation. The cumulative catch-up adjustment is FERNBERBERRATEMAZE -
calculated as the difference at the enactment date (16 THERHARBESEEELAE
June 2022) between the carrying amount of the LSP o /\qu}E)JD BIERE
liability calculated under paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 B HE (= —FRNA+TAR
before the Abolition and the carrying amount of the LSP B) 1R TJ%E/%QE B 1958 5
liability calculated under paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19 WVBOEFTENEHRE2aE
after the Abolition. RECERIH BREEEREEE

@ 2R F1958 F£93(a) Lt &
NEERESEAENIUEEDN
FHEZENEZ8ETE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

PR KRBT EBMBRE
ZA(THRMBREER] (&)

25 ERERSAALAEERES

2.5 Change in accounting policy as a result of

application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP") offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong (Continued)

The Group assessed that the cumulative catch-up
adjustment in profit and loss for the service costs,
interest expense and remeasurement effect from
changes in actuarial assumptions and the corresponding
adjustment to the LSP obligation for the year ended
31 December 2022 are immaterial. This change in
accounting policy (i) did not have any impact on the
opening balance of equity at 1 January 2022 and the
cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2022, and
(i) did not have material impact on the loss for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and the consolidated financial
position as at 31 December 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS  Sale or Contribution of Assets
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangement?

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Lack of Exchangeability?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the “2020 amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity's own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect its
classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting
period. Specifically, the amendments clarify
that the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the “2020 amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the requirements introduced
by the 2020 Amendments have been modified by the
2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify
that only covenants with which an entity is required to
comply with on or before the end of the reporting period
affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability
for at least twelve months after the reporting date.
Covenants which are required to comply with only after
the reporting period do not affect whether that right
exists at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk that the
liabilities could become repayable within twelve months
after the reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when the
entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities is
subject to the entity complying with covenants within
twelve months after the reporting period.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

FERFR] RS BT ERMB®RE
ZA(THRMBREEAD R

ERMEERER KB EEY
| EER (&)

EREHENEIR (BRI HEE
Aﬁﬁ%ﬁ&#ﬁﬁ&ﬁ?%%ﬁ
EELEHEBE LT (—FE-FF)([=
EoEFEBTL)REEBEER

F1 (BT X)) # Rt 9 H 7 B B
EB(—F-ZFETE)(E)

REREBHR Ed+ &l A & &
MEE R (ESFETREERATIEE)
L 5 37 e Z 7¢fJ$aAmﬁ
ﬁamff——ifﬂ$fﬂ°:f
ZZFBEI AR aﬁ;%
WKWXTZWLTmﬁ g%
ZEBRBOEN B sﬁ1ELL

§ﬁ¢5%é34+ @A %A
mﬁiﬁéL#m£mIT$;&
MR BEHAREFE -

—F — —

Llrmte (=t

It G - BRI A TRE] AR B
ERHOBEERE FUBEREEA
%%%T%E%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ¢%%+—
EBARNEENRER WERBKBEXR
ﬁ%?i%ﬁ@%ﬁ%#mﬁﬁﬁ
ﬁa%kﬁﬁkmﬁﬁﬁm%ﬂé
RIBEBRBEHETZEAAANR
BTFRBEME o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the “2020 amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date
of applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022
Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted.
If an entity applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier
period after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the
entity should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that
period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at
31 December 2023, including the related terms and
conditions stipulated in the agreements between
the Group and the relevant lenders, the application
of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments will not result in
classification of the Group's liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4R A

W N

81 75 ¥R R B A (48

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“the GEM Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

As stated in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred loss for the year attributable
to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$46,825,000 and had approximately HK$3,300,000
of gross loss for the year ended 31 December 2023
and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$10,5631,000. As at the same date, the Group's
other borrowings due within one year of approximately
HK$33,445,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$4,123,000 only. Notwithstanding
the above, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis as the
Directors have given careful consideration to the
impact of the current and anticipated future liquidity of
the Group and are satisfied that:

(@)  Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex, the director of the
Company, agreed to provide a financial support
of HK$10,000,000 at any time to meet in full
the Group's financial obligation on or before 31
December 2024;

(b)  The Group will continue to explore the interior
design, fitting out and decoration services in
the coming year as the Group consider that
there is a growing popularity of interior design,
fitting-out and decoration in commercial,
residential and public sectors in Hong Kong
and the Greater Bay Area. The management
expected that the business performance of the
Group will improve in 2024,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MR R M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

/\‘/—J_\

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVMBBRFREBRRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FTBERER (&)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 31 REMKBRRFERERE (F)

financial statements (Continued)

(c) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Group obtained the letter of intent of
extension of the loans facilities from three
lenders to extend the utilised loans facilities
amounted to approximately HK$22,300,000
and the unused loans facilities amounted to
approximately HK$13,200,000 for 1 year to
2025; and

(d) The Group is expected to record a gross profit
for the year ending 31 December 2024.

Through continuing the abovementioned business
strategies, the Directors believe that the Group
would be able to meet its financial obligations and
fulfill its operational needs while obtaining additional
financing resources in pursuing other businesses.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group
will be able to have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for a period
of not less than the next twelve months from 31
December 2023. Accordingly, the Directors are of
the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 on a going concern
basis. The consolidated financial statements do
not provide for further liabilities which might arise,
and do not include any adjustments relating to the
carrying amount and reclassification of assets and
liabilities that might be necessary should the Group
be unable to continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BREVBERFERERRERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STHERER (E&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 31 RENKBRRFEHRERE (F)

financial statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
certain financial instruments and investment
properties that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period and biological assets
that are measure at fair values less costs to sell, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of

the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in HKAS
36 /mpairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of
the valuation technigue equals the transaction price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBRRERERREXRS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXSHEESR
Basis of consolidation HEER%E
The consolidated financial statements incorporate RAEMESRREBEARAAF - K
the financial statements of the Company and NEIREMBARIZEHNEE
entities controlled by the Company and its M HRE - EERARBFTAEMN
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the TRIER - BIES ¥E & 4
Company:
e has power over the investee; o HKEBEHRITEEN:
e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns e HAKREHZRM2HEMAE
from its involvement with the investee; and BREEESRAEER:
&
e has the ability to use its power to affect its e HBHENFAEENFEH
returns. [ o
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls WMEZEXBRBE R LM =18
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate f" HIEZER - BB U LY
that there are changes to one or more of the three ﬁfé H o AEEgEHIMHE
elements of control listed above. BIEGIREHR -
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the A& ER W% A) 2 )
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and W 1% WE AlEREAR R
ceases when the Group loses control of the %%Mﬂ%“ﬁj?}“%”%ﬁ%%i)\
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a BRe AEEmME WERUEK
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year TENKB AR MK ARMAX
are included in the consolidated statement of profit B B ESHE S YRR
or loss and other comprehensive income from the AfreEakHEMm2EKR AR -
date the Group gains control until the date when BEEZAEETBEZEH KB RQR
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. ZBAIL -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Subsidiaries

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and
assets which includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The acquired processes
are considered substantive if they are critical to
the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and
a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “"Conceptual Framework”) except
for transactions and events within the scope of
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, in
which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to
identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related
to share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in accordance
with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which
(a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree, and
the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an
asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in
stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income and
measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted
for on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had disposed directly of the previously held
equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A M ERR W e (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (or group of cash-generating units) that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF rEMBRAERERRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group
of cash-generating units, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within

3.2 EXEFBEER(E)
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goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of CEEBMMRENESEAE
the relative values of the operation (or the cash- Brn(k—WHBEESEEEMMA)

generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-
generating units) retained.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transfer over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group performs;

° the Group's performance creates and
enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a
receivable represent s the Group's unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is
due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to
the same contract are accounted for and presented
on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
input method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to
the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or
services.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BREVBERFERERRERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STHERER (E&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXEHBRER (B

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Combined services of interior designs, interior
decorating and furnishing services

Combined services of interior designs, interior
decorating and furnishing services is recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the
provision of service at the end of the reporting
period. The progress towards fulfilment of
construction contracts is measured with reference
to contract cost incurred for work performed to
date. Contract cost that related to provision of
service are expensed as incurred.

Sales of sewing threads

Sales of sewing threads recognised when the
Company has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods.

Sales of furnishings

Sales of furnishings are recognised when the
Company has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
ek E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Sales of biological assets

Revenue from sales of biological assets is
recognised at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, i.e., when the
products are collected by the customers.

Stallions service

Service income is recognised at the point in time
when a vet certificate is produced for confirming
that a viable live foal was produced. Service income
is recognised at the amount attributable to the
Group's interests in the stallion.

Biological assets handling services

Service income is recognised when services are
rendered, on an accrual basis or where condition
attached to the relevant agreements and mandates
is in satisfaction of the relevant condition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Finance advisory and assets management

The Group provides asset management and advising
on securities to customers. The corporate advisory
service income is recognised in the accounting
period in which the underlying services are rendered
on a time-proportion basis in accordance with the
terms of the underlying service agreements. Asset
management fee income is charged at a fixed
percentage per month of the net asset value of
the managed accounts under management of the
Group.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for
those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e HmERNEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation
is to arrange for the provision of the specified good
or service by another party. In this case, the Group
does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for
the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified after
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or
arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A M ERR W e (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components and the aggregate
stand-alone price of non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associate non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBRREREBRRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXETBERER &)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

126

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the announcement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e BB RMEE (8

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an

index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e HRERNEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market
rent review, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate

line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability, less any lease incentive receivable,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future
lease payments as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the
future lease payments as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical
expedient to remeasure the lease liabilities by
discounting the revised lease payments using
the unchanged discount rate and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets. A lease modification is required by interest
rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of these
conditions are met:

° the modification is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark
reform; and

o the new basis for determining the lease
payments is economically equivalent to the
previous basis (i.e. the basis immediately
preceding the modification).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBRRERERREXRS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXBFHXER(E)
(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE(ER)

The Group as a lessor FEFESLHBA
Classification and measurement of leases HERZEREE

All leases are classified as operating lease. FrEHEAIERERE

Rental income from operating leases is recognised KEHEMNHES W AERBAR
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term EHRARREREIBRAIE
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred moEERLELERERE

ERMVREEKRAFABRESR
ENEEE fEKAREE
HAREREERB/FA K

in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset,
and such costs are recognised as an expense on

a straight-line basis over the lease term except for BREALBEEERNFGENERE
investment properties measured under fair value P AN o
model.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments from
lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it
accounts for the head lease and the sublease as
two separate contracts. The sublease is classified
as a finance or operating lease by reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not
with reference to the underlying asset.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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BB mRNT(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities
of the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HKS$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of
“exchange reserve” (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

For defined retirement benefit plans including the
LSP under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
and others to specify, the cost of providing benefits
is determined using the projected unit credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried
out at the end of each annual reporting period.
In determining the present value of the Group's
defined benefit obligations and the related current
service cost and, where applicable, past service
cost, the Group attributes benefit to periods of
service under the plan’s benefit formula. However,
if an employee’s service in later years will lead to a
materially higher level of benefit than earlier years,
the Group attributes the benefit on a straight-line
basis from:

(a) the date when service by the employee first
leads to benefits under the plan (whether or
not the benefits are conditional on further
service) until

(b)  the date when further service by the employee
will lead to no material amount of further
benefits under the plan, other than from
further salary increases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and
losses, the effect of the changes to the asset
ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets
(excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the
consolidated statement of financial position with a
charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur.
Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive
income is reflected immediately in retained earnings
and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in
the period of a plan amendment or curtailment and
a gain or loss on settlement is recognised when
settlement occurs. When determining past service
cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, an entity
shall remeasure the net defined benefit liability or
asset using the current fair value of plan assets
and current actuarial assumptions, reflecting the
benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets
before and after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement, without considering the effect of
asset ceiling (i.e. the present value of any economic
benefits available in the form of refunds from the
plan or reductions in future contributions to the
plan).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBRRERERREXRS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXETBERER (&)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount
rate at the beginning of the period to the net
defined benefit liability or asset. However, if the
Group remeasures the net defined benefit liability
or asset before plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement, the Group determines net interest for
the remainder of the annual reporting period after
the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement
using the benefits offered under the plan and the
plan assets after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement and the discount rate used to
remeasure such net defined benefit liability or
asset, taking into account any changes in the net
defined benefit liability or asset during the period
resulting from contributions or benefit payments.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

° service cost (including current service cost,
past service cost, as well as gains and losses
on curtailments and settlements);

° net interest expense or income; and
° remeasurement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the actual deficit or surplus in the
Group's defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting
from this calculation is limited to the present value
of any economic benefits available in the form
of refunds from the plans or reductions in future
contributions to the plans.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBRREREBRRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXETBERER &)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-
term employee benefits are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash outflows
expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying
amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or
permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments
transactions

Shares/Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments
transactions (Continued)

Shares/Share options granted to employees
(Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share-
based payments reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payments reserve. For share/
share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the shares/share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in “share option reserve” will
be transferred to “share capital”. After vesting date,
when the vested share options are later forfeited or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in “share option reserve"” will
be transferred to “accumulated losses”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
current tax and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period,
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

to recover
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale, except for freehold land, which is
always presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease
liabilities, and the related assets separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to
lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised
and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
ek E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

REVBBRRERERREARS
STBURES (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXSHHEER(E)
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
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and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity

respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax BaHETVLS e REBEME
arises from the initial accounting for a business ERIRMBREERAEXES

HeErRE -

combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets other than construction in progress
less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets
and subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit
or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment
properties under construction are capitalised as part
of the carrying amount of the investment properties
under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
A leased property which is recognised as a
right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group
as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease
as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBRREREBRRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXETBERER &)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and
are initially recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset,
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwiill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBRRERERREXRS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& B R R MY A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

/\\/T\

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBRRERERREXRS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit or the group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or the group of cash-generating units) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Biological assets

Biological assets are measured on initial recognition
and at the end of the reporting period at their fair
value less costs to sell, with any resulting gain or
loss recognised in the profit or loss for the year in
which it arises. Costs to sell are the incremental
costs directly attributable to the disposal of an
asset, mainly transportation cost and excluding
finance costs and income taxes. The fair value
of biological assets is determined based on their
present location and condition and is determined
independently by a professional valuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments rather than for investment
or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented
as short-term borrowings in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect
of the time value of money is material).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss)
(“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF rEMBRAERERRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI| as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B BEHRERI T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

/\\/T\

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(a)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. For financial instruments
other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A M ERR W e (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(b) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the "other gains and losses, net”
line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to
Impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial
assets (including trade receivables, contract assets
and deposits and other receivables and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

& B R R MY A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets without significant
financing component. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances or collectively using a provision matrix
with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’'s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A M ERR W e (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument
has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of 'investment grade’ as
per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(ii)

Definition of default

(iii)

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e HRERNEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

162

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(iii) _ Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for

that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B BEHRERI T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A M ERR W e (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition. For a
lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B BEHRERI T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

/\\/T\

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
Impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes
into consideration the following characteristic
when formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables and contract assets where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate
at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

° For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains
and losses, net’ line item as part of the net
foreign exchange gains and losses;

° For financial assets measured at FVTPL
that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains
and losses, net’ line item as part of the gain
(loss) from changes in fair value of financial
assets;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF rEMBRAERERRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

3.2 EXEFBEER (&)

Financial instruments (Continued) cRTE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Derecognition of financial assets RIFBERLHEE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises
its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, lease liabilities and borrowings are

subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9; and

° the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised over the guarantee period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a
foreign currency and are measured at amortised
cost at the end of each reporting period, the foreign
exchange gains and losses are determined based
on the amortised cost of the instruments. These
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
the 'Other gains and losses, net’ line item in profit
or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and consideration
paid or payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by the management on a going concern basis.
The assessment of the going concern assumptions
involves making judgement by the management, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
management considers that the Group has ability to
continue as a going concern and the major conditions and
business strategies about the going concern assumptions
are set out in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into a sublease arrangement as
lessor on leasehold land. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting
a major part of the economic life of the leasehold land
and the present value of the minimum lease payments
not amounting to substantially all the fair value of
the leasehold land, that it retains substantially all the
significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the leasehold land which are leased out and accounts for
the contracts as operating leases.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising
from investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the
Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded
that the Group's investment properties are not held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment properties over time. Therefore,
in determining the deferred taxation on investment
properties, the Directors have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The
Group has not recognised any deferred tax on changes
in fair value of investment properties as the Group is not
subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of
the investment properties on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

(a)

Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to enterprise income tax
in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC").
Judgement is required in determining the amount
of the provision for taxation and the timing of
payment of the related taxations. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Income tax and deferred tax (Continued)

No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits
or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future, which is a key source of estimation
uncertainty. In cases where the actual future taxable
profits generated are less or more than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a
material reversal or further recognition of deferred
tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in
profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal
or further recognition takes place.

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group's
financial assets amounting to approximately
HK$5,226,000 (2022: HK$5,179,000) are measured
at fair value with fair value being determined based
on an independent valuer and the surrender value
of the policy of the financial assets. Judgement and
estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof.
Changes in assumptions relating to these factors
could result in material adjustments to the fair value
of these instruments. Further details are contained
in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statement.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Leases — Estimating the incremental
borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of
the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets with credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets which are not assessed individually using a
provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical
default rates and forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and
the Group's trade receivables and contract assets
are disclosed in Notes 25, 26 and 36(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Provision of ECL for other receivables and
deposits

The Group calculates the ECL for other receivables
and deposits by grouping the counterparties with
similar nature under general approach. The provision
rates are based on internal credit rating and taking
into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs of effort. At every reporting date,
changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and
the Group’s other receivables and deposits are
disclosed in Notes 25 and 36(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(f)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and ROU assets

Property, plant and equipment and ROU assets are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset
is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset
(including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belongs. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment and ROU assets
based on higher of fair values less cost of disposal,
and value in use (“VIU"). The carrying amount of
the relevant assets do not exceed the recoverable
amount and no impairment has been recognised
(2022: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(g)

Fair value measurement of biological assets

The Group’s biological assets are valued at fair
value less costs to sell. The fair value of biological
assets is determined based on either (i) the market-
determined prices as at the end of the reporting
period adjusted with reference to the species, age,
growing condition, costs incurred and expected
yield to reflect differences in characteristics and/
or stages of growth of the horse; or (ii) present
value of expected net cash flows discounted at
a current market-determined rate, when market-
determined prices are unavailable; or (iii) the cost
when appropriate. Whilst the Group considers these
valuations are the best estimates, the worldwide
economic uncertainties and the fluctuation of
capital and stock market have resulted in greater
market volatility and may cause further disruptions
to the Group, which have led to higher degree
of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in
the current year. Any change in the estimates
may affect the fair value of the biological assets
significantly. Independent professional valuers and
the management review assumptions and estimates
periodically to identify any significant change in
the fair value of the biological assets. Details of
assumptions used are disclosed in Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(h)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit (or a group of
cash-generating units) and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss
or further impairment loss may arise. Furthermore,
the estimated cash flows and discount rate are
subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainties
in the current year due to uncertainty on how
the worldwide economic uncertainties and the
fluctuation of capital and stock market may progress
and evolve and volatility in financial markets,
including potential disruptions of the Group's interior
design and decoration operation.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of goodwill is approximately HK$6,683,000
(2022: HK$6,683,000) (net of accumulated
impairment of approximately HK$12,103,000
(2022: HK$12,103,000)). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

EESEHE R AT TR EMEN
FERFRR)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

fl 5T R E MR E ERR (&)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(i)

Estimation of fair value of investment
properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value
based on the valuation performed by independent
professional valuers. The determination of the
fair value involves certain assumptions of market
conditions which are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that
the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions. Whilst the Group considers
valuation of the Group’s investment properties
are the best estimates, the worldwide economic
uncertainties and the fluctuation of capital and stock
market have resulted in greater market volatility,
which may led to higher degree of uncertainties
in respect of the valuations in the current year.
Changes to these assumptions, including the
potential risk of any market violation, policy,
geopolitical and social changes or other unexpected
incidents as a result of change in macroeconomic
environment, travel restrictions implemented
by many countries, increased complexity in
international trade tensions geopolitics, changes
in policy direction and/or mortgage requirements,
or other unexpected incidents would result in
changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(i) Estimation of fair value of investment
properties (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
the Group’s investment properties is HK$4,300,000
(2022: HK$4,500,000).

(j) Estimated impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
assessed for impairment annually. In determining
whether intangible assets are impaired, the Group
has to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

4.

182

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(i)

Estimated impairment of intangible assets
(Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group
has to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (2) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. The Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the
assets belong, including allocation of corporate
assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable
amount is determined at the smallest group of
cash generating units, for which the relevant
corporate assets have been allocated. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives subject
to impairment assessment were approximately
HK$3,788,000 (2022: HK$3,788,000). No impairment
loss was recognised to intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives (2022: Nil). Details of the
impairment testing on intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are disclosed in Note 21.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

5.

REVENUE

(i)

5. U=
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i)
with customers
Types of goods or services: EmRgER:
Manufacture and selling of sewing BOGEENREE
threads
Interior decorating and furnishing EREM R EANRK
services R 7%
Interior design services R ET R B
Sales of furnishings REHE
Equine services 55U AR 7%
Total st

Geographical market — location of

wEWE - FFNUE

customers
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) FE(TBEES)
Hong Kong BE
Middle East IR
Mauritius FE Bk
Australia B
Others H
Total wmEt
Timing of revenue recognition: R EEER
Over time BE B

At a point in time

R — B ]

Total

Mt

REEF SO S

2023
—E=-=

HK$°000
TER

21,196

14,092
2,358

31,413

69,059

9,550
24,758
7,408
3,345
23,931
67

69,059

oE:

2022
e —

=

HK$'000
TAERT

50,972

15,145
830
1,625
7702

76,274

25,756
21,236
17,099
5,107
7,008
68

76,274

15,975
60,299

76,274
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (E)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ=F - =F+-H=4+—HIFFEF

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. W (&)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) REEFEFEHNKZEIE: (B)
with customers (Continued)

2023 2022
—E-= R
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx FET
Set out below is the reconciliation TXHEHINKEEFLELD
of the revenue from contracts B W 2 B2 5> 36 & BT
with customers with the amounts WS EMER:
disclosed in the segment
information:

Manufacture and selling of sewing #ZAZELEERHEE

threads
Trading of sewing threads BAUOBES 50,972
Interior design and decoration E R R %8RB

services
Interior decorating and furnishing ERNEMREANREK

services Pk 75 14,092 15,145
Interior design services ERNRF RS 2,358 830
Sales of furnishings REHE - 1,625
Total et 16,450 17,600
Equine services BT R
Trading of equines FrXES 5,453
Equine related services 55 UC 48 B8 AR 7% 2,249
Total st 7,702
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

5.

REVENUE (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the industrial products and payment is
generally due within 30-90 days from delivery.

Combined services of interior designs,
interior decorating and furnishing services

Interior design services, interior decorating and
furnishing services are recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the Group's
performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date. Revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation
using input method.

The Group's service contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
design period once certain specified milestones are
reached. The Group requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits range from 10% to 30%
of total contract sum, when the Group receives a
deposit before design service commences, this
will give rise to contract liabilities at the start
of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the specific contract exceeds the amount of the
deposit.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

5.

REVENUE (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

Sales of furnishings

For trading of furnishings, revenue is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being
when the goods have been delivered to the specific
location and confirmed by the customers. There
is no credit period given on billing for trading of
furnishings.

Equine services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
completion of trading of bloodstocks, stallion stud'’s
services, horse management services and horse
racing, payment is generally due within 30 days
after services provided.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All revenue contracts are for period of one year or
less. As permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”), being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or
provided. No operating segments identified by the
CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

The Group now has four (2022: four) reportable
segments. The segments are managed separately as
each business offers different products and services
and requires different business strategies. The Group
has four reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments as follows:

Manufacture and selling of sewing threads

— manufacture and selling of high performance
sewing threads and broad categories of garment
accessories

Interior design and decoration

— provision of interior design, interior decorating,
furnishing services and sales of furnishings

Equine services

— provision of trading of bloodstocks, stallion services
and equine handling services

Advising on securities, corporate finance and
asset management

— provision of advisory on securities, corporate
financial advisory services and asset management
services
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (E)

_/VFor the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z —F_=4F+ A=+ —HIFFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEBER(E)
(a) Segment revenues and results (a) PR BEMEE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue LNTRIEZEAREMEED BH
and results by reportable and operating segments: REBU ATELE DI
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-_=%+=-H=+—H
IEFE

Advising on
securities,
Manufacture corporate
and selling Interior finance  Adjustment
of sewing design Equine and asset and
threads and decoration services management eliminations
LERER
A8 ERRT BEEE
LERHE k%% FLRH RUtER  HERYE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TER TR TR TERL TERL TER

Reportable segment REHNDEPH

revenue from external AREFFUA
customers
Inter-segment sales FHEHE

Reportable segment profit ~ A/ H%
(loss) (E8) (13,442) ; (27135) (39,401)

Corporated and PERAARRAR
unallocated expense (7,166)

Group's loss before tax REBRFAER (46,567)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEBER(E)
(a) Segment revenues and results (Continued) (a) DI MZELE (E)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-Z-_—_F+=-H=t+—8H
I FE
Advising on
securities,
Manufacture corporate
and selling Interior finance Adjustment
of sewing design Equine and asset and
threads  and decoration services  management eliminations Total
gE5
PERER
FEREE k&g SR REER  AERYY b

HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TATL TAL TAL TEL TAL TATL

Reportable segment RandzpH

revenue from external EEELETON

customers 50,972 17600 7702 — — 76,274
Inter-segment sales PHHEE - - - 40 (40) -

Reportable segment profit 713 & 2 H & F|

floss) (B%) (3.273) 21 (9,758) (15) - (10,875)
Corporated and TERAPRRR

unallocated expense (12,029
Group’s loss before tax rEERFAER (22,904)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 3. Segment profit (loss)
represents the profit earned by/loss from each
segment without allocation of central administration
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market
rates.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets
and liabilities by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Reportable segment assets Bk
Corporated and unallocated assets ¥

Reportable segment liabilities
Corporated and unallocated liabilities

Manufacture
and selling
of sewing
threads

EHE
EEREE
HK$'000
TER

21,631

(14,810)
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6.
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7 ERE R ()

(a)

(b)

Interior
design and
decoration

BRES
R&#
HK$'000
TR

26,675

(9,402)

2 B U s MR AR ()

Ry B EY & ET O ELBY SR
MASENEFBER K- 2
BaEM(BE) EEY BRI
wmAEE YESREP R
B - W BIR 2 i &k &
AXERERZLERREZR
HErE -

DEEEERBITM S ER K
R o

THEERKE

Ji)

NTREBAREDHBEEAE
BEMBEND N :

BE-ZE_=%+=-H=+—H
ILFE

Advising on
securities,

Equine
services

ELRE
HKS'000
T#Ex

16,403

(26,469)

corporate
finance

and asset
management
i
LERER
BEER
REER
HKS$'000
TER

4,069

#it
HK$'000
TR

68,778
10,551

19329

(51,313)
(8,628)

(59,941)
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6.

(b)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. ZHER(E)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) PBEEREMS(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_Z-_—_f+=-H=+—H
IHFEE
Advising on
securities,
Manufacture corporate
and selling Interior finance
of sewing design and Equine and asset
threads decoration Services  management Total
S
tERER
FERBE &3 STRE REEE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TR TR TEL
Reportable segment assets RN HEE 38,395 25,212 61,03 417 128,759
Corporated and unallocated assets PERRAREE 7761
136,520
Reportable segment liabilities BEESED:L (10,267) (8,783 41773) (631) (61,454)
Corporated and unallocated liabilities CERKIEER (71138
68,592)

For the purposes of monitoring segment
performance and allocating resources between
segments:

° all assets other than certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, other receivables, financial assets at
FVTPL and cash and cash equivalents are
allocated to operating segments; and

° all liabilities other than certain of the Group's
borrowings, other payables, lease liabilities
and retirement benefit obligations are allocated
to operating segments.

RIEESBEENED B

il

FREIR:

MEEE(MBREETAE
EMmE BERZE  #E
REEE - HMEYEIR -

BAREF+AEBRGZZE®
BEMRERESEEY)
MOLGEEN K

mERE(NEBEARES
THER - HEf R RIEA
HEREREKRERANE
EMOBEREEN -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4R A

N

6.

B 75 R R MY ()

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(c)

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit

or loss on segment assets:

Manufacture

and selling

of sewing
threads

28
LERBE
HKS'000
ThR

ABENAERAD Y
BRI ETRENSE:

Amounts included in the measure
of segment profits or loss or
segment assets:

Addition to property, plant and WAME BERRE

equipment

Addition to right-of-use assets WABREEE

Depreciation of property, plantand  91% - BERHERE
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets ¥ BEAENE

Fair value gains on financial assets BAAEHAEE 248
at FVTPL, net BENLAENE (BR)

8

Impairment of property, plantand ~ #1% - BERZERE
equipment

Impairment losses under expected BHEEFEERXT
credit loss model, net of reversal ~ HEBE(NEER)

Government grants HREH

Interest income FISHA

Finance costs BERK

Other gains and losses, net HbphsREEEE

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

Interior
design and
decoration

Bt
k%%
HKS'000
ThR

6.

ELRE

ZEFZAS+—AUEE

2 EER (&)
(c) EftrmpHEHR

BEzC=
ILEE

g-=5+=-A=+-8

A EHMEEZH HEF
SRz DE

Advising on

securities,

corporate

finance

Equine and asset

services  management Unallocated
LEHER
REEE
RHER
HK$000

TR

AP EN &t
HK$'000 HKS'000
ThR Thn

HK$'000
TR

69

= 152
4,251 5,010
(9,726) (9,250)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB HRERM T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

/\‘/T\

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

6.

2 HER (&)
(c) HfttzIWEFR ()

BE-_F-_—_f+-A=t—H

LtEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit AT EDEEE 29 HiE A
or loss on segment assets: BB
Advising on
securities,
Manufacture corporate
and selling Interior finance
of sewing design and Equine and asset
threads decoration services  management  Unallocated Total
gEH
TEBER
g5 LT BEER
EERHE &3 SERE REESR AORMK @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL ThL ThL TEn TEn TEn
Amounts included in the AHEFLEEL D
measure of segment profits ~ BEERAENE
or loss or segment assets: g
Addition to property, plantand  #AM%E  BERKE
equipment 206 256 — — — 462
Addition to biological assets ~ HALNEE - - 46,490 - = 46,490
Depreciation of property, plant  91% - BERRBHFE
and equipment 1,002 565 — — 189 1,756
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ EREZERE
assets 1,505 368 - - 382 2,255
Fair value gains losses) on~~ BAABHAREZ S
financial assets at FVTPL, net BEEHALEUE
(BR)#E 86 - (148) - - (62)
Impairment losses under BEEEBEEAT
expected credit loss model,  JREFE
net of reversal (kEE) 1,104 (54) 1 - - 1,061
Government grants B 209 130 - - 144 483
Interest income MERA 549 - - = = 549
Finance costs RERK 133 357 2116 - 31 2637
Other gains and losses, net ~ EftlimREBFE 3,097 390 (2,433) - (1) 1,083

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

re IS R M R (88)

" For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in the PRC,
Australia and Hong Kong. Information about the
Group's revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the operations.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets,
excluding financial instruments and goodwill, is
presented based on the geographical location of the

assets.

PRC H
Hong Kong 'H
Australia BN

(e) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

BEPA
=P B2

Customer A’
Customer B2

6.

2023
—E-=

HK$'000

THER

9,550
35,578
23,931

69,059 76,274

—EF_=ZFf_A=F—HILFE

7 ERE R ()

(d)

Revenue from
external customers

RESBEFHKE

(e)

L Revenue from interior design and decoration.

2 Revenue from manufacture and selling of sewing threads
service.
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REBEBNEBLRAPE  RIM
REE - BERAEERBNE
EFRKEEHDRELE M
2V - EBEAEEIERDE
ETEFemI AREEN
ERDRBEEENMBELEZ
5| o

Non-current assets

FRBEE

2022 2023 2022

N ool —E_= it iyl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THER FAEL

339
13,678

7702 5,864
19,881
EHEXEEFHNER
BAEBERAWZEERI0% A E
NEFHRZENT
2023 2022
—Eg-= WSS (D
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FiE T
17,099

! ERRFTREH 2 W o

: AERMESOSEE S -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4 A

N

B 75 R R My (8B

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

7.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7. HtBEREBEFE
2023
—E-=
HK$'000
THER
Rental income HEWA
Fair value gains (losses) on financial BEARBEFAEZ 2SR
assets at FVTPL, net EEMALBERZ (EBE)
/EF %'E
Fair value (losses) gains on investment "EWMERNAEER)
properties Iz
Financial guarantee fee from a related RE—HBEEARNYB
company ERER
Exchange (loss) gain, net fEH (BB KEFE
Fair value loss on biological assets, net EYEENANBEEEFE
Interest income R B A
Insurance compensation R EE
Government grants (Note) XS 4 8L (M 72)
(Loss) gain on disposal of biological HEEMEEN(EE)
assets g
Others HAth
Note: B ot -

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the amount represented the
subsidy received from government authorities in the PRC for encourage

employment.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the amount mainly
represented the subsidy received from the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region for the Employment Support

Scheme.

There was no unfulfilled condition and other contingency attached to the

receipt of subsidy.

B B

fRAEIR -

BE-_Z-_=Zf+-A=Z+-—-BHLEEE " %
FEATERNEERR O S B R EWR -

BE-ZE-_—_F+-A=+—BLEE "
HXTZHEETRAREBRNRMENRMETE

2022

=

HK$'000
TAET

1,239

(62)

139

1,437
(4,514)
549
1,234
483

1,065
453

2,023

BERKRZERMME AR ERNDGEHRE

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

= /\
e FEm R EE)
" Forthe year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ_F_-=F+ A=+ —HIFEF
8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 8. FHHEEFEEXTNEEEIE G
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL BRIEE)
2023 2022
-2 = —_EF-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Continuing operations BELSE
Impairment losses recognised/ BERERBEEBER/ (BE):
(reversed) on:
— trade receivables — B RWRIEAE (617)
— contract assets — BHEE —
— deposit and other receivables — e kHMmERKRKIE 1,668
1,051
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note BT (A EE B E A M 5E36(0) ©
36(b).
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERAX
2023 2022
—E-=F TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Interest expense on borrowings and BRI E ST B
overdrafts 1,505
Interest expense on lease liabilities HERGBERNERAX 185
Interest expense on accrued benefits FEEHE A B A B X =
Interest expense on overdue trade mEENR S RIBHFE
payables 53 947
2,637
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4 A

INAAS

B 75 R R My (8B

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FREHiMx
2023 2022
—E_=F —_E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Current income tax BNER AT 15 %t
Deferred tax (Note 34) iR & I8 (K7 2534)
Total income tax expenses stz 4258

The Group is subjected to income tax on an entity basis
on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions
in which subsidiaries of the Group are domiciled and
operate. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"),
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and BVI.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit for both years. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, Hong Kong Profits Tax
is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits by offsetting the tax loss which previously not
recognised. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
no provision for Hong Kong tax has been made for the
Group as the assessable profits arising in Hong Kong was
fully offset by the tax losses previously not recognised.

No provision for corporate tax has been made for the
Group's operation in Australia as such operation incurred
loss for taxation purpose for the year of assessment
2023 (2022: Nil).

Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law and the respective
regulations, the subsidiaries which operate in the PRC
are subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 25% on
the taxable income. No provision for PRC income tax
has been made for the Group's operation in PRC as such
operation incurred loss for tax purpose for the year of
assessment 2023 (2022: Nil).

AEBEREREERELIRR
AEBHBRATEMRELEMER
AEEBRMNDZINBAAER - RIE
HEREMABRARE(REE
ZEBDORULER  AEEHE

BWHEHENEBRRESNE
AIETEHE ©
ERFNERIOBEREFEGHE

R HEFIZ N K16 5%TE - BHEZ
E-_=F+-_A=+—HILFEE F

7 F 15 W T Bt {58 SR B R A IR R
F16.5% 5t & - DA 8 5T B OR #E R A

HEEBEE BREE_S__F+=
A=+ BLFEAEBREBE
ERERT M EELAMRERNT
EEBEHSEE AT ERSEE
RIEFHIEEE -
HRAERRNBNNEBSR-_Z==
FTRUFEELEHEEBE  RITE
BREBELCEBRBE( T
FoE) o

REFEMAESHEARBABRE B
PEEgE BB AR BRTK
AR2B5%BHERAEHR - AR
MEBR_Z_=FFARNFEEL
MEBERE BERAKSERFTEN
EBRTEREHEB (T
FE)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

re IS R M R (88)

N

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled

KEEMRE

10. FREHiRE (&)

5 S B AR

BREERE

from the loss before tax per the consolidated statement EfMm2mk A cBRBABEYER
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as ™
follows:

2023 2022
—=-= Mok L o

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FHET

Loss before tax B B A 1B (46,567) (22,904)

Tax calculated at applicable tax rate REANEFENRIE (10,500) (4,239)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for 7~ A] 1 & 5 2 09 3 75 52 28

tax purpose 3,848 2,927
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ HERHW AN K &

purpose (13) (676)

Utilisation of tax losses previously not R LA ARER B IR
recognised &1 (116) (520)
Tax losses not recognised AIERMRIBEHIE 7,204 2,508

Tax effect of two-tiered profits tax rates
regime

MEHMAFNR B E

Income tax expense for the year

FEMABHRAX

(165)

258

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$21,377,000 (2022: HK$11,153,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose.

The Group has tax losses arising in the PRC of
HK$19,012,000 (2022: HK$14,318,000) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits.

No deferred tax assets has been recognised in respect
of these tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

198 HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

AEBRBEAEENH BB B
21,377,000 (= T = = &F:
11,163,000 L) R —E A F AN &
o A AREE SRR ERT R o

AEBRTFRAMELE 2HEAS
B 7,%19,012,000,% 7T (Z2 2 et
14,318,000 L) - N —E=ZHF K
B AR R ERB S F -

B R R e A 2R R B9 S B] BRI E
VEAREAERERELEHRAEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B R M (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year is arrived at after charging (crediting):

Auditor’'s remuneration
Cost of inventories sold

— Manufacture and sewing of threads
— Interior decorating and furnishing

services
— Sales of furnishings
Cost of bloodstocks sold
Written-down of inventories
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Lease payments not included in the

measurement of lease liabilities

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant

and equipment

equipment

11.

FAREBR

FABEDHERGIA) T EE:

2023

—8g==

HK$°000

FET

1% B4R 7 BM 1,022

BEEHFEKR

— AR EE 19,019
— EREMRERNRE

Bk 7% 3,888

—REHE =

BEEAESEK K 30,979

5 & MO 1,380
WM - BEMZETE

1,176

FREEENE 1,348
Tt AHEEGEFEY

HERE 1,650

HEWE - ﬁ%&%

2 & 18 (=
Loss on written-off of property, plantand #iiE% - MEKL&XE 2

18

i

2022
HK$'000
TAT
1,128
42,768
826

1,463
5,327

1,756

2,255

208

(2)

62
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

re IS R M R (88)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE
12. STAFF COSTS 12. EIHZEK
2023 2022
—E=-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Employee costs (excluding Directors and EERXK K(TEEEEN
Chief Executive's remuneration) TTER B )
Wages and salaries I&ENEHS 11,429 15,488
Pension scheme contributions BRRSETEHE R 2,423 2,919
Service costs of long service payments K HIR#E £ ~ IR A & 270 =
Severance payments BB 45 165
18,572

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the staffs
costs of approximately HK$6,002,000, HK$2,081,000
and HK$6,084,000 (2022: HK$7,659,000, HK$3,193,000
and HK$7,720,000) are recognised as direct cost, selling
and distribution expense and administrative expense
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B R M (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND

SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and supervisors’

13. EE - THHEBKRESHMH

remuneration for the year,

disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules

and CO, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Name

#

Chief executive and executive director:

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert

Executive directors:

Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah (Note ()]
Mr. Shane McGrath (Note (b))

TRAARUTES:

BRRLE

HTES
RERAE

SRXEEW )
Shane McGrath & 4 (472 (b))

Independent non-executive directors: BifinEs:
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming REHLEE

Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Amold RENLE

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel ARBLE
Total @

Director
fees

Ezhe
HK$'000

Basic
salaries and
allowances
Ex
HeREH
HK$'000

B E A B GEM L 88 Bl & 2 Al &
PIEENRARFEEERESHM M
T

BE-Z_=F+-A=1+—-HLHFE

Equity
settled Retirement
Emoluments  share-based scheme
waived payments  contributions Total
NERGEN
BHEME RBxf EAETEHR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 13. EE - THARBNRESHN(E)
SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-—FE-__F+-A=+—HLHFE
Equity
Basic settled Retirement
Director salaries and share-based scheme
Name fees allowances payments contributions Total
AR LEZEEN BRI
A EZHe e R Rz f EL L @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET TER FET FET
Chief executive and THaRR
executive director: HTES:
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert  #EEL4E = 1,622 - 18 1,640
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch ~ BZR %4 = 440 . 18 458
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex RERLE = 480 1,331 18 1,829
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah SENLE
(Note (3)) (W) - 840 1,330 18 2,188
Mr. Shane McGrath (Note (b)) Shane McGrath %t &
() - 2,154 1,126 ik 3,280
— 5,536 3,787 72 9,395
Independent non- BUFHATES:
executive directors:
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming REREE 180 = . ke 180
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold ~ BR#Bf &L 4 180 = = D 180
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel ~ BEBEX4E 180 - - - 180
540 - - X 540
Total oy 540 5,536 3,787 72 9,935
Notes: B EE -
(a) Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah (“Mr. Ma") was resigned on 29 February (a) EBEXAE(BRENR T -_WFE=
2024. AZthBEE-
(b)  Mr. Shane McGrath (“Mr. McGrath”) was appointed as an (b)  Shane McGrath’t 4 ([McGrath 5 £ ]) i
executive director of the Company on 3 January 2022. TR - -A-HEZEEAARRTH
TEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mm

& B R R MY A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

13.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Ma and
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex (“Mr. Leung”), the executive
directors, agreed to waive their emoluments of a total
of approximately HK$895,000 since the unsatisfactory
financial performance of the Group.

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2022.

On 31 August 2022, Mr. Ma and Mr. Leung the executive
directors, were granted share options, as incentive to Mr.
Ma and Mr. Leung under the share option scheme of the
Company.

On 3 January 2022, Mr. McGrath, an executive director,
was granted share options, as incentive to Mr. McGrath
to join the Group under the share option of the Company.
Mr. McGrath has over 20 years of experience in the
horse racing and breeding industry in Australia.

Details of the share option scheme are set out in Note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.

13. EE -

THARBRESHM(E)

BE-_F-__F+-A=1T-HLFE

(&)

ERATEFZHME IRBRERE
BARARAMRASEEZHEBNOREM
S e

ERBIFRATEETNTFMAEE
ERRREENFHMH -

BHE-Z-=F+ZA=+—HLHF
B HITEEFELLERREREAE
(REEDRAEREEMSAEY
8950008 L RARAEEY KX
IR R AE .

BE-FT-_—_F+-A=t—HL*#F
B BMEEFTATRAEAZREZLR
EREEAMENLH -

RZE-_—_FNA=+—8 #17&
ESLERREERBARARAER
B EEBRE EFREBEAE
MRS EREE -

R-ZEBE-_—_F—AZH HTES
McGrath 7t & 1R 15 2 2 5] B8 IR 1 & %
B - fEA B EIMcGrath %t £ 0 A
NEE@E o McGrathft 4 * WBINES
MERBITEBRBEB20FLSR -

BREFIFBEERGAVERR
B 5E32 ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

re IS R M R (88)

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest employees of the Group during the year
included two (2022: four) Directors, details of whose
emoluments are set out in Note 13 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2022:
one) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ %
Service costs of long service payment

Pension scheme contributions

14.

CRMREMEN
EHRB S ZRBEKRK
RIRE A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

TRREHHAL

FRAXGKERIEAESFHALERE
ME(CE-_—_F MREF HF

MEFBEN EXHMEIZ FAKT
ZHR(CZEZZF —R)RSFHE

BEFARAEETHITRAR) N

The number of the highest paid employees who are
not the Directors whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000

£ %1,000,000/% 7T
1,000,000/% 7T

%1,500,000% 7T

FMEEOT
2023 2022
—E_=5F e i,
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#E T FHET
996
18
1,014
FHBRATHEINE=EHMES (K
WIEBE)AHDT
2023 2022
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
A A

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, except as described in Note 13 and above, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
Directors, chief executive and supervisors or any of the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of
office.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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N
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

15.

16.

DIVIDENDS

15.

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting period (2022: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

16.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

g\

REZE=ZZE-_=F+=-A=+—HL
FE - TEMEARAEBRRKAREIRK

i 3 # Ik BX
BKEARE(ZF

BRER

B MERFEHKRE
ZFE)

AATEEAEBEERERREE
BENREATREHHE

2023
—Eg-=
HK$°000
FER
Losses B8
Loss attributable to owners of the RAGHAB AELEBRE
Company (46,825)
Shares vy
Weighted average number of ordinary AUFESRAEXRR
shares for the purpose of basic and BEBEENTBER
diluted loss per share hn e 19 B 409,141,860
Basic and diluted loss per share EREAREEEIE
(HK cents) (Note) (BN (BT a2)
Note: it -

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 does not assume the conversion of the

Company’s outstanding share options since their assumed exercise

would result in a decrease in loss per share from operations.

BE-T-=4R-T-—&+-A=t+-8

2022

HK$'000
TET

(22,904)

409,141,860

(5.60)

HESREEERBYERIREBLEADA MK

TREERE RERBER

RITEZEBRERSE
HEEMEERBERD -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4R A

N

_/wFor the year ended 31 December 2023 & = —

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

B 75 R R MY ()

—=ZFLT A=+ —HIFFE

17. Y% - BKEKRZE

Production Office Leasehold
Buildings machinery  equipment improvement Vehicles Total
B LERE  BOERE HENEEE RE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T TEL TEL
31 December 2023 ZRIZETZAZT-B
At 31 December 2022 and at RIBZZEFZAZT-R
1 January 2023: R-F_=£-B-R:
Cost A 4,193 29,164 2,281 1,154 38,452
Accumulated depreciationand ~ Zit T ERAE
impairment (664) (27,062) (2,210) (830) (32,293)
Net carrying amount FEFE 3529 2,102 324 6,159
At 1 January 2023, net of RZEZZf-F-R"
accumulated depreciation NhEHNE 6,159
Additions HE 792
Disposal HE (187)
Written-off Eig (175)
Impairment HE (799)
Depreciation provided during the ~ RER3T R E
year (1,176)
Exchange realignment ELAE (70
At 31 December 2023 net of AZEZZETZACT-R
accumulated depreciationand MR R FERAEEH
impairment 38
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZETZAZH-
Cost KA 26,501 1813 1,79 35,387
Accumulated depreciationand it TERAE
impairment (26,173) (1,758) (1,139) (30,843)
Net carrying amount REGE i 328 55 655 4544

206 HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. 1% - BERRE (&)

(Continued)
Production Office Leasehold
Buildings machinery equipment  improvement Vehicles Total
BT TERE  BLZRE HEMEEE e @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL ThL TEL TEL TEL TEL
31 December 2022 ZECCETZAST-A
At 31 December 2021 and at RZE--%+-B=1+-H
1 January 2022: R-2--F-F-H:
Cost BE 4193 31,568 2523 924 1973 41181
Accurnulated depreciationand i TEREE
impairment (519) (28,627) (2,162) (323) 1,736) (33,367)
Net carrying amount KEFE 3,674 2,941 361 801 237 7814
At 1 January 2022, net of R-F-—%-F-H"
accumulated depreciation NhEHNE 3,674 2,941 361 601 237 7814
Additions RE - 100 i 21 0 462
Disposal & - - - - (19) 19)
Written-off i - (1) (61) - - (62)
Depreciation provided during the ~ RER:T R &
year (145) (687) (267) (508) (149) (1,756)
Exchange realignment EXAR - (251) (3) - (26) (280)
At 31 December 2022 net of RZE-ZE+ZR=t-R
accumulated depreciationand B EHAEANHES
impairment A8 3,529 2,102 I 324 133 6,159
At 31 December 2022 R-Z--#+-A=+-H
Cost A 4193 29,164 2281 1,154 1,660 38,452
Accumulated depreciationand T EREE
impairment (664) (27062) (2,210 (830) (1,527) (32,293)
Net carrying amount REE 3,529 2,102 7 324 133 6,159
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% - BERRE (&)

(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Over term of lease
10% to 20%

20% to 30%

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20%
20% to 30%

Buildings

Production machinery
Office equipment
Leasehold improvement

Vehicles

The carrying amount of vehicles held under lease
liabilities was approximate to HK$647,000 (2022: HKS$Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s buildings
with carrying amount of approximately HK$3,384,000
has been pledged for a borrowing raised by a related
company (Note 39).

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s buildings with
carrying amount of approximately HK$3,529,000 has
been pledged to secure the Group's bank overdraft and
borrowings (Note 29).

Impairment assessment

Following a review of the business, which takes into
account the deteriorating outlook for the textile industry
and the Group’s future business plan, management has
reassessed the carrying values for all the property, plant
and equipment as at 31 December 2023. An impairment
provision of HK$799,000 (2022: no impairment) has
been recorded to reduce the carrying value of the
Group's property, plant and equipment to their estimated
recoverable value, which is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and VIU.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

17.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Regarding the sewing thread industry business, the
Group has two CGUs, i) production line for polyester
threads ("CGU1"); and ii) production line for nylon
threads (“CGU2"). The recoverable amount of CGU was
determined at VIU and fair value less costs of disposal as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 respectively. VIU and fair
value less costs of disposal are categorised within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy and are measured based on
the independent valuer and latest available market data
sourced from an independent second-hand machinery
and equipment agent as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The recoverable amount of polyester threads and nylon
threads product line as at 31 December 2023 was
determined based on value in use calculation and based
on certain key assumptions. Value in use calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering a
four-year period (2022: five-year period), which is taking
into account the useful lives of plant and machinery. The
discount rate used for the value in use calculations is
at 10% (2022: 10.5%). Cash flow beyond the four year
period (2022: five year period) were extrapolated using
a 2.2% (2022: 6%) steady growth rate. This growth rate
was based on the relevant growth forecasts and does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant industry.

The recoverable amount of CGU1 and CGU2 are
HK$153,000 (2022: HK$3,044,000) and HK$183,000
(2022: HK$1,126,000) respectively as at 31 December
2023. The relevant assets were impaired to their
recoverable amount of HK$336,000, which is their
carrying values at the end of the reporting date and
the impairment of HK$799,000 (2022: Nil) has been
recognised in profit or loss within relevant functions to
which their assets relate during the year.

17.

M - BERRE (&)

MBIBREBENS ALEEWE
BeELEM  NKsREER(R
SELEEMN): RiEREGEER (R
SEEEN2) RZZTE_=ZFR_-ZF
—ZF+ZRA=+—H HReEES
A kEeEINRFERERK
AARERLEKNAEE - FHEMA
FAREREEXNTBEARALE
BRE=H BZERDIBERZ=-Z
Z=FRZEZZF+ZA=1+—8H
BBV _FHREBLZEREESD
B HEMERFAETS G

=
£ °

BB REEREESAR - -=
F+-_A=+-— EIE’J—M&Z@ IR
BEEFEABEFEZRETEERS
MAT - FHREBAFTEFEZEBMNU
AEBEEEEMLARENFHE (=
T F: ﬁﬁﬁwzmﬁﬁ 4 5
EM B R=EA TiAkKE
MEZFEFRED  FREEANE
EERMNBEEAEI0% (ZE =
F:105%) - BBEFH( ==
F RAFH)ZRERETNIK2.2% (=
T F 6% B EHREESL -
ZEEREDENREBEERERERN I
THBHEBITEMNFEHYRBAERE -

RZZEZ_=F+=-A=+—H H=
EXBEMIRBRESEELEEM20T K
O 4 %855l A153,0008 T(ZE ==
% 13,044,000 Jv) %183,0007% It
(ZZT = — 4 :1,126,000% 7r) ~ #8 F8
EEBREZEZEE £ %336,000
BLT(AERREBLERNETE)
B 1E799,0007% 7T (2022F : ) B ¥
FRNEEEEMBRENESPRE

=7
am
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

N

e R RN (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REYHE

2023 2022
—E- =5 —_E-—

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 1 January ®n—H—A8 4,361
Fair value (losses) gains ANABEEE) K& 139
At 31 December R+—_A=+— 4,500

The Group leases out offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The lease typically run for an
initial period of two years (2022: two years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies
of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

The Group's investment property is situated in Hong
Kong under medium-term lease.

The fair value of the Company’s investment property at
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 has been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by the
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the management has
(i) verified all major inputs to the independent valuation
report; (ii) assessed property valuations movements
when compared to the prior year valuation report; and (iii)
held discussion with the independent qualified valuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3
fair value hierarchy.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The fair value of the owned properties was determined
based on the market comparison approach by reference
to historical sales price of comparable properties on
a price per square foot basis using market data which
is publicly available. The valuations take into account
the characteristic of the investment properties which
included the size, floor level, year of transaction and
other factors collectively. The fair value measurements
are positively correlated to the discount on characteristic
of the property.

A slight increase in the market unit rate used would
result in a significant increase in fair value. If the market
unit rate was 5% higher/lower while all other variables
were held constant, the carrying amount would increase/
decrease by HK$210,000/HK$230,000 (2022: increase/
decrease by HK$200,000/HK$200,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’'s investment
properties with carrying amounts of HK$4,300,000 have
been pledged to secure a loan from a related Company
(Note 39).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment
properties with carrying amounts of HK$4,500,000 have
been pledged to secure the Group's bank overdraft and
bank borrowings (Note 29).

18.

REWE (&)

RAREAESERE=ZQRIAER
A o

il

HE_ZT-_=Z#R-_FT-__F+-A
“t+—HLEFE TESEASXELE
=& -

BEMENRFEDIRETS LR
o 2EALBYMENELEE (K
BYTREBREB)YERAARAR
MMEBBEETE  FEEZETRE

MENFH BRULE - KD
mREF BE XZEOHMEMEA

- oREFEEFERMEFIANL
e -

FTAMBEESEMEMEERIR
B A 18 5 h0 - % T 35 ““Fi*iju/»at
LB% - MATEEMESRBEFTTE
Bl BR ™ 1B A5 & R 9210,000,5
JL,/230,000/8 L (ZFE = — 4 - #~
B 4°200,0007% 7T 200,000 7T) °

NZTE-_=F+-A=+—8 &&
8% M 8 54,300,000 THI IR E Y
¥XEER EARE—BEHREATN
B A & IR (FF 3E39) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

re IS R M R (88)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 1 January
Additions
Depreciation charges
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December

Expense relating to short-term leases
(Note)

Total cash outflow for leases

Additions to right-of-use assets

Note:

In addition to the portfolio of short-term leases for office which are
regularly entered into by the Group, the Group entered into several
short-term leases for office during the year ended 31 December 2023.
As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding lease commitments relating

19. FREEE
2023 2022
—_E_=5F =
Total Total
4 5t Fas
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FH&ET
wn—HA—H 951 3,383
NE 1,814 .
WEXH (1,348) (2,255)
P& 5 58 & (32) (177)
W+=-—HA=+-—8H 1,385 951
FREHEENRX

(K1 a£) 208
HERRLARE 3,136
FRHEEEARE —

3
BAEETHIYOBASEHAEMES M -

AEEARBE_FT_=Ft+t_HA=t-HL#HF
BEAIYETHLAERHEE R -_=F
TZA=T—R FHZERIAENHNAREER

to these office is HK$921,000 (2022: Nil).

The Group leases out various offices under operating
leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically
run for an initial period of two years (2022: two years).
Other equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months
or less and/or is individually of low value. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines

the period for which the contract is enforceable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B ERRNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

20. GOODWILL 20. BHE
HK$'000
FET
Cost 29N
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 RZZE-__F—HA—H"
and 31 December 2023 T F+-_A=+—H8BRK
R =%+=ZHA=+—H 18,786
Impairment wAE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F—HF—H8 -
and 31 December 2023 T F+ZA=+—HK
—E-=%+=ZHA=+—H (12,103)
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=+=-HA=+-—H 6,683
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF#+=RA=+—H 6,683

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash generating units that are
expected to benefit from that business combination. The
carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated to the

cash generating units as follows:

Operation of interior design and
decoration business

E%ﬁAﬁ¢% MEETRER

DELTERRZETEHAZEN
ReEABEV BENEEREED
Bl IRe EEEMN BBT:

2023 2022
—EB-=fF —_F_-—
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT FET
BT 0 £
EBHKE 6,683
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

214

20. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill
Interior design and decoration

On 9 February 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the
equity interests in DML at a total consideration of
approximately HK$25,628,000. Management considered
that the DML Group represents a separate CGU for the
purpose of impairment testing. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group recognised an impairment
loss of approximately HK$12,103,000 in relation to
goodwill allocated to the DML Group for impairment
testing purpose. The goodwill arising from the acquisition
of the DML Group represented the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's interest in the provisional fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the DML
Group.

In connection with the acquisition of DML Group,
67,441,860 consideration shares were transferred at the
issue price of HK$0.215 each were issued and allotted
to the vendors to acquire the 100% equity interest in
DML Group. The difference between (i) the grant date
fair value of the consideration shares for the acquisition
of DML Group as determined based on the closing
price of HK$0.38 per share of the Company on the
completion date and (ii) the issue price of HK$0.215 per
consideration share pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement for the acquisition of DML Group, has
resulted in unexpected increase in the total consideration
transferred for acquisition of DML Group from
approximately HK$14,500,000, being the consideration
as stipulated in sale and purchase agreement for
the acquisition of the DML Group, to approximately
HK$25,628,000, being the fair value of the consideration
having been transferred.

In accordance with HKFRS 3 Business combinations
issued by the HKICPA, the cost of this business
combination was determined using the fair values at the
date of the business combination of these instruments
issued by the Group. The Group has performed an
impairment assessment on the carrying amount of the
CGU (including goodwill) based on VIU calculations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

20.

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Interior design and decoration (Continued)

Management expected the operation scale of the CGU
after the acquisition would be further expanded by
incorporating the resources of the Group. However, such
expectations are not incorporated as assumptions in
preparing the cash flow forecasts for impairment testing
purpose as they are not clearly supported and therefore
not included in the VIU calculations. Since the carrying
amount of the CGU (including goodwill) is significantly
above its recoverable amount, the Group impaired the
amount of goodwill of approximately HK$12,103,000 on
date of acquisition of the DML Group.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022,
goodwill is further tested for impairment for this CGU by
the management by estimating the recoverable amount
of the CGU based on value in use calculations. The Group
engaged an independent qualified valuer to perform the
valuation.

The key assumptions for the VIU calculations are those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected
changes to selling prices and direct costs during the
relevant periods. Management estimates discount
rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGU. The growth rates are based on the
estimates made by the management on the industry.
Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the
market.

20. & (&)

&R ERE (&)
EARFTREE (E)

EEEBAGFUBEARSELEEMNN
KEHEERBEAASEEERE
— SR AMm - ELBBHLEH®
BEARENEMAINFERE SR
EEAMNRE AABEBEEHLE
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BifEF BN RASELEEM(BRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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20. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Interior design and decoration (Continued)

The Group prepared cash flows forecasts derived
from the most recent financial budgets approved by
management for a five-year period. The CGU’s cashflows
beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady
3% (2022: 3%) growth rate. The financial budgets and
growth rates are estimated according to the stage of
operation with reference to the development curve of
the industry. The rate used to discount the forecast cash
flows for the CGU is 14.4% (2022: 15.3%).

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the
recoverable amounts of the DML Group calculated
based on VIU exceeded its carrying value. No further
impairment of goodwill was required. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not result in impairment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

21.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

21. BEREE

Licence
HK$'000
FHET
Cost 58S
At 1 January 2022 RN-_ZE-_—_F#—HF—H —
Acquired on acquisition of U B B R B B 1S (BY 7#£33)
a subsidiary (Note 33) 3,788
At 31 December 2022 and RZEZ—_F+_A=+—HBEK
31 December 2023 —EZ=F+=ZHA=+—H 3,788

Accumulated impairment R E
At 1 January 2022, 31 December
2022, 1 January 2023 and 31

December 2023

+=A=t+-8 -

N—_E-—_—_F—H—H -—Z—-—
o

A—_ZE_=f+-_A=+—H

=

Carrying amounts REE

At 31 December 2023 R=-ZB-_=F+=-H=+-—H

At 31 December 2022 RZTEZZ—F+=ZA=+—H 3,788
The licence represents the licence issued by Securities ZEREBFNPEEHERETE
and Futures Commission (“SFC"), which enable Hua Yu g((BEG)BEINER F4A5E

Investment Management Limited (“Hua Yu”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, to operate in advising
on securities (Type 4 regulated activity), advising on
corporate finance (Type 6 regulated activity) and assets
management (Type 9 regulated activity) activities in
Hong Kong, under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”). Under SFO, Hua Yu is required to
meet its relevant paid up share capital and liquid capital
requirements of the Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules issued by SFC.

PEMBRARERREEEERAA
([EBDAREBEEZEEZFLPEKRD
(BERBERHNDEFTBRERS
(FABRZHRERD) CERE(FS
BXRERPINEEER(FIER
RERDER REIFLHERK
Pl ERANAEEESHMNE
EHEEBRR)RNEERE R
AERBESHHRE
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21.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group would
renew the licence continuously and has the ability to
do so. As a result, the licence is considered by the
management of the Group as having an indefinite
useful life because it is expected to generate economic
benefit to the Group indefinitely. The licence will not be
amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite.
Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and
whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives with carrying amount of
approximately HK$3,788,000 (2022: HK$3,788,000),
within the provision of advising on securities, corporate
finance and asset management segments, is estimated
individually.

The recoverable amount of the licenses has been
determined based on the VIU calculation by reference
to valuation carried out by an independent qualified
valuer engaged by the Group. The calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a b-year period, and pre-tax
discount rate of 14.5% (2022: 13.0%). The financial
model assumes a terminal growth rate of 2.5% (2022:
2.5%) taking into account of inflation rate and other
relevant economic factors. The cash flow projections,
growth rates and discount rate have been assessed as
at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 taking into
consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties
in the current year due to volatility in financial markets,
including potential disruptions of the Group’s operations.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the
recoverable amounts of the licenses calculated based
on VIU is estimated to exceed its carrying amount. The
management of the Group determines that there is
no impairment is recognised on intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives. Management believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of the licenses to
exceed the recoverable amount.
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22.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

A subsidiary of the Group is holding quality stallions
and provide stallion services in Australia, and another
subsidiary of the Group is engaged in the rearing of
trading of bloodstocks, horse management services and
horse racing in Australia.

The quantity and value of stallions and bloodstocks
owned by the Group at the end of the reporting period
are shown below.

As at 31 December 2023
R=-ZB-_=F+=-H=+-—H
HK$’000

FE T

No. of horses

ENEE
Current assets REBEE
Bloodstocks wiiE 5
— Broodmares — &S
— Racehorse — 85
— Colt —NE
— Fillies — M
Total bloodstocks e S B
Non-current assets FREBEE
Stallions ;5
Total biological assets 4 & &E #1&

Bloodstocks represent thoroughbred broodmares, colts,
fillies and racing horses held primarily for trading purpose
and are classified as current assets.

Stallions represent adult male horses that have not been
castrated and are held for breeding purpose. The stallions
are classified as non-current assets as the Group has no
intention to sell these stallions in the foreseeable future.

22. £YEE

AEEN—KHBRRERMNESR
BEESYRHUBSERYE MAE
Bems— KK B QR R RN =
MESHNAENEE SCEBRRK

RBEHR AEBREENES R
MEEHEREEMT -

As at 31 December 2022
RZEZZF+=ZHA=+—8H

No. of horses HK$'000
S5MeE FET

22 9,800

6 10,207

46 22,792

8 2,608

82 45,407

10 11,386

92 56,793

MESREIZARFENMBFEAREN

E*EJ%\/J\/%\M/%&EI% ! %iﬁi\
RMEBEE -
BEEYABIERAREEEN ZK

FRE BEEESSHEAELRHE
E ARAEEEEAEANERLOR
REHEELES -
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" Forthe year ended 31 December 2023 B ZE_-F_=#{-H=+—

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

5 live foals (2022: 11) were born during the year and
there is no other output of biological assets during the
year (2022: Nil).

The movement in value of biological assets during the
reporting period were as follows:

Statements (Continued)

HIiFFE

22. £YEE(E)

FAREENERN(ZE-_F: 11
E)HAE BFRATEHEMAMEE
EH(ZZE_—F:8)-

BREHNEMEEBEEDS
T

L an

As at 31 December 2023
R-BE-=F+=-HA=+—H

Bloodstocks Stallions Total

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

F#& T F#& T F#& T

At 1 January n—HA—H 45,407 11,386 56,793

Increase due to natural B #A 12 0 o 55 hn
increase 2,026 — 2,026
Fair value changes NAEFE (9,003) (502) (9,505)
Decrease due to death & 3E T i R > (1,169) — (1,169)
Decrease due to sales 85 & ™Rk (27,487) (5,000) (32,487)
Exchange realignment b o PR (224) (20) (244)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 9,550 5,864 15,414
As at 31 December 2022
R-FZI L F T SAESL R

Bloodstocks Stallions Total

MWiE S 5 @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHE T FHET FHET

At 1 January ®n—H—H 10,512 7,059 17,571
Acquisition g9 38,825 7665 46,490

Increase due to natural ERASRITR:=pIl

increase 6,627 — 6,627
Fair value changes NAERAE (3,378) (1,136) (4,514)
Decrease due to death & br T R 4 (559) — (559)
Decrease due to sales & 85 & o 2 (5,996) (1,783) (7.779)
Exchange realignment ME H R (624) (419) (1,043)

At 31 December R+—A=+—8H 45,407 11,386 56,793
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22.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)
Financial risk management strategies

Biological assets are exposed to domestic, disease
and other nature risks. The Group engages an external
veterinarian hospital to provide professional veterinarian
services to the Group’s biological assets to minimise the
risk and take care on the health of horses. Depending
on the emergency, the veterinarian arrives at the farm
around 10-45 minutes, or delivery to veterinarian
hospital within 15-30 minutes. The biological insurance
coverage for 39 (2022: 82) bloodstocks and 7 stallions
(2022: 10) for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
approximately HK$20,358,000 and HK$9,141,000 (2022:
HK$46,529,000 and HK$12,820,000), which covered
213.2% (2022: 102.5%) of bloodstocks and 155.9%
(2022: 112.6%) of stallions book value respectively.
In the opinion of management, the above policies are
effective and sufficient against the financial risk arising
from bloodstocks and stallion. There is no restriction on
the title of bloodstocks owned by the Group and there
is no commitment for acquisition biological assets at the
end of reporting period. The management is regularly
reviewing the portfolio of biological assets to maximise
the return.

The fair value of the biological assets measured at the
reporting date on a recurring basis, categorised into
level 3 fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement. The level into which a classified fair
value measurement is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

22.

EMEE &)

Bt 7 /| B E B R B
EMEEEBRRE ABEMEMA
AR - AEBERFNBDERE B

ABAEBEENEERHBIEEER
i‘%'us—zﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬂ IE”EE
FEWRER BREES2EBR BB
KA E10-45%5 $E N B & ;—ziﬁ@i%
15300 ENEFIEREER - B =
TE =+ A=+—BILFEER
QUL (=F = —F : 82Ut ) 4 f& | A7
TEE(ZCE-—_F:10IM)EBELY
R FTA % 9 5l # A20,358,000
7 7T £19,141,0008 T(ZE = —

46, 529 0005% T 112,820,000/

) ARt ESMESREE
15213.2% (ZZT - —F:1025%) &
155.9% (Z T = — F:112.6%) > &
BEERE LB XBEHATNE

HEHBEEMESHRNMEER
AEEREBENERFLEERRS
BERARAFERBLEYEEN K
W ERETHRIEMEEMAS
NER Y E KA -

SR N SR
MEEMAAE PEAEBUE
BEERERRAABHENTE
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m -
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22.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

The qualification of valuer

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the
Group's bloodstocks were independently valued by Magic
Millions Sales Pty Limited (“Magic Millions”), which is
an Australia’s leading bloodstock sales company, a major
market place and key actor of the global horse economy.
The professional valuer in charge of this valuation
is Mr. Clint Donovan, Bloodstock Manager of Magic
Millions, who has appropriate qualification and relevant
experiences in various appraisal assignments involving
biological assets and has worked in the industry of
thoroughbred bloodstock and provides regular bloodstock
valuations in Australia. In addition, this valuation report
has been consulted with the following experts:

—  Barry Bowditch (Magic Millions' Managing Director)

— Dane Robinson (Magic Millions" Bloodstock Manager)

— James DAWSON (Magic Millions’ Bloodstock Consultant)

— Georgia Everingham (Magic Millions’ Bloodstock

Consultant)

—  Nicky WONG (Magic Millions" Bloodstock Consultant)

— James Hetherington (Magic Millions’ Bloodstock
Consultant)
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—  Barry Bowditch (Magic Millions
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— Dane Robinson (Magic Millions
B4 iE SR )

— James DAWSON (Magic Millions
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— Georgia Everingham (Magic
Millions B 4% 1 55 B )

—  Nicky WONG (Magic Millions #9
MEBBM)

— James Hetherington (Magic

Millions Ay 45 & 55 EA )



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

& B R R MY A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

22.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)
The qualification of valuer (Continued)

All experts are full time members of the bloodstock
department of Magic Millions and member of the
Federation of Bloodstock Agents Australia Limited. Magic
Millions through its experts, has conducted a number
of yearly stock valuations for major global and domestic
bloodstock entities.

The valuation methodologies adopted are consistent
with those described in accounting standards HKAS 41
Agriculture and HKFRS 13.

Based on the above qualification, history and various
experiences of Magic Millions, the Directors are of the
view that Magic Millions is competent to determine the
fair value of the Group’s bloodstocks and stallions.

Bloodstocks
Valuation methodology of bloodstocks

In the process of valuing the biological assets, Magic
Millions has taken into consideration the nature and
specialty of the above bloodstocks and considered
that the market approach would be appropriate and
reasonable in the valuation of the fair value less costs
to sell of the bloodstocks by making reference to the
requirement of HKAS 41 and HKFRS 13.

22. EYEE(E)

HEMBER (&)

Fr A & K #8 & Magic Millions #f &
EBHERAE - 28 KF &4

BEERIEABESHKE - Magic
MillionsEB @B EE X + 2 KM E K
EKE’JZ¥$§%f§E\\ TTZREE

BEME -

RANBEDZEEZB G LR
4155 2 ZEMEE I | S XA F13
A BETE R

£ # Magic Millions 8] F it & &
FEEMEZELS  EER A Magic
Millions BRE THEEAEBNATES
MESHARE-

MESNMEERE
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22.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)
Bloodstocks (Continued)

Valuation methodology of bloodstocks
(Continued)

The valuations are arrived at based on market approach
to estimate the fair market value of the biological assets.
In determining the fair market value, the valuer has had
regard to the price that a buyer could be reasonably
be expected to pay and a seller could reasonably be
expected to accept if the assets were exposed for sales
on the open market for a reasonable period of time with
both buyer and seller being in possession of the pertinent
facts and neither being under and compulsion to act.

Where available, publicly observable information has
been used to the maximum extent possible in deriving
valuations. In the absence of such information, or where
such observable information is believed not to derive a
fair value measurement at measurement date, the valuer
has adopted valuation techniques with inputs that valuer
believes are reasonably based.
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22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) 22. £YEE (&)

Bloodstocks (Continued)

Valuation methodology of bloodstocks
(Continued)

With respect to the valuation of horses, the valuer
adopted a stand-alone basis of valuation. In this regard,
each horse is valued having regard to the price that the
horse could be realised for at auction less the costs of
disposal. Such valuations are determined by considering
large number of qualitative and quantitative factors which
including:

1. The economic outlook in general and the condition
and outlook of the specific industry in particular.

2. The nature of the asset.

3. The earning capacity of an asset.

4. The residual value for breeding of an asset.

5. The age of the asset.

6. The market price of in the same or a similar line
of business having their stocks actively traded in a

free and open market.

74 Based on circumstances unique, additional factors
have been considered.

These factors vary for each valuation depending on the
unigue circumstances of the general economic conditions
that exist at the effective date of the valuation.

In the rare event that a market based value cannot
be derived, initial cost of acquisition may be used to
approximate fair value, particularly where the horse was
acquired within the past year.
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22.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)
Bloodstocks (Continued)

Valuation technique and major inputs
Breeding Stock

Valuation of broodmares takes into account the age of
the individual, its race record and if applicable its cover
status and its progeny record, both commercially and
on the track. Magic Millions watched as well the last
price it was sold for in the scenario the individual had
been exposed to a public market in recent years, and to
compare this profile to a similar profile that went through
public auction in the past year.

Weanlings and Foals

Valuation of weanlings and foals takes into account the
assessment of market trends, the depth of the pedigree
of the individual (i.e. the black type performances
through the female line), the race record and the age of
the first dam, and if applicable the progeny record of the
first dam as well as the stallion’s commercial trends.

Yearlings

Valuation of yearlings takes into account the assessment
of market trends, the depth of the pedigree of the
individual (i.e., the black type performances through the
female line), the race record and the age of the first dam,
and if applicable the progeny record of the first dam as
well as the stallion’'s commercial trends.

Racing Stock

Valuation of racing stock takes into account the
assessment of market trends, the race record of the
individual and if applicable his/her breeding residual
value. In the scenario the individual is still at a young
age and hasn’t been exposed to races or trials, Magic
Millions base their valuation on the public auction price
at the yearling stage, or an assessment of the value
the individual would have possibly made if he/she was
exposed to a public market at the yearling stage.
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22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) 22. £YEE (&)
Bloodstocks (Continued) AEE(E)
Valuation technique and major inputs (Continued) HERNREEZ@HASE (&)
Racing Stock (Continued) EEEE(E)

As the valuation results of bloodstocks are subjective
based on the experiences of Magic Millions and current
market conditions which are unable to be quantitatively
measured, accordingly, the Directors consider that no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

Stallions
Valuation methodology of stallions

The fair value of each stallions was individually
determined at the end of each reporting period based on
an income approach and used revenue projections based
on historical service fees income of the stallions and
also takes into account the stallion’s prior activity, his
age, his average live foal ratio, his progeny racetrack and
sales results. The Directors with reliance on the valuation
performed by an independent valuer covering a two to
three years period depending on the age of the stallions
to determine a value and pre-tax discount rate of 5.6%
per annum.

The shareholding applied to stallions of the Group range
from 2% to 33% (2022: 1% to 33%).

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on reasonably possible changes of the respective
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period,
while holding all other assumptions constant.

If the service fee is 10% higher or lower, the fair value of
the stallions would increase approximately AUD106,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$568,000) (2022:
approximately AUD142,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$756,000)) or decrease approximately AUD106,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$568,000) (2022:
approximately AUD142,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$756,000)) respectively.

i R & % Magic Millions B &8 % 1 &
AMEIFEFENTEHEMRIAE AR
EMHELERR2THN At &

EMRRRBERBGUERMED -
BEMAERZE
BrESNAREESEEAREH R
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BERANASEESOREN F2%E

33% (ZTZZF : 1% E33%) °
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EMBRBERADEEB(LEE -

MEBRBESRIENI0%  ES
B A B A5 1 0 49106,00058 st (48
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#9142,000}8 JjT(#8 & R #756,000
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22.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)
Stallions (Continued)
Valuation methodology of stallions (Continued)

If the useful live is increase or decrease by 1
year, the fair value of the stallions would increase
approximately AUD522,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,799,000) (2022: AUD583,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,103,000)) or decrease approximately
AUD488,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,617,000)
(2022: AUDB657,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,497,000)) respectively.

If the average live foal ratio is 10% higher or lower, the
fair value of the stallions would increase approximately
AUD106,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$568,000)
(2022: AUD142,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$756,000)) or decrease approximately AUD106,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$568,000) (2022:
AUD142,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$756,000))
respectively.

If the fertility percentage is 10% higher or lower, the
fair value of the stallions would increase approximately
AUD132,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$708,000)
(2022: AUD212,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,128,000)) or decrease approximately AUD132,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$708,000) (2022:
AUD212,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,128,000))
respectively.

If the discount rate is 10% higher or lower, the fair value
of the stallions would decrease approximately AUD8,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$43,000) (2022:
AUD9,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$48,000))
or increase approximately AUDS8,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$43,000) (2022: AUD9,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$48,000)) respectively.
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22. EYEE(E)

25 (E)
BEMERL%E

NMEFEAFHESRREMNT BS
B A St 1B # 12 0 49522,00002 7T (F8
BN 492,799,0008 T)(ZE = =
583,00002 JU(#8 & A #%3,103,000
7 JT)) 3 8 4 49488,00008 T (MR &
R #492,617,0007% ﬁ)(— T RS
657,0008 JT (48 & P £93,497,000/%8
JL)) °

MREEHESEHESRZEN10% -
BEMRREBEINE106,0008 T
(fHE M #568,0008 T (=T ==
142,0008 Tt (A8 & W #9756, ooo;‘%
7T)) 8k 8 4 #7106,00038 7T (FHE R4
568,000 L) (Z T = =& : 142,000
SR IT (FBE 7 49756,000 7T)) °

MRBEBEEBERFSRHERI0% ' &S
B A 5o fE 5 10 £9132,00008 st (F8
B R 4708,0000 T - T~ —

212,000)2 jT (18 & R #91,128, ooo;‘%
7T)) 8 R 2 #9132,00008 JT (& 7 4
708,000 T)(ZF = —F: 212,000
SR T (HHE R 491,128,0005 7T)) °

MEAE RS RAERI10% - BEHH
NS A 5 1E hn 498,000 T (M8 B R
#943,0007% 7T)(=Z &F = = % : 9,000
BT (A& 7 4948,0008 7T)) 8 R 4
#98,0008 jT (48 & M 4943, ooo;‘% L)
(ZEZZF:9000B T(HHERH
48,000 7T)) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z_-F - =#F1+_-H=+—HIFF e—~—
23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. RARBEFAEBRZEREE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
—E-=£ —_=E-—

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Financial assets at FVTPL: BEARBERABZZEMEE:

Unlisted equity investment, EARBEHENR EWRA
at fair value (note a) % & (Kfita) 60

Life insurance policy, at fair value BEAABHENSRRE

(note b) (M #b) 5,119
5,179

Notes: B &t -

(a)  The unlisted equity investment represented the Group's equity (a) FLETRAREREBAEER —HBERK
investment in a private entity established in Australia. During MERIZREERBOREAKRE - B
the year ended 31 December 2023, fair value losses on financial EFEZ_=ZHF+-A=+—-BLEE-
assets at FVTPL of HK$60,000 on the unlisted equity investment RARBEF ARG ZEREERERD
have been recognised in profit or loss. As at 31 December 2022, 60,0008 TE RNIEZHFHER - R=2F
the fair value of the investment is reference to the valuation —ZHf+-A=+—8 - BEKEZR
conducted by an independent qualified professional valuer based REDERALBLL2E —RBILE
on Level 3 hierarchy by using market approach. BREEHEMBREE-"SRBRFERTH

EE o

(b)  On 25 January 2016, the Group entered into a life insurance b) RZE-—ARF-—A=Z+HAB XEEHR
policy with an insurance company to insure an executive director. —EREBAFATLEBRRE  BA—FH
Under the policy, the Group is the beneficiary and the policy TEERR BERE AEEAREH
holder. The Group paid upfront premiums for the policy and may ARRBEFBEA - AEBEEMNRE -
surrender the policy any time by making a written request and HAERARREMBRERRR - KIB
receive cash based on the surrender value of the policy at the BEREARBEEHHRRSB(HER
date of withdrawal, which is calculated by the insurer. Opinion of AFTEIWEBES - ZE2FRE REXQ
the Directors, the surrender value of the policy provided by the ARENRERRESEHREAANEMES
insurance company is the best approximation of its fair value, THEEAAAEBRE=ZH  -SRRE
which is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The Kabl D ERIEAAE a‘l‘)\?ﬁﬁﬁZf‘EEﬂ
life insurance policy was mandatorily classified as a financial asset BE REAREANREREYLIIER
at fair value through profit or loss as its contractual cash flows are SR AEE RFB -
not solely payments of principal and interest.

In opinion of the Directors, the Group's life insurance policy would EXZRA AEEART=ZEAARNTE
not be surrendered within the next 12 months and was therefore RRARBBRE AHBEBERIERD
classified as a non-current asset. BE -
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N

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # =

24.

25.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

B 75 R R MY ()

—EF_=ZFf_A=F—HILFE

R #4
i
FX &h

24. ZE

2023
—EBo=fF
HK$°000

T T

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables:
Contract with customers
Less: Allowance for credit losses

EWR RS HKE:
BEPAHK
B EEBBRRE

Other receivables:

Other prepayments

Loans to a vendor

Deposits and other receivables

H At WK R
H b 8 1+ R
DRV SN
122 N B Al R IR

2023
—E==
Notes HK$'000
B it FE& T
(a)
1,678
(b) 1,400

19,291

Less: Allowance for credit losses

B EEBBRE

22,369

(10,194)

12,175

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts
with customers approximately to HK$16,027,000
net of allowance for credit losses of approximately

HK$1,375,000.
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2022
HK$'000
TAT

1,728
1,040
6,243

9,011

25. EWRSARERH M EWFIE

2022

HK$'000
TET

16,760

(758)

16,002

2,808

2,416
22,196

27420

(6,275)

21,145

R—ZE-_—_F—AF—H kEEFA
) H) FE I X 5 FRIA 49 /216,027,000/8
TTRIEEEERE#E 41,375,000 7T °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE ee——
=%
25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EWRSAREREEWFIE

(Continued) (&)

Notes: B &t -

a) An ageing analysis of the trade receivables net of allowance of a) RIBEMARERBEZAHEINGE B &
ECL as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice EONREUZXSRBEMNRESREES
date and net of loss allowance, is as follows: BEEORRE AT :

2022
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Within 1 month TR—@A 7,432
1 to 2 months —Z=mEA 2,881
2 to 3 months ME=EA 330
Over 3 months HBE=EA 6,117
16,760
Less: Allowance for credit losses BoEEEBERE (758)
16,002
As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's trade R—_E-_=%F+-_A=+—HB K&
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying EEBZSRELEAPEREDREY
amount of approximately HK$6,375,000 (2022: approximately 6,375,000/ 7C (=& = =4 : 48,821,000
HK$8,821,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. BITIMEWER  RBEBEEH -
Out of the past due balances, approximately HK$3,516,000 (2022: mE A B E P 43,516,000 L (= F
approximately HK$5,305,000) has been past due 90 days or more = Z 4 : 495,305,000 ) # HA90H sk
and is not considered as in default. The Directors are in the view NE - BEABRRAEN BEERR Z
that there have been no significant increase in credit risk nor REBANESZEREAE  FER
default based on the historical record and creditworthiness of the % Bk I8 49 R I A K IR KN o
debtors.

b) Loans to a vendor bear interest at rates 5.00% (2022: 5.00%) b) MEEFIEREE F5.00% (=T ==
per annum, secured by certain machineries of the vendor and F:5.00%) M F X5 8 UNEEEET
repayable in one year (2022: one year) with demand clause. 1‘%%%%1?7%}&#}" C W BRERERR —F

BB(ZE__F:—F)-
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables FE W X 5 K E fth 5K IEE’J‘}ESZTEﬁ (=
are set out in Note 36(b) to the consolidated financial statements. R ER G BT 15 R K M 5E36(b
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

26.

CONTRACT ASSETS

BREE

Contract assets
Less: Allowance for credit losses

B EEBBRRE

26. EHEE

2023 2022
—_E_=5F —_E- =

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

2,559

2,559

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's
retention receivables and unbilled revenue.

Retention receivables included in contract assets
represent the Group’s right to receive consideration
for work performed and conditional on the satisfaction
of the service quality by the customers over a certain
period as stipulated in the contracts. The contract assets
are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry
date of the period for the provision of assurance by the
Group on the service quality of the works performed by
the Group.

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents
the Group’s right to receive consideration for works
completed but not yet billed because the rights are
conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers on the
works completed by the Group. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional, which is typically at the time when the
Group obtains the certification of the completed works
from the customers or when the Group entitled to issue
invoices for the completed work to the customers.

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets
are set out in Note 36(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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ARFREFPRAARENSE THRER
HRBEEXRTIMEBRSAIEE -
EREENENKAERAERCAE
RASBERAKBEMETIROR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE ec—
27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27. BERkBREEEY
Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of meeting RELRBSEEYWUAREAEER
the Group's short term cash commitments. FRHR A -
Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following FFERSRBITEBRIDUNATER
currencies: wHE:
2023 2022
—E-=£f —_ET-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Denominated in — RMB NAREBEE 457
Denominated in — HK$ A TR E 769
Denominated in — AUD LURTTEE 940
2,166
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on ROTRSZBRESARTHERF X
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited HENEBHAEGE - RITEHKRTD
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. FREZRFETHERARLHED
$R1T °
Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are WRITEBRBRETEFBEIRNEE Y
set out in Note 36 to consolidated financial statements. % R & MY 3E36 o
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4R A

NN

" For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £

B 75 R R MY ()

—EF_=ZFf_A=F—HILFE

28. TRADE, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. XK EME[IRRAFMETTEH
2023 2022
—8g—-= —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
Trade payables ENXRENRE
— from third parties (Notes a & b) — REFEF=ZHAHE
(Hfatakb) 12,857 23,354
Other payables and accruals HitEARERESEA
Contract liabilities (Note c) aHEE N ) 161
Other payables and accruals HiENRERETER 8,602
Amounts due to directors (Note d) JEH%% X IE (K7 it d) 1,445
Total other payables and accruals HittEARER ES
ERAR 10,208

Notes:

a)

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of each
reporting period, based on the transaction date, is as follows:

B it -

a) REREPRR BNRXZHAERRS

Within 1 month —@A
1 to 2 months —ZmEA
2 to 3 months ME=EA

Over 3 months

B =18 A

HERREBESMMAT

2023 2022

—E-=HF T Javiail
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
3,691
1,334
883
17,446
23,354

The credit period in purchase of goods is generally from one to
three months.

As at 31 December 2022, included in trade payable is an amount
of approximately HK$9,876,000 in relation to acquisition of
biological assets. The credit period is 30 days. The past due
payables bears interest of 10% per annum. This payable has been
fully settled during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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b) RZEBZZF+-A=+—H0 ERFXR
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/\‘/—J_\

& MR R M (8

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

28. TRADE, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

c)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, approximately of
HK$161,000 (2022: approximately HK$3,287,000) of revenue
recognised related to carried-forward contract liabilities.

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$3,287,000.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Interior design and decoration

When the Group receives a deposit before the interior design and
decoration services, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the
start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant
contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

Sewing threads and garments

When the Group receives a deposit before the production activity
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of
a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract
exceeds the amount of the deposit.

At 31 December 2023, contract liabilities include (i) short-
term advance received to deliver sewing threads and garments
accessories; and (ii) upfront deposits from customers for interior
design and decoration approximately of HK$3,431,000 and
HK$701,000 respectively (2022: HK$28,000 and HK$133,000).

The significant increase (2022: decrease) in contract liabilities in
the current year was mainly due to certain number of contracts
with approximately of HK$4,133,000 were signed with customers
closed to the ended of the reporting date resulting an increase in
contract liabilities of HK$4,010,000.

28.

REREMEMRARMETEH
(%)

iz ()

c) BHE-_T-_=—_F+-_A=Z+—HLEE "
HEBSHNABRAMZERERREZNA
161,000 7T (= T = — 4 : #3,287,000
BT e

RZFZ_F—A—H 60NAER
3,287,000/ 7T ©

FEODHRBRANEESEN B RIE
R

ERREREE

BAEERNE AR REERSE AU
Rew HRRANHEBERELEANE
B EERERGOERANKDBEE
EEBEAIL-

BAKNRRE

SEREEFDHARNKRIIZEEF -
REVNREBELARNAGE HEE

AN
BHBBNEEBBRESER

*
# 15
AR A

F— & /tﬂi B

s

—E-=%+=-A=+-HB ' AHE
& B35 (i) ok 22 f5F 4% 4D 4% T AR 25 &kt i U
DHMEHBTRNKATRFHNEAR
ATREEHAHZRS HR143,431,000%8
7 %701,0005% 7T (= F = = 4 : 28,000
7 7T 133,000 7T ) °

AEEEHABERNBEN(ZE=Z
B EEHERARBREPRERITAR
FETEMEXN4133,0008 THAEY &
WA KB FE L N4,010,000 5T °

gassERERAT /20238 23D



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ_F_-=F+ A=+ —HIFEF

28. TRADE, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. XZKHMENKRAMETEH

(Continued) (&)
Notes: (Continued) Htat: (&)
c) (Continued) c) (&)
The following table shows the revenue recognised in the current TRIRTAFERANELEANAR
year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and the amount HEHBRAAREMABTHREOR K
related to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior HEN e
periods:
Manufacture
Interior and selling
design and of sewing
decoration threads
TARGTRENE BIREERHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FHET

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-_=%+=-A=+-—H

ILEE
Revenue recognised that was included REMNFAEGHNEBELEHD
in the contract liability balance at the B R =

beginning of the year

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-—ZT-_—Ff+=-A=+—AH

IHEE
Revenue recognised that was included RENFAENEBELEHT
in the contract liability balance at the B R =
beginning of the year 2,950 337
d) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on d) ZEREREER 2EREARERE
demand. 8o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE e~——
29. BORROWINGS 29.f&
2023 2022
—E-= —_F-—
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i TER FHET
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — EIEA (a) 1,973 —
Bank loans — secured RITER — BIEA (a) 807
Bank overdrafts — secured RITES — HHEF (a) 4,972
Loan from shareholders — unsecured MR E 7 — &K # (b) 15,500
Loan from a related company RE—MBAERRHER
— unsecured — EmER () —
Other borrowings — secured Hinfgs-HHE A (d) 10,792
32,071
Loans from shareholders and
a related company and
Bank loans and overdrafts other borrowings
RERER-HEBREARAN
BTEFREX EXRHMER
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC-= —E-- —EC-= - S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER THET
The carrying amounts of the above ARNTHRER
borrowings are repayable* 8 bt e R
EEE"
— Within one year —— &R
The carrying amounts of above MBERERE
borrowings that contain a repayment BEXRARD
on demand clause (shown under BEBTIR)
current liabilities) but repayable: BARNKTH
PR {8 32 #0 8 5%
HEEE:
— Within one year —— %R
— Within a period of more than one —SR—F@
year but not exceeding two TERM
year FHER
Total borrowings shown under REBABETS
current liabilities THERESE 31,472
& The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set * B B SR IA T0 AR B8 B K W 3 AT EL AT B8 K
out in the loan agreements. HEAtE -
eBERERERAR /202355% 237
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_ For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

29. BORROWINGS (Continued) 29.186%
Notes: Bt aF -
(a) Bank loans and bank overdrafts (a)

The bank loans and bank overdrafts are at floating interest rates
that are market dependent and the carrying amounts approximate
the fair values. The range of interest rates for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Bank loan, unsecured RITE R - |8
Bank loans, secured RITER - BEA
Bank overdrafts, secured RITEX  BHEMF

All the interest-bearing bank borrowings were repayable on
demand as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The effective interest rates on the Group’s bank borrowings as at
31 December 2023 ranged is 3.85% per annum (2022: 2.75% to
7.38% per annum).
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BREAE HEEERQAAEMRE °
BHE-_ZT-_=F+=ZA=+—RHEKZ=%
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BT

2023 2022
—EBEC-=F Bt iy

LPR+0.3% =
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

29. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

Bank loans and bank overdrafts (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the end of reporting period, the
summary of assets pledged and guaranteed borrowings are as
follows:

The bank borrowings are secured by:
(i) Personal guarantees provided by a director of a subsidiary;

(ii) The Company’s building with carrying amount of
approximately HK$3,529,000;

(iii) The Company’s investment properties with carrying
amount of approximately HK$4,500,000; and

(iv) Charge of deposits made by a director of the Company as
determined by the bank from time to time.

HK Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause issued by the HKICPA requires
that a loan which includes a clause that gives the lender the
unconditional right to call in the loan at any time (“repayment on
demand clause”) shall be classified in total by the borrower as
current in the statement of financial position.

As at 31 December 2022, interest-bearing bank borrowings of
the Group in the amount of HK$4,972,000 include a repayment
on demand clause under the relevant loan agreements, have
been classified as current liabilities. For the purpose of the above
analysis, such loans are included within current secured bank
borrowings and analysed into bank borrowings repayable on
demand.

29.18 F

R (%)

Hrat - (&)

(a)

RITERRBITE(HF)

RZZEZZF+=ZA=+—8 R
WA ARAMEREERERE
T

HE
MR

RITERNOERTRAR
(i) MEBARERRMAMNMBEAER:

(il ARAMBREY BEEEOR
3,629,000/ 7T :

(i) ARAFHREME BHEOR
4,500,000 7T+ &2

(ivi BARRERELZEFERFL
HRTTHET -

M ARRMNBTLERBFELR
WﬁﬁiZz%——F*ﬁﬂﬁﬁéf
BEREERAEHEXZDERE
%ﬁ ARUBHARRAKEBERTE

RO BREGHERZREEERNKE
%UEE?EﬁﬁﬂDZE BmEHE
RETH -

RZEZZ=ZF+=ZA=+—H REH
BERH# RESREREEERNAE
%lﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ4wzwm%io%

MAOMME  ZEERGFTARNBAR
?@fETThEI K I%*ﬁﬁa\&x;ﬁ%}&m
SRITHR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

29. BORROWINGS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b) Loan from shareholders

The Group entered into two loan agreements with two
shareholders respectively (“Loan agreement A & B") as follow:

29. B (&)
Htat: (&)
(b)  BREEK
A5 E 5

AW ABRERETLAT MO

R ((ERBHEARB) ¢

Loan agreement A

Loan agreement B

BRI HA BRI EB

(Note (a)) (Note (b))

(Bff 3£ (a) (Bff 3£ (b))

Agreement date 1 &% B B 13 May 2022 17 November 2022

Facilities — Maximum amount

ME—H&E=E®

TR A+=AH
HK$12,000,000
12,000,000/ 7T

—EBE-—_f+—A++H
HK$8,000,000 (Note (b))
8,000,000 7t (M 7% (b))

Terms B BR 1 year 1 year
14F 14
Interest rate F & Interest-free (Note (a)) 10%
& 8. (1 i (a)

Amount of drawdown RAELHE

— 13 May 2022 ——E-_—_#F#RA+=AH HK$12,000,000 —
12,000,000 7T

— 17 November 2022 ——ZT=-=F+—A++AH — HK$1,000,000
1,000,000/ 7T
— 28 November 2022 — T+ —HA=-+N\HRH - HK$1,000,000
1,000,000/ 7T
— 20 December 2022 -+ A=+H — HK$1,500,000
1,500,000 7T
— 5 February 2023 ——ZT-_=%—-AHFAH — HK$500,000
500,0007% 7T
— 29 May 2023 — ZE-=fFEA=-t+AAH = HK$500,000
500,000/ 7T
— 7 October 2023 ——_ZT-_=%#+A+tH — HK$100,000
100,000 7T
— 27 November 2023 ——ZF-=f+—A=++tH — HK$200,000
200,0007% 7T
— 22 December 2023 ——ZE=-=F+=-A=+=H — HK$100,000
100,000 7T
— 27 December 2023 ——E-_=F+-A=-++tH — HK$380,000
380,0007% 7T

Amount of repayment BESE
— 31 December 2023 — —ZZE_=Ff+=ZA=+— (12,000,000) —
Outstanding balance as at 31 RZEZ=F+=A=+—H HKS$Nil HK$5,280,000
December 2023 REERRE THE T 5,280,000 JT
Maximum outstanding balance FAREENTHRTE HK$12,000,000 HK$5,280,000

during the year

12,000,0007% 7T

5,280,000/ 7T
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29. BORROWINGS (Continued) 29. 185 (&)
Notes: (Continued) Kiat: (&)
(b)  Loan from shareholders (Continued) (b) BEERHE)

(a) On 12 May 2023, the Group enter into a supplementary (a) = BV
agreement with the shareholder to extend the Loan FOBEX
agreement A to 1 August 2023 with interest free and A—B %
repayable on demand. On 1 August 2023, the Group AN
enter into the second supplementary agreement with =N - v
the shareholder to extend the Loan agreement A to 31 E_hErHE BERBEA
December 2023 with an extension fee of HK$500,000 and EREZFEZ_=F+=ZA=+—
interest of 256% per annum. The Group fully settled the A - Lﬁﬁgﬁﬁi%o ,0007%8 7T if 1%
principle amount of the loan of HK$12,000,000 together FEREB%IE c AEEA T
with the extension fee and interest of HK$1,750,000 on 31 7¢+ A=+—BEHKEE
December 2023. B 7K 4 $812,000,0005% 7T & [/

E%§&ﬂ51mowo%ﬁo

(b) On 17 February 2023, the Group entered into a (b) RZEZ=F-A+tA KxEH
supplementary agreement with the shareholder to increase HERRITUARHE  BERR
the loan facilities amount for Loan agreement B from EBNERBRESHE EE8,000,000
HK$8,000,000 to HK$15,000,000. & 7T 1% 11 215,000,000 7T ©
On 17 November 2023, the Group entered into the second RZEZ=F+—A+tR8 K&
agreement with the shareholder to extend the Loan BHEBRRITLE—_GOH#E BE
agreement B to 15 November 2024 with interest of 10% RBpEBLERE-_T_ME+—A
per annum. +EAB  RFFEI0%EE °

All borrowings from shareholders are unsecured and denominated FERREESRERPRAETFE -

in HKS.

(c) Loan from a related company (c) RE—MEEARMNER

The Group entered into a loan agreement with a related company AEBE-—BBEERARTLIUTERR

(“Loan agreement C") as follow: H(ERB=EC) -

Loan agreement C

BEXRHEC

Agreement date &% B 5 31 May 2023
—E-=fRAA=+—H

Facilities — Maximum amount ME—&ae# HK$6,000,000
6,000,000 7T

Terms HA PR 1 year
16

Interest rate F = Interest-free

Amount of drawdown RALB

— 31 May 2023 ——F=-=FAA=+—8H HK$5,779,000

5,779,000/ 7T

Amount of repayment BEREE

— 13 June 2023 —Z—ZE=-=FXA+=H (HK$30,000)

(30,0007 7t)

— 23 June 2023 — T =F~A=+=H (HK$200,000)
(200,000 7T)

— 16 September 2023 ——ZET-_=FAA+AH (HK$60,000)
(60,0007 7T)

— 21 December 2023 ——ZF-=%+Z-RA=+—H (HK$389,000)
(389,000 7T)

— 31 December 2023 — - =%#+-HA=+—H (HK$54,000)
(54,0007 7T)

Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2023 R-ZZE-_=F+-A=+—HKEE HK$5,046,000
B #4 78 5,046,000 7T

Maximum outstanding balance during the year FAKREENZ=HE HK$5,779,000
5,779,0007% 7T

AEER R

Loan from a related company is unsecured and denominated in RKE—BHEERARMNER

HKS. BILETE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

29. BORROWINGS (Continued) 29. &K (#&)
Notes: (Continued) HtaE - (48)
(d) Other borrowings (d) H b {8 5K
The Group entered into three loan agreements with independent AEBEBYUFE=ZFITLUT=ZMERK
third parties (“Loan agreement D, E & F") as follows: HwE ((ERHED - ERF)) :
Loan agreement D Loan agreement E Loan agreement F
EXHED EXWEE ERHEF
Agreement date BEAE 30 June 2022 13 September 2022 27 December 2023
ZE-ZFRXAZtH  ZEZZHNATZH ZEZ=ZFTZAZttH
Facilities — Maximum amount BE-—GReE HK$15,000,000 HK$3,292,000 HK$14,500,000
15,000,0007% T 3,292,000/ T 14,500,000/ T
Terms BR 1 year 1 year 1 year
15 15 15
Interest rate % 24% 10% 12%
Amount of drawdown RERLE
— 30 June 2022 —ZE-_%XA=1H HK$15,000,000 — —
15,000,0007% 7T
— 13 September 2022 —ZZ--FNAt=H — HK$3,292,000 —
3,292,000 T
— 27 December 2023 —Z%Z=f+ZA=++H — — HK$12,000,000
12,000,000/ 7T
Amount of repayment BN e HE
— 23 June 2023 —-= Z#XA=-t+=H = (HK$1,646,000) by
(1,646,000 7t)
— 29 June 2023 —ZZ-ZFfXA=thA (HK$7500,000) s =
(7500,0003% 7T)
Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2023 WZZ-=%+-A=t+-H HK$7500,000 HK$1,646,000 HK$12,000,000
AEENHBE 7500,0007% 7T 1,646,0007% 7T 12,000,000 Tt
Maximum outstanding balance during the year ~£AKREEHNFSHE HK$15,000,000 HK$3,292,000 HK$12,000,000
15,000,0007 7T 3,292,000/ 1T 12,000,000/ T
The Loan agreement D was matured on 29 June 2023, the EXBEDER=ZZ-_=F~A=1+n1
Company repaid approximately HK$7,500,000 to the lender and BE M AQABERZ-ZZFE-_MEFX
the Company entered into a supplementary agreement with the “tThEBERERABEEHL7,500,000ET
lender on 29 June 2023 to extend the outstanding borrowings MARRBERZZEZ=ZF~A=+NAH
of approximately HK$7,500,000 to 29 June 2024. The loan is HBERATUHEHEUALTER KEERE
secured by all bloodstocks and with interest of 24% per annum. FK#97,500,0008 7T c ZERAFTB 4L TE
BRI L IR F R E24%5 S o
The Loan agreement E was matured on 12 September 2023, BEXRBHBREER=Z=_=FLAT=HE
the Company repaid approximately HK$1,646,000 to the lender H - ARRIERERAMEEL1,646,000
and the Company entered into a supplementary agreement with B MARARZZEZ_=FLA+=
the lender on 12 September 2023 to extend the outstanding BEERAFTIHEHBBUERRER
borrowings of approximately HK$1,646,000 to 12 September &3 491,646,0008 L2 =T =-_WF N A
2024. The loan is secured by a stallion and with interest of 10% TZA - ZERA-—CEFEERILIZ
per annum. FERFRI0%ETE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

29. BORROWINGS (Continued) 29.fE R (&)

Notes: (Continued) HiaE: (&)

(d)  Other borrowings (Continued) (d) HihExE)

At 31 December 2023, the Loan agreement D are secured by all RZFE=-Z=F+=-A=+—HB BX®H
bloodstocks with carrying amount of approximately HK$7,550,000 # DM AR 18 497,550,000 7T /Y Fﬁﬁﬂ
and Loan agreement E are secured by a stallion with carrying BEEER MERXRBZEAREDELD
amount of approximately HK$3,990,000. 3,990,000 T /) — L 78 BB E K 4R -

At 31 December 2022, the Loan agreement D are secured RZBEZZF+ZA=+—H BEX®H
by all bloodstocks with carrying amount of approximately DA BR T {E 940,616,000/ T W AT A
HK$40,616,000 and Loan agreement E are secured by a stallion MREESERTE MERBZEAEREE
with carrying amount of approximately HK$3,992,000. 493,992,000/ jLHy — L 78 5 {E K 3 -
The Loan agreement F are secured by directors’ personal ERBHEFAESFEALZRELER -
guarantees.

All borrowings are denominated in HK$. FERBEHNBITEE -

(e) The management believe that the unutilised facilities from Loan (e) EEERAE EXWEB CERFHADH
agreement B, C & F amounted to approximately HK$9,720,000 AR & 5 549,720,000/ JT + 954,000
HK$954,000 and HK$2,500,000, respectively can be drawn at any 7 7T 52,500,000 JT A AR ¥ 1% % R 5K
time in according to the terms of the agreements for supporting BERFIREL UM BAEEMNEE
the Group's operation.

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HEESE

Lease liabilities payable: ENHERE:

2023 2022

—=E-= —_=F_

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FHET

Within one year —F R 1,046 1,197

Within a period of more than one year ZR—FETNEZRME

but not exceeding two years MR 896 —

As at 31 December R+=-—A=+—8H 1,942 1,197
Less: Amount due for settlement within  J& : 128 AR B Bi 45 &
12 months shown under current WRIE - JARB AR

liabilities (1,046) (1,197)

Amount due for settlement after 12
months shown under non-current
liabilities

K12 A& 2 BEEN
KB JRERBAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

30.

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 30. HESE(E)
Lease liabilities payable: (Continued) EAEEAE: (F)
The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities ARIBEREM B RS EAFE6
recognised under HKFRS 16 ranged from 6.49% to 7.41% b 1‘:@ MEHEBGEZEEERIEX
per annum (2022: 4.75% to 8.80% per annum). NFEFCAI% ETMN%(ZF = =
F:HF475%%E8.80%) °

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies LRBEEEES 2 ’ﬁ—: LA SN HY
other than the functional currencies of the relevant group EEAENREEZRNOT
entities are set out below:

HK$'000

FAET

As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=ZH=+—8H —
As at 31 December 2022 RZEBEZZH+=ZHA=+—H 796

The Group as a lessor

The Group subleases certain building in the PRC and
lease it investment property in Hong Kong under an
operating lease arrangement, of which the remaining
lease term is two years from 31 December 2023
(2022: two vyears). The terms of the lease generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide
for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was HK$691,000 (2022:
HK$1,239,000), details of which are included in Note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under operating
lease with its tenant are as follows:

Within one year —FR
Within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years

HE A

SR —FBT SR

AEEEREEA

AEBERBELEHELRKEEFRRS
HETEFREEEHEEREY
¥ SHrEBEE _ZET-_=F+_A4
=+ —HRBFAMRFE(ZE__F: W
F) - HEBKZFR—REXKBALIMNR
FoEBREBESEFMATHAREAS -

AEBRFAER BB AR
691,000/%71:(_222 11,239,000
B FBREREETEREW T
7 o

R-ZE-_=F+-A=+—H ' &&
ERARPEABELEHERER

FRERMKRBRBEERBUOT
2023 2022
—E_=F BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
T % T FET
279 950
84 216
1,166
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

31.

32.

SHARE CAPITAL 31. [
Number of shares Amount
RAEE 8
Ordinary shares HK$'000
EER TER
Authorised: EE.
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and W-E--f-B-B -—E--%#+-FH
31 December 2023 at HK0.05 each =+-BR-B-=&+-f=+-F"
Fi%0.05% T 1,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: E?%ﬁ&ﬂiﬂ
t 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 RZBZZ4-A-A ZF-ZE+ZH
and 31 December 2023 Z+-BR-Z-=F+ZB=1-H 409,141,860 20,457

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the Scheme include the Directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other
employees of the Group, suppliers of goods or services
to the Group, customers of the Group and the Company's
shareholders in the Company’'s subsidiaries. The Scheme
became effective on 24 November 2017 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from that date.

On 8 February 2023, the Company resolved to adopt
the new share option scheme (“New Share Option
Scheme”) and the termination of Old Share Option
Scheme. The Directors considered that the adoption of
the New Share Option Scheme, which will be valid for 10
years from the adoption date, will provide the Company
more flexibility in long term planning of granting of
the options to eligible participants and also provide
appropriate incentives or rewards to suitable and eligible
persons for their contributions or potential contributions
to the Group. There was no any share options had been
granted from the adoption date and up to the ended of
the reporting date.

32. LESGSENROXERS

ARmREBRESES(EBRER
Bl AARAKEEBAMFELE
BmaimsuaERft LRS-
AECAER2EERRER (B
BYUFATES) AKEHEMES -
MAREREHEMIRBHHER -
AEBEPRARRRARANE R
AIHRER - BN -_T—tF+—H
T EBAER - RIFESTTEHEIER
BRAAEBEZEES TFARABRK
B -

RZF_=ZF_ANHB  ARARZE
Ranxh B RT & (s REST &)
YRIEEBRESE -EFRR
R EBER 8 (B R A AE MRS
NEABBRRARARHKERNE
BUENRERIMAERSEER
HERE THEeERAERALY
AEBELENERMSKELEF BRI K
FRUEEZEABMA D RER - B K
MEREERERL  SERLEM
FERHE -
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32.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION (Continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time unless the Company obtains approval
from its shareholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules and
must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant
in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit
is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 7 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option shall be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion and in any event, such period shall
not be longer than 10 years from the date upon which
any particular option is granted in accordance with the
New Share Option Scheme.

The subscription price shall be determined solely by the
Directors, but may not be less than the highest of: (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange'’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share on the date of offer.

The Company, by resolution in a general meeting or the
Directors may at any time terminate the operation of the
New Share Option Scheme and in such event no further
options of the Scheme will be offered but those options
granted prior to such termination shall continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with the previous
provisions of the New Share Option Scheme.
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BRIERRAMNBREARGLESER
R R HETIER ARG
AeMmEMmER BRREARER
BREFIRHZESHARTER
BEESEHEEREETERGEAR
TET—JEwFEJEE’fﬂHQT’ﬁZTO% ERR
CEBTKEHITRNDELE Z30% -
EEﬂ+fﬂﬂ%ﬁW R % (7 &% &1
HBUAER2AERLINERE
MATFETHNRSROEE - HUK
ARMEMEFEDETROMI%SR -
%Eﬁﬁﬁﬁtt@ﬁm%%%
AIBABSERRNERRAS L E -

REFHZEREIRREZAHE
AAERAESR MARAZAXNAEH
TETTZEBARE -REBREAR
EMBEOcHEREZTS2RBGE
RE - BREMFMBRT  ZHEAT
CHBREFTBREAERLEM
BRI AR R+ F -

REBEEEAREF2RET ETF
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32.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION (Continued)

On 13 May 2021, the Company resolved to grant
3,500,000 share options (“Share Option A”) under
the Old Share Option Scheme to Mr. Ma, an executive
Director, to subscribe for up to 3,500,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the Company,
subject to acceptance of Mr. Ma.

As at 31 May 2021, the Company has 355,441,860
shares in issue. The total of 3,500,000 shares to be
subscribed under the Share Options A granted represent
approximately 0.98% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 13 May 2021 and approximately 0.98%
of the enlarged issued share capital of the Company
assuming full exercise of the Share Options A.

On 3 January 2022, the Company resolved to grant
4,091,418 share options (“Share Option B"”) under the
Old Share Option Scheme to Mr. McGrath, an executive
Director, to subscribe for up to 4,091,418 ordinary shares
of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the Company,
subject to acceptance of Mr. McGrath.

As at 3 January 2022, the Company has 409,141,860
shares in issue. The total of 4,091,418 shares to be
subscribed under the Share Options B granted represent
approximately 1.00% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 3 January 2022 and approximately 0.99%
of the enlarged issued share capital of the Company
assuming full exercise of the Share Options B.

On 31 August 2022, the Company resolved to grant
4,000,000 share options and 4,000,000 share options
(collectively “Share Option C”) under the Old Share
Option Scheme to Mr. Leung and Mr. Ma, two executive
directors respectively, to subscribe for up to 4,000,000
and 4,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each in the
share capital of the Company respectively, subject to
acceptance of Mr. Leung and Mr. Ma.

32. UESSENROINARE (F&)

RZE-_—FHEA+=H'ARAF
EABRBEEEREFISRANTES
%ﬁi#tﬁ%ooooof‘ﬁ%k%(fﬂ%
BEAD URBARIBRAF RS
3,5600,000% & % M {50.05/% T Ay &
B HEASEEEERNE HAIE

it

o

\;

o) %

:%:—¢£HE+—E-$Q
A © % 77355,441,8600% X 7 °
REEBREABRTETRENG &
3,500,000 i D HE R A QA K=
E_—FRAT=AHNEBTRAEALD
0.98% M AR F A& B KB B 1T’
7N 490.98% (i &% 5 IR 78 A & 7B 81T
f#) o

R—ZE-_—_F—A=H" &2
RIBBEEBRES E M H T é%ﬁ
McGrathéai?* Hj4 091,41817 & A% #&
([BR#EB]) UREBAAGKRAF
& %4,091,4180% ¥ X ™ 1H0.05/8 7T
B A% 0 M 7B 5 McGrath 90 4 # 4R
% HAEE

R-—TE-_—_F—HF=ZH AQF D%
77409,141,8608% & 17 - B % 1 i &
BEBIE T TRIEA A H£4,091,4180%
BHOEEREAARIR_TE-__F—H
“HHBEBETRALI00% KARF
B RE ZHITRAL0.99% (R &
BREBERSITE) -

RZZE-_—_FNA=+—H8 AR
AERABEEERENERNMSA
PITEESREERELEEDRRY
4,000,000 B8 A% ## &4 000,00017 B&
E(EREC) - B R AL
ETHQZKEPH&@TEO.OB?%T‘EE’\J%%
4,000,0000% %4,000,000% i@ i% -
BAFEREERBEEENE  F T
EE o
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32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION (Continued)

As at 31 August 2022, the Company has 409,141,860
shares in issue. The total of 8,000,000 shares to be
subscribed under the Share Options C granted represent
approximately 1.96% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 August 2022 and approximately 1.92%
of the enlarged issued share capital of the Company
assuming full exercise of the Share Options C.

Details of share options under the Old Share Option
Scheme and New Share Option Scheme as at 1 January
2023 and 31 December 2023:

32. UESSENROINARE (&)

RZE-_—_FNA=Z+—H AR
Al © % 17409,141,8600% & 7 - B
REBEBRECETETITRENG &
8,000,000 IR B R AR AR
T —FNA=1+— EIE@E%*%J&ZIK
491.96% M A QA K& RNE BT
N 491.92% (B 3% 08 A% #E C & 3B # 1T
) o

R S o el e
T-A=+—H EBREAILH
BREEAETERENFBHT

Old Share New Share
Option Scheme Option Scheme
ERERESE HERESS

No. of option available for grant under the WRIB % T B 4R B AR

scheme 28 16,000,000 40,914,186
Number of option granted as at RZEZZF+=A=+—H N/A

31 December 2022 EREERESA 15,591,148 N iE
Number of option granted as at RZEZ=%f+-A=+—H

31 December 2023 ERHBRESA 15,591,148 -
Percentage of share option granted divided RZZ-=F+-A=+—H

by weighted average number of Shares ERHBRERNABSET

issued as at 31 December 2023 BOMEFHENEL L 3.8% =
Number of share may be issued in respect  FERHERE] FETH

of share option granted B 10 2 B 15,591,148 X

On 8 February 2023, the Company adopted New Share
Option Scheme and the termination of Old Share Option
Scheme.
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32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION (Continued)

32. UESSENROINARE (E)

(b) Details of the share options outstanding during the b) BEE-ZE-_=FKR-_T=- =

years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were:

A

TZRA=+—BLEFERKRT

FEEOBBRESBOT:

Outstanding  Outstanding

as at as at

31 December 31 December Exercise price

Option type Date of grant Exercise period 2023 2022 (HK$)
R-ZBE-Z=F RWNZBZ-ZHE

+=ZA=+—-B t=A=+-H TEE

BREER ®iti A TEH i K AT 6 i K AT 6 (&)

Share Option A 13 May 2021 13 May 2021 - 3,500,000 3,500,000 0.57
12 May 2024
EREA BT “E-_—-FRAt=HZE
AA+=H ZENERATZA
Share Option B 3 January 2022 3 January 2022 - 4,091,418 4,091,418 0.492
2 January 2025
BB st —E-§—-A=HE
55 =H —E-RF-HZH
Share Option C 31 August 2022 31 August 2022- 8,000,000 8,000,000 0.59
30 August 2025
BREC s e fund ZEZZFN\NA=+—-HE
NA=+—H “E-AFNA=TH
15,591,418 15,591,418
All of the share options vesting conditions are FFEERESEBREERTZ

immediate from the date of grant. No share options H# 2 Bl & ;dZ ﬁ E-_T - =

are exercised for the years ended 31 December

2023 and 31 December 2022.

F+-_A=+—HBHE-ZE-_%F
+-A=t+—HIFE BET
1 B8 IR A o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 32. U HE&ENRO XN HZ (&)
TRANSACTION (Continued)

(¢) The following table discloses movements of the (c) TEREETZTEEE—FHnE
Scheme during the year: EIE
Weighted
average
exercise
price in HK$ Number
per share of shares
MELEHTEES
Date of grant A8 % % T B EE
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_%—AF—H 0.57 3,500,000
Granted during the year FRERD
— 3 January 2022 ——F-_F—AF=H 0.492 4,091,418
— 31 August 2022 ——F=-=
NA=+—8 0.59 8,000,000
At 31 December 2022, R_BE__F+_H
1 January 2023 and =+—B8 -Z—ZT=-=%F
31 December 2023 —H—BR=ZEZ=%
+=A=+-—H 0.56 15,691,418
The estimated fair value of the share options REFBZF-HA=ZAK=F
granted on 3 January 2022 and 31 August ZTZHENA=ZT—BERENE
2022 were approximately HK$1,126,000 and ENGEFAABESNOR
HK$2,661,000 respectively. 1,126,000 7t }2.2,661,000% 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION (Continued)

(c)

32. UESSENROINARE (E)

The following table discloses movements of the ) TREEBETZFIEEE—FH
Scheme during the year: (Continued) REE: (&)
The fair value of the share options granted on those RZEZHEREOEBERENA
dates were determined by the Directors at the AEHEFRFTHBHBE =
date of grants based on a binomial lattice model, EASEEAET YABY
evaluated by an independent professional valuer, EEMGHEMTGE BAZSER
with the following inputs: N
Share Share Share
options options options
granted on granted on granted on
31 August 3 January 13 May
2022 2022 2021
R-B--§ RZBZ-F R-B--F
NB=t+-8 —B=H AA+=H
RUENBRE BRHENBRE RENBRE
Exercise price TR E HK$0.59 HK$0.492 HK$0.57
0.59/& T 0.492/% 7T 0.57/& 7T
Grant date share price REBHKRE HK$0.59 HK$0.49 HK$0.57
0.59% T 0.49%8 7T 0.57%8 7T
Closing share price of the listed EEBERERT HK$0.59 HK$0.49 HK$0.56
securities immediately before BHiRiZz b 0.597%8 7T 0.49/% 7T 0.56/8 7T
the date on which the option BHWEE
was granted
Annual risk free interest rate FEEERF = 3.07% 0.88% 0.29%
Expected volatility T8 HA R &) & 137% 135% 139%
Expected option life JEHMES® 3 years 3 years 3 years
3% 3F 3F
Expected dividend yield TE HA IR B e & 0% 0% 0%
The expected volatility is based on the historical TEHRBEENE L FEEGR

volatility (calculated based on the weighted average
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility based on
publicly available information. Expected dividends
are based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect
the fair value estimate.

The Group recognised the total expense of
HK$3,787,000 in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 December 2022 in relation to
share option granted by the Company.

Share options were granted on the grantee's
acceptance.

TJ%HX/\/HEEIEE’JDD%ii’]T'Jﬁ??
WmETHE) UREBEARAEESHX
?Kx)ﬁi)]?ﬂ'ﬂiﬂﬁﬁﬂr”t}_ﬁ
FE o FEH AR %EAFEHQE\"
E&ﬁiﬁ)\@xw\ﬁ'} """"" ﬂ:THzé%ﬂL
ARERFRFTEEERNY

AEBBREE_ZT = =
+-A=+—BIEEHRART
BRYFMNERESENRER
3,787,000 JT °

BRESEARARIERET
E"\]O
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

33.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY 33. WEKBAT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_Z-_—_F+=-A=t+—-HL#HF
B

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group REBEEZT-_—_F+=-A=+—HI1
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with FE ASBEHEBYFEF=-FFVE
independent third parties pursuant to which the Group Bz Bl AEEEREBES(—
has acquired the entire issued share capital of Hua Yu, a MREBFMRIHAGT)HNE2HE
company incorporated in Hong Kong, at a consideration ZEITRA - R E /3,500,000 T o
of HK$3,500,000. The acquisition was completed on 14 WEEEER-_ZE-_-_F+A+@mA
October 2022. FEFK °
Hua Yu is a licensed corporation under the Hong Kong EFLEBELFLBERANTES
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) holding the RHE®GADBETHEEE  Ha3
licenses for advising on securities (Type 4 regulated BHEREEBEER(F4BEIHREFTE) -
activity), advising on corporate finance (Type 6 regulated REEREREER(FEIRE
activity) and assets management (Type 9 regulated EENREEEEBE(FIORXHAETE)
activity) and is licensed to carry out related regulated R BENREHBEXBRESD -
activities.

HK$'000

FHET

Consideration transferred: FregsE R (8 :
Cash /e 3,600
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 33. WiBHIE AR (&)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of FRBERBRENEENERN AR
acquisition are as follows: m

14 October 2022

—_ =

+A+mA
HK$'000
FET
Deposit and other receivables 5 3 & H b FE R IB 165
Bank balances R1T 4 B8 176
Trade and other payables FE 1~ 32 5 3R T8 I H A JE < 3R T8 (10)
Intangible assets BEE 3,788
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEAE (619)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BARBEFTENHRFEELT 3,500
Analysis of net cash inflow on acquisition of Hua Yu: WEERFFRERA DN :
HK$'000
FHET
Purchase consideration settled in cash NIRESHENBEHE (3,500)
Cash and bank balances in a subsidiary FTENB AR 2R & RIETT
acquired 48 176
Cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary  WHE—FEWB AR 2R &R (3,324)
For the period from 14 October 2022 to 31 December RZEFEZZF+A+MHAE=ZZT==
2022, Hua Yu generated HK$40,000 revenue from ¢+‘H—+ AHIfE ERERA
providing consultant service to the Company and N AR M5 R E 4 Y 40,000
did not contribute revenue and contributed net loss B B REBIRA - BEREE
of approximately HK$15,000 to the Group. Had the ¥ B 815 R 1B F B 415,000 T o
acquisition of Hua Yu been completed on 1 January M EBEFER_T__F—H—H
2022, the Group's consolidated revenue and consolidated TR CAEBRFAZHEERAR
loss for the year would have been approximately RE BB B4 %76,298,000% 7T
HK$76,298,000 and approximately HK$22,994,000 & #722,994,0007% 7T °

respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

34, EERIEEE

The component of the deferred tax liabilities recognised TEREINRFABRZELHRIESR
and the movements thereon during the year is as follows: BHEKBO R EE:
Accelerated tax Intangible
depreciation assets Total
MEHERE BYEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TEL FTEL
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—%—H8—H = <L, L
Arise from acquisition of a subsidiary 7€ & U B — 5 Bt BB A 7 - 619 619
At 31 December 2022 and i ——d
1 January 2023 +ZA=t-HE
—Z-_=f-A—-H — 619 619
Charge to profit or loss REZFNR 58 — 58
At 31 December 2023 W_T_=%F
+=ZA=+-H 58 619 677

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group also monitors the current and expected
liquidity requirements regularly to ensure that sufficient
working capital and adequate committed lines of funding
are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. Upon
the discovery of any default, the Group would negotiate
immediately with the relevant lenders for proper
arrangement in order to maintain sufficient working
capital. Upon the expectation of any cash insufficiency,
the Company would seek new source of funding so as to
maintain sufficient working capital. The capital structure
of the Group consists of net debts (which include lease
liabilities and borrowings), net of bank balances and
cash and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves. Details of
which are disclosed in respective notes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

36.
(a)

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. EXEREE (&
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed AKEEDBHEEBFES
capital requirements, except for a wholly-owned RIBE HEE2ENE
subsidiary, Hua Yu, which is a licensed corporation &5 M HE %05 M
registered under the SFO. Hua Yu met its relevant paid o A EEE B 7 R
up share capital and liquid capital requirements of the ERETHEMNE
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules issued TR)BAMEBE L
by the SFC throughout the financial reporting period. BIE
The Directors review the capital structure on a regular EETHRITER
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the — 5D EE=EE
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of B & A M R A R
capital. Based on the recommendations of the Directors, B3 AKEBE
the Group will balance its overall capital structure A E AT E K
through new share issues as well as issue of new debt AR FEHEEERE
or redemption of the existing debts. The Group's overall HEERIE FFE
strategy remaining unchanged from prior year.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. €@MIA
Categories of Financial Instruments (a) €mTAEER
2023
—_=E-=
HK$'000
FTER
Financial assets at FVTPL DARBETFABEN
TRMEE

Unlisted equity investment REMBRAKZE —
Life insurance =k 5,226
5,226

Financial assets at amortised REBHEKAETEN

cost: TRIEE:

Trade receivables FE U X 5 FIE 7595
Contract assets BHNEE 7,755
Deposit and other receivables 5 3 & H b F& YL 5K IR 10,497
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEY 4,123
29,970

Financial liabilities at BREBENEATEN

amortised cost: cRAE:

Trade payables FET 22 5 5OIE 12,857
Other payables and accruals HthEARIERETEA 5,228
Borrowings N 33,445
Lease liabilities HEAaE 1,942

53,472

=

|

N}ED% ”.EI
%\%E@\G
i
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B
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WmENF P
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M
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2022

—_

HK$'000
THAT

60
5,119

5,179

16,002
2,559
18,337
2,166

39,064

23,354
10,047
32,071

1,197

66,669
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(i)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other
receivables, contract assets, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases and bank balances
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Approximately 16% (2022: 29%) of the Group's
sales is denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entity making the
sale, whilst almost 15% (2022: 37%) of the costs
is denominated in the group entity's respective
functional currency. Since the Hong Kong dollar
pegged with United States dollar, no significant
currency risk would be expected by the Group. In
addition, the Company has intra-group balances
with several subsidiaries denominated in foreign
currency which also expose the Group to foreign
currency risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE Te——
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €@ TE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) iR EEAZERBUEK (E)

policies (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) E¥ERKGE
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign RBmEMHR  NEBIINE
currency denominated monetary assets and EMEREEREXKAENE
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting HEMT:

period are as follows:

Liabilities Assets

8 BE

2022 2022
—E--F —E-C

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET

RMB

AUD BT

usb ET
Intra-group balances SENEH
RMB AR
AUD BT

waEsERERAT /20238 257



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS R B 5 (48 )

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

4R A

N

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the
sensitivity to a reasonably possible change by
5% in the HK$ exchange rate against RMB and
AUD, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group's loss before tax increase (decrease)
due to changes in the translated values of
monetary assets and liabilities.

36. R TE(&)

(b)

If HK$ strengthens against AUD i /& JT 438 T A B

If HK$ weakens against AUD

fi 78 7T R TRz B

If HK$ strengthens against RMB & T H A R FH &

If HK$ weakens against RMB

WAETHEARBRE

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate loan to a
vendor, fixed-rate over-due payable, fixed-rate
loans from shareholders and other borrowings
and lease liabilities as set out in Notes 25,
28, 29 and 30 respectively. The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to its variable-rate bank balances and
bank borrowings as detailed in Notes 27 and
29.

The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the Directors
monitor interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate risk
should the need arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes
in market interest rates relates primarily to
the Group’s bank borrowings with floating
interest rate. Bank balances are excluded
from sensitivity analysis as the management
considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate
bank balances is insignificant.

Total interest income from financial assets that
is measured at amortised cost is as follow:

36. R TE (&)

(b)

Interest income ) B U A
Financial assets at amortised EMEEZHHEKA
cost
Interest income under effective EEREMEEZTHRNE
interest method I =

Interest expense on financial liabilities not
measured at FVTPL:

Financial liabilities at amortised EEHEKATENS

cost BAE

MK EREZEEERBEE)

(ii)

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H

A R E b ()

REBE TR TSR R E
FRAKREEEAERNE
ARG EMBRITERE
- WEHIRITHEBET
ﬁmr T AAEEE

LEBRITEREEZ
ﬁﬁmiﬂ?ﬂ@ﬁ$i
* o

RBER AT ENSBE
ERBRABELOT

2023 2022
S = = — —

—_—= —= —_—< — —

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

549

549

YHFARABEFARR
W& BB E AR B R

2023 2022
o= = — —

—_ =

HK$°000 HK$'000
TET TET

2,637
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the
sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in
interest rate of 100 basis points, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’'s loss
before tax (through the impact on floating rate
borrowings).

If interest rates decrease
by 100 basis points

If interest rates increase
by 100 basis points

EE

X

36. R TE(&)

(b)

fis F1) 2= T BE100 &

fi& A & £ F+10018

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in unquoted equity
securities measured at FVTPL. Price risk was
monitored by the management of the Group
who will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise. In the opinion of the
Directors, as the price risk is minimal, no
sensitivity analysis is presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables,
contract assets and other receivables and cash
and cash equivalents.

The carrying amounts of financial assets at
amortised cost stated in this note represented
the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk
in relation to financial assets which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risk
associated with its financial assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's
policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and
the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

36. R TE (&)

(b)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

The Group's concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in HK, which
accounted for 98% (2022: HK and the PRC
71% and 26%) of the total trade receivables
as at 31 December 2023. The Group has
concentration of credit risk as 22% (2022:
20%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the financial
department has been delegated by the
management of the Group to be responsible
for the determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures
and the review of the recoverable amount of
each material individual debt at the end of
each reporting period to ensure that adequate
provision for impairment losses is made for
irrecoverable amounts. In addition, the Group
continuously monitors its trade receivable
balances so as to ensure that the Group
will not be subject to material bad debt risk.
Since the Group only trades with third parties
recognised to be creditworthy, management
considers that the credit risk in respect of
the Group’'s customers is limited. Further
quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are disclosed in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In addition, the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment for trade receivables
and contract assets under ECL model.
Reversal of impairment, net of impairment loss
of HK$334,000 (2022: reversal of impairment,
net of impairment loss of HK$617,000) on
trade receivables and impairment loss, net of
reversal of HK$77,000 (2022: Nil) for contract
assets are recognised during the year. Details
of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €RIT A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BAF&EpREEEZE R BUR ()
policies (Continued)

(iv) 1= & & B &6 B 57 14 (&)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets BEUXBHEBEREHEE
(Continued) (#&)

The contract assets primarily relate to the
Group’s rights to consideration for work
completed but not billed at the reporting
date. The contract assets are transferred
to receivables when the rights become
unconditional. The contract assets have
substantially the same risk characteristics as
the trade receivables for the same types of
contracts. The Group has therefore concluded
that the ECL rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for
the contract assets. Since the contract assets
are still in performing and the payment is not
due. The expected loss rate of contract assets
is assessed to be the same as that of trade
receivables neither past due nor impaired
and the impact to be insignificant to the
consolidated financial statement of the Group.

BHEEFTBZRAKHER
BREAHRE TREKRRA
ARENTIREKIRKED

A AR
fi 1 B

° TR HE R BK 7
BHNEEERE

EUFHE - AHNEERR
BAOMERIZFEAR

BRBHER R R

At - AEERBE KK
%;hlﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁiﬁ;wz%}éﬂ%?

HENEENBEX
BE-BHRE

’]éﬂ'z%ft
BOIFAMREREH -

BHEEMNAHBRIRR
aF {7 45 52 BR 4 J8 5 7% S OR
BEr YRS HENTEN
BAREHER BEHAEHE
RAMBHRENTELD

SN
Cash and cash equivalents B REZEEY
Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents RekBRcEBYNEER

is limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The
Group assessed 12m ECL for cash and cash
equivalents by reference to information relating
to probability of default and loss given default
of the respective credit rating grades published
by external credit rating agencies. Based on
the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank
balances is considered to be insignificant.

REER  RETDRS Y
?ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%&%

SEEFENMBRT -

AEE2EHNHEEFTR
BEmEHRBEREENR
FRMENREIRERZ

é“ﬂqﬂﬁiﬁi&fﬁA”k

W) i ﬁ?E’HZTIHi‘EHﬂ ;‘ff

BE - ERFEHEBEX

R 17 4 ﬁ%E’MZfI A J’EE@E

EBERBEATEK -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e R RN (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Deposit and other receivables

For other receivables and deposits, the
management makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. For those deposits and
other receivables that the Directors believe
that there is no significant increase in credit
risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based
on 12m ECL. For those deposits and other
receivables that are past due or there is
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Directors provide impairment
based on lifetime ECL. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group recognised
the impairment loss, net of reversal on
deposits and other receivables approximately
HK$3,919,000 (2022: HK$1,668,000), the
Group assessed the ECL for other receivables
and deposits to specify.

Financial guarantee contracts

The fair value of these financial guarantee, as
at dates of initial recognition, were considered
insignificant. At the end of the reporting
period, the management has performed
impairment assessment, and concluded that
there has been no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition of the financial
guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss
allowance for financial guarantee contracts
issued by the Group is measured at an amount
equal to 12m ECL. No loss allowance was
recognised in the profit or loss.
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36. €@ ITHEH(E)
BEEREEEERBEK(E)

(b)

(iv)

= & B b &R B ¥ 14 (&)

BHRRMENHE

MEMEWRREREZSM
S EEERBERAGEHEE
ik BELR URE
BYHMEMEEERANTE
EXTHEER  THHEH
it B W SR TE K H & B9 AT R
| 14 1E @ B REE o 3R
ERehEMEWRER
S EERAE BYIE
RBURZESENEER
B EBEERN RASE
BERENEAEHREEES
BELHBERE HRE
BmHAKEERNERNAKRE
ERBRBZELANZER
EREMERZ EFR
EBExHBEBHEEEERED
RERE HEz_ZT_=
e il el e e
AEBGRNMKBZe R EM
J& W 5K I8 $ 0] 7 3R R 1 /S
B 493,919,000/ T (= &
— — 4% :1,668,000/&7T) °

BHEEREXN
RONTHERBH  ZEH
BRERZOAERBERL

FTEXK - RIEHEK &
BEDETRENG I
SHewm T ERY
BHERAEDAEL  EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB HRERM T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

wT

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €RIT A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BAF&EpREEEZE R BUR ()

policies (Continued)
(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment (ivi EERE R BETEMG(E)
(Continued)

AEBE®HABEERRY
AFEEEATER:

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following
categories:

Trade receivables/

Internal credit rating Description contract assets Other financial assets

RS ETR R WX 2 HE HttemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
default and does not have any credit-impaired
past-due amounts
& & kg REHFENRRE - I EEM FHBEHEERE NERBRHEERE
BHeH —EEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired
BELE BEBABERIBRACEBHER 2HBEHEERE NERRHEERE
—EEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL - not
in credit risk since initial recognition credit-impaired credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources
A& REASASEAINDER £8 2HBHEEFERE 2UBHEEHE
[ b B ¥R B R DA SR E 2 —EEERE —BEEHE
Loss There is evidence indicating Lifetime ECL - credit-  Lifetime ECL - credit-
the asset is credit-impaired impaired impaired
B FREBETEELREENE PHEHEEER 2HESEEER
—EERAE —EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written-off ~ Amount is written-off
debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
8 EREBETEBARABENERE  HMEeHE miEeH

BASEY & B FENE KA

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’'s financial assets and
financial guarantee contracts which are subject

to ECL assessment:

External Internal
credit credit
Note  rating rating
5B o
iz GEFR REFA
Financial assets at amortised costs
RAHRKTRNEREE
Bank balances 27 BB+toAA- NA
RiTEH BB+EAA- 1A
Deposns and other recewables % NA (Note 1)
REREMEYIE TR (B & 1)
Trade recgivables % NA (Note 2)
ERRA7E TR fisk2)
Contract assets % NA (Note 2]
ak TER (K 2)
Financial guarantee
contracts (Note 3/ 39 NA Low risk
BRERRDH L) MR ERR
Notes:
(1) The credit quality of the financial assets is

considered to be low risk when they are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be
doubtful.

(2) For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.

(3) For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying
amount represents the maximum amount the Group
has guaranteed under the respective contracts.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

36. R TE(&)

(b) MBEMREEEFERBR (&)

(iv) 1= & & B & m B 57 14 (&)

TREAMAAEBEAETRE
HEEBRRAFENSRE
F&%ﬁz%éﬁﬁmﬁ
2022
Gross carrying
12m or lifetime ECL G grlognt
PLEERS R FELE
HK$ 000 HK$ (0N HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn
12m ECL 2,157
NEREREERE
12m ECL 2,313 3,464
NEABHEERE
Lifetime ECL 18,318 20,691 EEWARF RN Vi
PHEBEEER
Lifetime ECL [Provision matrix) 8,019 16,760
PHRBEERR(BRRER)
Lifetime E(;L‘ ) 1832 2,559
2HRAEERR
mECL &
NERESEEER

(1) LBMEESTABBALE
BREXPLREEEBVE
HRAKREREERR K
ﬁﬁ%m%%%TvE%
BEEXERARERR -
Al ¢ MEENREE
WAR R A AR o

E%

20 BERXZRERADE
EME A5EEEAS
7 B 75 & 2E R SO Y
ErERzHEHEES
Bt EBEREME -

B HEUBERA&OME &
HAEEASERESR
BHRERNEREE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B R M (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors' aging to assess
the impairment for its customers in relation
to its operation because these customers
consist of a large number of small customers
with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to
pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk
for trade receivables which are assessed on
a collective basis by using provision matrix
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

Set out below is the information about the
credit risk exposure on the Group’'s trade
receivables using a provision matrix:

Average
loss rate receivables
Ek
THERE RANE
HK$'000
THx
Current 1K 0.73% 1,644
Past due 5
— 10 3 months ——%2=fiR 1.24% 2,859
— 3 t0 6 months —ZZxEA

—Over6months  —BB=MA 10.71% 3,516

Subtotal et 8,019

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

36. €I E(E)
(b) BIEMREEEERBKE (&)

(iv) 15 & & B & 0 B &1 & ()

ERASEEERRERE
B — IR NEEA AR K
R RS EEXBH
2B P ETRENMR
REARZEEPTHHUE
RENNEEPRAK
MREER T RBRKER
BENGEREEMBIH
T N HE R
FH - -TREHBHEENK
RpFAEERRNER
ZEERDEREHES
EEBR(LEEERE)
MBERREETHREF
f

TREINAKEEBER
EEAENERRSRA

WiEERKRER:
2022

Average - _T_rade
ECL loss rate  receivables ECL
75 ST Bk BH
GEESE BEX RHHE  LEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THTL FHR THR
12 1.35% 7939 107
36 3.41% 3,516 120
- 4.07% 129 5
10.16% 5,176 526
16,760 758

BHAERXEREBAR
HEHPRNEEERMEE
MEREE - A B AN
s B K AN 3k %5 77 Bl A] R
BZEEERETAR -

EEESERERAR /20238 207



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (E)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2023 EHZ_-F_-=F+-A=1+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. £EtTE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BiERESEEAZERBUEK (E)

policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment (ivi EERMRBEFTMEE)
(Continued)
The following tables shows the movement THRETDRESLTE
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for RERRIRERRNE
trade receivables under simplified approach: HEHEEBENE T :
Lifetime ECL Life time
not credit- ECL (credit-
impaired impaired) Total

2HES RHES
FEER FEER

(BEEHE) (EEHE) fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRAL TAL TAL

As at 1 January 2022 RZZE-__%-A-H 1,375 - 1,375
Changes due to financial instruments ~ AR -ZE-—#—F—H

recognised as at 1 January 2022: BREBIAMLAN

£%):

— Impairment recognised —BRRAE 57 — 57
— Impairment losses reversed —REBEERE (906) — (906)
New financial assets originated or RESBEANNEREE

purchased 232 — 232
As at 31 December 2022 i 7__¢+ A=+-H
Changes due to financial instruments ~ ARZ=Z==F—-F—BER

recognised as at 1 January 2023 %mﬂlﬁﬁﬁtﬂfﬁﬁ'}x :
— Transfer to credit-impaired —BRERERE
— Impairment recognised —BRRAE
— Impairment losses reversed —REBEBERE
New financial assets originated or BEIBANNEREE

purchased
As at 31 December 2023 R-BZ=%+-A=t+-H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ERRM (&

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE TeS~——
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €@ TE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) iR EEAZERBUEK (E)

policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment (ivi EERMRBEFTEE)
(Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade ERRSIREBHERES
receivables are mainly due to: BEEMRRN:
2023
—s=—=
(Decrease) (Decrease)
increase in increase in
12M ECL Lifetime ECL
1218 B f8 1 2 M8 8
FEEEE FEEER
(B ERE) (3R 2>) 3 n
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FaxT
Further impairment on trade KR 5 RIEN
receivables E—FRE
Settlement in full of trade 2HINERRZS
receivables A
New financial assets originated or J& 4 sk B A #Y
purchased YemEE
2022
—F-=
(Decrease) (Decrease)
increase in increase in
12M ECL Lifetime ECL
1216 A 8 HA Z Hi 78 5

EEER EEER
O 3298:-pill 3298 pill

HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Settlement in full of depositand 2#H X {t& & &
other receivables E fth B W RIA (906) —
New financial assets originated or J& 4 = i& A /Y
purchased FemEE 232 =

gaEsERERAT /2023% 2069



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2023 EHZ_-F_-=F+-A=1+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. £Et TE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BA#&EBREEEZE R BUER ()

policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment (ivi EERMRBEFTMEE)
(Continued)

The following tables shows the movement in THRETHERES R EME
ECL that has been recognised for deposit and W 5 Iﬁﬁﬁ M EBEEE
other receivables: BHE e :
Lifetime
ECL (credit-
12M ECL impaired) Total

1218 A 2HEM
BHEE REER

E ] (EERE) o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAL TET
L | ]|
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—%—f—H 2,548 2,059 4,607
Changes due to financial AR=ZZ=_—F5—H—H
instruments recognised as ~ HREMIAMHEES
at 1 January 2022: 23
— Impairment losses —REBBERER
reversed (222) (2,059) (2,281)
— Transfer to credit- —BREEFERE
impaired (2,323) 2,323 —
New financial assets RESIBEANT S
originated or purchased BE 7 3,942 3,949
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=H
=+—H 10 6,265 6,275
Changes due to financial ER-_E-=%—8F—H
instruments recognised as ~ BREMITAMHEEN
at 1 January 2023: 2
— Impairment recognised ~ —2HERRE 46 3,313 3,359
— Impairment losses —BEREREBE
reversed (3) (2,392) (2,395)
New financial assets RELBEANT S
originated or purchased BE 72 2,883 2,955

As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=%+=A8
=+-—H 10,069 10,194

270 HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ERRM (&

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. @M T AE(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BEEEEAZERBUEK (E)
policies (Continued)
(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment (ivi EERMRBEFTEE)
(Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade and F’Eﬂﬂlé&%& HEEES
receivables are mainly due to: 2HEFEHN:
2023
—s=-=
(Decrease) (Decrease)
increase in increase in
12M ECL Lifetime ECL
1218 B 8 &8 = HITE
FEEA FEEE
(iR 2>) 1 tn (R 2) 2 tn
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FExT
Further impairment on other H W GRIE B i —
receivables # R A
Settlement in full of depositand 2 H X H#&4& K
other receivables H b fE YR I8
Impairment for new deposit and  #TiZ & & E fh fE Uk
other receivables RIER A
2022
=
(Decrease) (Decrease)
increase in increase in
12M ECL Lifetime ECL
121E A 78 HA 2 Hp 78 5P
FEEBE EEBE
(L 2 18 N (Rt 4>) 18 n
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Settlement in full of depositand 2#H X {t& & &
other receivables E fth B W RIA (222) (2,059)
Impairment for new deposit and  ##% & & E b fE Uk
other receivables RIE R E 7 3,942
gsEsEREaERAR 20235% 271



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

IN=RE R |

" For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £

at ()

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following tables shows the movement
in ECL that has been recognised for contract
assets:

New financial assets originated or
purchased

BRESBANF CREE

—EF_=ZFf_A=F—HILFE

36. R TE(&)

(b) MBEMREEEFERBR (&)

(iv) 15 & & B & 58 &7 & ()

TRBETEEREGNEE
WEHESEEENZ B
o

HK$’000
FRERT

As at 31 December 2023

R-BE-_=%+=-A=+—8H

Changes in the loss allowance for contract
assets are mainly due to:

New contract assets originated or J& 4 sk B A 8 # & 4

BE

purchased

EHEENEBERBREZZE
E2RiA
2023 2022
—_E_= RGNS
Increase Increase
(decrease) in (decrease) in
lifetime ECL lifetime ECL
not credit- not credit-
impaired impaired
2HEHNEE BEREbREREN
EEEMORL) NagiEkpnie:s)
EEERE mEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET

272 HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB HRERM T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

/\‘/—J_\

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(v)

Liquidity risk

The Group's policies are to regularly
monitor the current and expected liquidity
requirements, and to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and available
banking facilities to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity
dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates.

36. R TE (&)

(b)

MR EEEERBEK

(v)

(&)

RBETER

REBEBRRERRTHEREE
ARFEHRBEST R
BRAECHESHE LA
PRARTHERTEAR
E/Hﬂfm@]ﬁiﬁ‘ﬁj:

TRFLRAEEEH &
BEMNRBEAEHOTFH - %
KRR BEBREAEBEHE
XERNZEBAHAER
TRHEGEARATRBAESRE
mEl e LHZ MWEEE
SKAE B R KAV IR 1T 18 BE
ARREREBEAN @1 ~H
MITERTEEENHA
EEEE  HMIETE R
BEBEsIBAEERBE
ZEHAH-

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (E)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2023 HE_-F-=#F+ A=+ —HI FE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €@ TE(HE\)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MEEBREEEZEREE (&)

policies (Continued)

(v) Liquidity risk (Continued) v) "BESERE)
The table includes both interest and principal ZEREARBEMNERR
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows EZ2RERE - LFBR
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is EEBAERFEAR K
derived from interest rate curve at the end of BB eBMIARMEHRKRZ
the reporting period. M EghaEB
On demanded Total
less than Between  undiscounted Carrying
Interest rate 1105 years caihflow amount
3 EHEY
ik 125% AREH FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAn TR TER
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZF
T=A=+-H
Trade payables ERRAFRE N/A
TER 12,857 12,857 12,857
Lease liabilities HEBE 6.49% to 741%
6.49%£7.41% 1,185 2,107 1,942
Borrowings X 0% to 24%
0%Z24% 36,454 36,454 33,445
Other payables and accruals & ft /B {1 38 N/A
REHER TER 5,228 5,228 5,228
55,724 56,646 53,472
On demanded Total
less than Between undiscounted
Interest rate 1 year 1105 years cashflow  Carrying amount
BEX BERE
G PIME 1E5% BREN REE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000
ThL TEL TEn TEL
. _________________________________________'______________________________]
At 31 December 2022 RZB-zf
T=A=t-H
Trade payables ERRAHRE 0% t0 10%
0%Z10% 23,354 - 23,354 23,354
Lease liabilities HERE 4.75% 10 8.8%
4.75%%8.8% 1,238 - 1,238 1197
Borrowings fEx 0% to 24%
0% £ 24% 32,910 629 33,539 32,07
Other payables and accruals /B {1 308 N/A
REHER TER 10,047 - 10,047 10,047
67549 629 68,178 66,069
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\‘/T\

& MR R M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(v) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable
interest rate instruments are subject to change
if changes in variable interest rate differ to
those estimates of interest rates determined
at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the management
would establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the valuation model or to engage third
party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.

36. R TE (&)

(b)

(c)

M EREERRERBER)

(v) RBE<ERE

AT F R B3 & B R 2
FHEEHEE A
LS ETTE

TMIAZAREE

?Jﬁﬁﬂ‘kiﬁi WmE  AKE
ETeRMIARAAEFE -

REHRIAER AEEEH
AESHTSABREBUE -
EYEE R ABE 18
ERRIEAERZEERD
FBABBRLEBFE=TNE
RIGEMETHE -

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (E)

" For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE=-F - =#F+=-HA=+—HI FEF
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €T E(E)

(¢) Fair value measurements of financial (c) EMIBZAREFE(E
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets that AEERREMEENAAE
are measured at fair value on a recurring FTEZERMEEZAAE
basis

Some of the Group's financial assets are measured FEEFMEREERSHRS
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. BREAABEGE - TEE}ET
The following table gives information about how the ERNMNETZEEMEEDR
fair values of these financial assets are determined ARE(LHEMEANMGERDT
(in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs R ABIE) 2B -

used).

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023
R-B-_=F4+-A=1+—HZ2AEBE®R
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£ FR E=& At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FE T THExT TER

Financial assets at A ARERFA
FVTPL BERMWemEE
— Life insurance policy — & A RETA
at FVTPL ERRE 5,226 5,226
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022
RZEBEZZF+ZA=+—HZAAEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
— & E_H E=4 45T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHE T FHET
Financial assets at RAREBEFAE
FVTPL HEHNEMEE
— Unlisted equity — R ARERTA
instruments at ELEmER
FVTPL TAKMH — — 60 60
— Life insurance policy — AR EFA
at FVTPL EmRE — — 5,119 5,119

— o 5,179 5,179
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A B R M (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

Fair value
Financial assets Fair value at hierarchy
SHEE AR MMEES
31 December 31 December
2022
b-RETF
Unlisted equity Approximately  Level 3
instrumgnts at FVTPL HK$60,000
BRAEHARLTER f60,0008T  £=4
IEkhH
Life insurance policy Approximately Approximately  Level 3
at FVTPL HK$5,226,000 HK$5,119,000
BAREHARGY PRI 1051900087 E=H
ShEE
Notes:
a) The fair value of the unlisted equity investment was

measured by the independent valuer based on Level 3
hierarchy by using market approach.

b) The surrender value of the life insurance policy is provided
by the insurance company.

There were no transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy in the current and prior years.

There was no change in valuation techniques in the
current and prior years.

(1) At 31 December 2022, if the market price was 5% higher/
lower while all other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of unlisted equity instruments at FVTPL
would increase/decrease by HK$3,000/HK$3,000.

36. e@MI A

(&)

() EMIAZAREFE(E)

FEBEREEMEENARE
FFECERMEE QA AME(E)

Valuation technique(s) and

key input(s)
HERGREERALE

Market approach (note 4/

[ZA AT

Based on credit rating, ages
life insured persons and

Significant unobservable input(s)

EXFTRERALSE

(i) The market price of in the same or
a similar ling of business (Note 7/

il BRENEBNTEER
(1)

(i) Based on circumstances unique,
additional factors have been
considered

il RERKERL CEEELAZ

of  Surrender value (Note J)

the discount rate (note b)

REEEFE  HRRAE
REREFE ML)

CER

a)

b)

k RREEWZ2

FETRARAZA KM 0B
A48 60 AR B 35 = I AR 05
ELEE

REMEREBHRBIFRME -

REAFEEBEFE ARE
BER AL EEE -

REAEERBEEENGER
fig I &= &) -

(1)

BEBEFERERAOT /2023F H

WZZT-——F+-A=+—8
WELF T%E%  fAAE
FHEFITE AR AREA
BamE TR TANKEE
# 3% 08 43,0007 7T,3,000
BT e
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A M ERR W e (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

36. TRIT R (&)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) EMITAZAAREBEFE(E)
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets that AEERREMEENAAE

are measured at fair value on a recurring FTERERMEEZAABE(E)

basis (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) et - (&)

(2) At 31 December 2023, if the surrender value was 5% 20 REBZ=F+=A=+=8"
(2022: 5%) higher/lower while all other variables were iR REE LA TR (ZF
held contract, the carrying amount of the life insurance % :5%) MAABEMEHY
policy at FVTPL would increase/decrease by HK$261,000/ BAEAEH  AEAFEFAERZ
HK$261,000 (2022: increase/decrease by HK$259,000/ MASRENEEEKE M B
HK$259,000). 4261,0007% 7T,261,000% T (=

T 4R £259,0000
Jt,/259,0007% 7T) °
c) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of c) BEEEMHEEGFENERIARN
financial instruments on recurring basis: E=ZRDAABETENEHE:
Life Unlisted
insurance equity
policy at instruments
FVTPL at FVTPL Total
BRARE
BRAAE FAELED
FAB®RZ EHEIA
SRRE :47) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F# T FAET FAET
e Y A
At 1 January 2022 R-_TE-_—_F—HF—H 5,027 226 5,253
Exchange realignment T 5 & 6 (18) (12)
Fair value changes NS B 86 (148) (62)
At 31 December 2022 B _F+=-A=+—H 5,119 60 5,179
Exchange realignment & X 38 & 2 = 2
Fair value changes NILEFHE 105 — 105
Impairment losses WA EE — (60) (60)
At 31 December 2023 R-—Z-_=F+=-A=+—H 5,226 — 5,226
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group RBEE-_TE-_=ZF+=-_A=+—

provided fair value losses of the financial assets of FVTPL
of an amount of approximately HK$60,000. A fair value
losses approximately of HK$62,000 was recognised in
profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B ERRNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 37. MEETHELANEEYHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRFULUAEERETDHELED i%
arising from financing activities, including both cash B gPEEHRSRFRSE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing HoAMBETHELENBGEARE
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future SBFEERENERSEAMES
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated FMEREAENHEERENES
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing DEHNRRRERE
activities:
Finance
cost
included
Other Bank Lease in other
borrowings borrowings liabilities payable Total
AR
DECE
AtER  BRAER  HERRE EHA ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET FHEL
I e e S
At 1 January 2022 W-ZE--%-F—H — 5,809 4,042 — 9,851
Interest expense MERZ 1,176 329 185 947 2,637
Proceeds from borrowings EENIE L€ 33,792 167 - = 33,959
Repayment of lease liabilitles ~ EEAEEE — — (2,928) — (2,928)
Exchange realignment X AE - - (102) = (102)
Repayment of borrowings and ~ BEEF RBEM A
finance costs (8,676) (526) — (47) (9,249)
At 31 December 2022 RZF__F+-A=t1-A 26292 5,779 1,197 900 34,168
Interest expense flERY 4,254 186 115 427 4,982
Proceeds from borrowings ERABYE 19,560 5,893 = = 25,453
Financial guarantee service HRERRE LA
income (54) - = = (54)
Addition to new leases MAHHE — — 2,365 — 2,365
Repayment of lease liabilites ~ EBEMEEE - - (1,663) - (1,663)
Exchange realignment R — (26) (72) = (98)
Repayment of borrowings and ~ BEEFRBEM A
finance costs (18,580) (9,859) = (1,327) (29,766)

At 31 December 2023

RZE-=f+ZA=1-H
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

38.

39.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into new lease agreements for the use of right-
of-use assets. On the lease commencement, the Group
recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of approximately HK$1,814,000 and HK$1,814,000
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into a new lease agreement for the property,
plant and equipment. On the lease commencement, the
Group recognised property, plant and equipment use
assets and lease liabilities of approximately HK$777,000
and HK$551,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
charged the financial guarantee service fee to a related
company, Ye Chuang Limited (“Ye Chuang”) by direct
debit to the loan from a related company of HK$54,000.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) During the year, the Group entered into the
following material transaction with a related party:

Name of related party

BEBLEE RXREMHE

Ye Chuang Company
Limited (“Ye Chuang”)
ERBERAR([EE ]

fee income

B HERRSEERA

Nature of transaction

38. FEHFHREXRF

39.

Financial guarantee service

On 31 May 2023, LMP International Limited,
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a financial guarantee
service agreement to a related company, Ye
Chuang for providing financial guarantee service
by pledging of the Group’s building and investment
properties to a financial institution to secure a loan
of HK$3,600,000 borrowed by Ye Chuang. The
transaction was conducted at terms and conditions
mutually agreed between the related party.
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BE_Z_=F+-_A=1+—HL#F
B -AEEREREEENERTL
HEEHRE REERBR K&
BRACHEEERMEERED A
#91,814,0007% 7T 521,814,000/ 7T °

REBEEZZ-_=F+=ZA=+—H1
FE -AEERWE BEREZHE
VHHEwZE REERAKAE &
SEBRAYE BELAZEERE
EXEEBED R #777,000% T &
551,000/ 7T °

REBEE_ZE_=%+"_A=Z+— ElJJ:
FE - AEEEBEEELHE
7] B 754,000 T A B E QA ki
Bl E R AR ([1EA]) Uk B BF 7% 42 7 IR
BE -

BB RS
(a) FR  AEBHE-—FZEEHE
TUTEARRS:
2023 2022
—EZ=HF R
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FHET
R—_EBE-_=FRA=+—8"

ARrlzEEZENB AR M
REBEER G EBEQRE
BIET IS E RIS B
BE-—HeREERFASE®
BFEREEYERMENBE
R LEREABAD
3,600,000 TE K - X B JH &
BB 5 A8 B B W IR B R AR 4
AT o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE
39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. EBARS(E)

(Continued)

(b) During the year, saved as disclosed in elsewhere of b) FAN -BRiceUHBHREEMIE
the consolidation financial statements, the Group oW RSN AN E R BT
entered into the following material transactions with TUATERXRS:
related parties:

2023 2022
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
oz T % T FET

Amount due from Mr. JERTRENEEE:

Wong:
Balance as at 1 HEz—A—B/ (1)

January/31 December +=-RA=+—H

K #4 K8 —

Maximum amount FRKREEN (1)

outstanding during the E=s 8

year 11,865
Loan from a related K e —H R E

company: NAIME R :

Ye Chuang FE 8l (2) =

Note: K&z -

.. The Group made advance payments to Mr. Wong during 1. AEBRBE-_ZT-__F+=
the year ended 31 December 2022, which were all repaid A=+ BLEERELE SN
by Mr. Wong before 31 December 2022. The aforesaid TR ELE4ERZ=ZT==
advance payments to Mr. Wong were unsecured, interest TZA=Z+T—AZAIE2BERE -
free and repaid by Mr. Wong in a period ranging from one FmELAAEAINNEBENRAEE
to three months. BER 2ETHEEER—ZE=

BAHRKEE -

2! Ms. Yu Wing Yan, the spouse of Mr. Leung Tat Chi, a 2. RARZLAASEENBARAE
director of the Group's subsidiary, is the director and EREREECERB BEAZ
ultimate beneficial owner of Ye Chuang. The loan is EERGEREREAA ZEX
secured, interest-free and repayable on demand. BEER 2O REAREREE -

(¢) Key management compensation () AATNEEMBLARFIE
Details of the compensation of key management AEBEHRBHIT % EMNEEE
personnel of the Group, who are the executive BAEBFMNFERES 57@%%1&&
directors, are disclosed in Note 13 to the KM EF13IMEE -
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =—Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

40.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
Under the scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme,
which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the PRC Government. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute 14% of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
approximately HK$2,423,000 (2022: approximately
HK$2,991,000) represents contributions paid and payable
to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules
of the plans. As at 31 December 2023, contributions
of approximately HK$22,500 (2022: approximately
HK$31,200) due in respect of the year ended 31
December 2023 had not been paid over to the plans.
The amounts were paid subsequent to the end of the
reporting period.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no
forfeited contribution available to reduce its contributions
to the retirement benefits schemes in future years.
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40.

S

RKERETE

B G E

Fit

AEBERBEEMBARERERRL
BHEAE R E  RIEZEE
BEREEREHAZREEARK
AHI5% [F 5% 5T I {EH 5% - T & A
BERW AR LERR30,0008 T %
FHIMEERAKRENEED A
A NESRABIEAES - K
SERAZTEFLEZHIABAERS
TRAE%  HEBRZHEHKMER -

AEBGENBRAANEE AT H
BRFEENBRERRKE NS
MRKEB - MBARAEIEKAN
4% REKEMNEHK BEHN
REED - AKEHRAK®ENE
MME—BERIEHEEMRRK -

REZTPERE A B542,423,000
BT (2T = —4F :492,991,000/% 7t)
EAEEEMAEMAUBEML X
ENEENZEFINER R
T-_Z&E+-_A=+—H8 HAkxkAEAE
Bz EaE—_E-_=F+=-A
=+ —HI-FE EHHKRL22,500%8
TT(ZZE = ZF: 431,200 L) c K
REHAEEINERKIE -

RZEBE_=ZFR=_F__F+=A
—t+—H AEETEDRKERT
MR R R F R R KB F AT B A H
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

40.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (Continued)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong,
pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57,
the Group has the obligation to pay LSP to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong under certain circumstances
(e.g. dismissal by employers or upon retirement), subject
to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based on
the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment)
X 2/3 X Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while
the amount of long service payment shall not exceed
HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a post-
employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise
the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus
any positive/negative returns thereof, for the purpose of
offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the “offsetting
Arrangement”).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June
2022, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions
to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect
on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the
Government of the HKSAR is also expected to introduce
a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25
years after the Transition Date on the LSP payable by
employers up to a certain amount per employee per year.

40. RIREFETE (&)

REERERK(E
HRBENER

578) %t

1R 18 E SR M50 ($57%) - HRA
EEEFSEENHBAT - EH
2 OR T (Pl 0 8 E R IE KR ) A
BBREBAAKEEXN KSR
Bo BERTELSFHREHER
WRATFARGE -

RE—EAMTEM LERA) X
2/3x BR 7% F IR

&% — {8 A ITE LR AE22500%
T MEHEBREENEBEITIFHEA
390,000 L - ZEBFHERAB—ES
BEBERMNEETZE -

BESN - R =N BF A AR B
n E/i\?rgﬂ fk BI) 7 B 2N & B R A &R
BaRGMAEENHESEMLE S
HMEFEMEBBHK BREHE
AMEEXNNEHRES(EHER
Bl -

EITEHEIIR_ZTE - —_FFE XA
THEHEAEER BEHREAREETR
Bl VSR TR & MR EE AR B ET 1R T 2R
BERARBESOMZE - BEREAE
BERHEI-_E-_RAERA—B)E
NAER I FEEFRITHE R
[FEEAEBERBHEMN2FRNED
—IEMAEE LEBEEIZIN—FT
THENBNEEEFNRAKRES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z=-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

40.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (Continued)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)
(Continued)

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s
mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/
negative returns, after the Transition Date can continue
to be applied to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP
obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-Transition
Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligation
before the Transition Date will be grandfathered and
calculated based on the Last monthly wages immediately
preceding the Transition Date and the years of service
up to that date. The Amendment Ordinance has impact
on the Group’s LSP liability with respect to employees
that participate in MPF Scheme and the Group has
accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition
as disclosed in Note 2.

LSP obligation

Movements in the present value of unfunded LSP
obligation in the current year were as follows:

40. RKEFETE (F)

REERERKAG (F57E) VR

HRE SN (&)
RIBERTGD - EBERAMR A&

Eevsa bl tEoRE e HRER - ML
MEEME Bz AJAEER
REHBEBEBHANRERE S S
B ETERREEBEARED
EHRBEEL - H BEBRH
MMESRESEBEERE IR
BEEEBARAMARR -—EANT
EMBEZARNRSEFRETE
;°{JMWH$EIW/AﬁF

CHEMEEAZNRERB A
Fﬁ@@ WKE@E%W?ﬁHQ
TR O K 55 M B I HLRE BRE 1T

RUBRBEEE

AEREARRERARE &
ZEgmT:

BEERE

2023
— = — =

— = =

HK$'000
FTRER

Opening unfunded obligation HYIRBERE
Current service cost B R 7S A AR
Interest cost F BB A

Closing unfunded obligation EBERBRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - F - =Z#+_-_A=+—HIFFEZE

40.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (Continued)
LSP obligation (Continued)

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31
December 2023 is 6 years.

The current service cost and the net interest expense
for the year are included in the employee benefits
expenses in profit or loss. Of the expenses for the
year, HK$298,000 has been included in administrative
expenses.

Significant actuarial assumption for the determination
of the LSP obligation is discount rate of 3%. The
sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on reasonably possible changes of the respective
assumption occurring at the end of the reporting period,
while holding all other assumptions constant.

o If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher
(lower), the LSP obligation would decrease by
HK$74,000 (increase by HK$66,000).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be
representative of the actual change in the LSP obligation
as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would
occur in isolation of one another as some of the
assumptions may be correlated.

40.

S

RKE R T8 (&)

RERE € EE (A
R-ZFZ=F+ZA=+—H BH
BERFHHRREF -

N BDHI AR A5 KR RN B 2 F R

AR ANEBERMNMAX - R
f X & - 298,000/% T 2 & A 1T I
¥ o

EXrRIRBEENETERER
BRBEEI% c LTHREESNTD
BEERIVNBEHAREFLENAE
MRS mMET  MAEHEMEBRERE
BAE -

o (HBEIRE EF (TBE)100ME A S -
Bl RHIR & & T 158 274,000
7 7T (1% 166,000 7T) °

R 2N ZHERESFTRBERR
FHARBEEEZEREY  RE
RETEXUEMAEAE RER
HE TR RUL B -
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AR (E)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2023 HE_-F-=#F+ A=+ —HI FE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 41. AQETEMBEARFE
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RBERRARAEELRBEAERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set MITB AR FBEHINNT:
out below:
Place of Issued share
incorporation capital/
andtype of  Principal activities and registered Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power
Name legal entity ~ place of operation capital held by the Company held by the Company
HRAIHYR BEf BAAR BAAR
%3 EARREE GEEEREESY  RA/URER FRERRRERLH BERERHLH
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
B B B% [

203 R 20 BV 20 B 2023
CECCE e m Tk e T F T e

Strat Tech Holdings Limited Bl Investment holding USs1 (7Y 100% 100% (EIIIES -
ERRAES RERR %7
Shen You (China) Limited Hong Kong Investment holding ~ HK$10,000,000 (7 100% - 100% =
RE(RE)RRAT (i RERE  10,000000%7
Tseyu Intemational Trading Hong Kong ~ Trading of sewing threads ~ HK$60,000,000 - — YN 100% - — vy 100%
Company Limited and broad categories of
garment accessaries
FHAREAERAT B HOBNZBREZHZ 6000000057
7
Newchamp Industries Limited Hong Kong ~ Trading of sewing threads ~ HK$30,000,000 - — YN 100% - o 100% [REIF)
HORRZARAA (5 £U585 3000000087
Chesrful Keen Limited BYI Investment holding US$1 - - (7 100% - - 100% 100%
EERARAT FBRAES REAR %7
Clolah International Limited Hong Kong Fashion design and HK$10,000 - — YN 100% - 1 100% [REIF)
trading
of garment accessories
REAEEERAT FE BRRRREEEER 000087
Thrill Rank Company Limited BVI Investment holding US$100 (7Y 100% - — Y 100% - -
EBRAHE RERR 10£7
Diamond Motto Limited BVI Investment holding 15§30 (7 100% - — Y 100% - -
EBRAHE RERR N0ET
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 41. AR EMBLARRE (H)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of Issued share
incorporation capital/
and type of Principal activities and registered Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power
Name legal entity ~place of operation capital held by the Company held by the Company
ERATEER BRf BALE R
% ETARREY IEREREENE  RA/EREX FEZRRRRZLA FRZRERLA
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
E% Bk Bk [}

2023 2022 2023 200 2023 200 2023

2022

CECCE bt T F bl " ECCF et — 5 e

LMP International Limited Hong Kong Provision of interior HKS1 - 100% 100% - 100%
design, fitting out and
decoration Services
THERERLA FE REEMEH RER 1%
LHRE
Better Dynasty Limited Hong Kong Investment holding HK$10,000 100% RIS
Bt REER  10000%T
Harbour Equine Limited Hong Kong Investment holding HK$100 o 100%
i RERK 10047
Harbour Equing Pty Ltd Australia Horse breeding AUSS100 - 100%
Y 154 10047
Harbour Stallion Pty Ltd Australia Horse breeding AUS$100 o 100%
2 FLEE 100%7
Harbour Racing Limited Hong Kong Equine management HK$100 100% QIS -
service
Harbour Racing Limited i ELEERE 10047
Guangzhou Xinhua thread PRC  Manufacture and trading  HK$64,250,000 o 100%
Company Limited* of sewing threads and
broad categories of
garment accessories
EMFEEXERAT i BOSAZE 6425000087
REGHEERES
RERELE(LA) PRC Investment holding ~ HK$10,000,000 — )
ERAT
RERELE(LE) E FEBR 1000000027
ERAF

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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" Forthe year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ=F - =F+-H=4—HIFEF

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 41. AR EMBLARRFE (H)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of Issued share
incorporation capital/
andtypeof  Principal activities and registered Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power
Name legal entity ~ place of operation capital held by the Company held by the Company
HRAIBYR BEf BAAE RAAR
1 EARMER EREREE4Y  RA/iRER FEARRRERD RERERLH
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Bk [ B% L

2023
“BCCE

MR EEERAT PRC  Sellng of sewing threads  RMB500,000 100%
and broad categories of
garment accessaries
NFBEEERAT mE ROSALERREHT  ARH500000
7 T
Hua Yu Investment HongKong ~ Provision of corporate  HK$1,750,000 -
Management Limited** financial advisory services
and asset management
Services
EERASEERLAH 5 RECEMEZA 175000037
REREEEERE
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities HEGFE BENBARZETEM
at the end of the year. BEHEF o
& Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law. e BREFEEZEIMAIIEBEDE -
b Hua Yu was acquired during the year ended 31 December 2022. e ERRBEM T _—_F+=_A=+—
Details are disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial BEFEHKEE FBERAGRAEVBERE
statements. M EE33 E -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE TeS~——

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  42. ADQEH MR R #HER
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
—E-= —_=E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BENKE 197
Right-of-use assets FREEE 127
Financial assets at FVTPL WAREFABENEREE 60
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RAIMKEE 14,900
15,284
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note) F& W KB X 7] 5k B (47 it) 19,717 81,043
Prepayments, deposit and other FERHIE e kHMEK
receivables R IE 275 444
Cash and cash equivalents BehkIREEEY 3,245 316
23,237 81,803
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBERE
Other payables and accruals EmENRELEGTER 3,311
Borrowings f& =& 26,292
Lease liability HEAaffE 135
29,738
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) REB(EBEETFHE
ASSETS (6,424) 52,065
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRDERS
LIABILITIES 8,890 67,349
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Retirement benefit obligation BReBAEME —
Lease liabilities HEaE =
NET ASSETS EEEE 67,349
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ=F - =F+-H=4+—HIFFEF

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42, Z2E 8 5 #R5% & 7 6 & (&)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

2023 2022
—E_-= ZE R

HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THET

CAPITAL AND RESERVES IR A R 7%
Share capital [N 20,457 20,457
Reserves & (11,682) 46,892
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 8,775 67,349
The Company's statement of financial position was EFeRn_T_WF=ZA=-_+/\B#
approved and authori_sed for i_ssue by the Board on 28 EN BRI RATH B RS
March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: THUTEEAEES

Wong Kwok Wai, Albert Leung King Yue, Alex

EEELE REWESE
Director Director
EE 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

42.

43.

A B R M (8)

N

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42, RXRFEIMBRARRER

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves RARHEES

Share
Share Share option Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total
R& RAEE BRERE 2HER @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FEL TER THR FER

At 1 January 2022 RZE-ZF-f- 20,457 130,674 1,165 (64,520) 87766

Recognition of equity settled RIS & E MK 1’

share-based payment S H31)

(Note 31) — — 3,787 — 3,787
Loss for the year ERER - - - (24,204) (24,204)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 R-Z--%+-A

January 2023 =+-Ak=%

“=f-A-H 130,674 (88,724) 67,349

Loss for the year FRESR - (58,574) (58,574)

At 31 December 2023 R=ZB=zZ%

+=-A=+-H 20,457 130,674 4,942 (147,298)

Note: The amounts due from subsidiaries represent fund transfer for the et - BB RARREREEEAEEBRE
Group's daily operation. The amounts are interest-free, unsecured BEZE® REREARALE EER
and repayable on demand. RBERERER -

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 43. REHEREE

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group MEMRE AEBE=ZR2ERAE

obtained the letter of intent of extension of the loans EEFRERBEMR  UBHED

facilities from three lenders to extend the utilised loans A E R E £22,300000% T & &

facilities amounted to approximately HK$22,300,000 and A E L& 413,200,000 T i 2

the unused loans facilities amounted to approximately —FETRF o

HK$13,200,000 for 1 year to 2025.
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Five Year Financial Summary
hFHHHE

" For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ_-F - =F+_-HA=+—HIFE

TXHEIAEERBELBHRFERE 2
XEUREBEERBEHME  DHREEECA
MOEERWBRER TEEEEY &

o

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the published audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out below:

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-BALEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —E-C —Z-- “E-%E —T-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT FEL FET FEL
RESULTS ES
REVENUE I & 69,059 76,274 73,365 44,984 58,746
Direct cost HEEKA (72,359) (62,893) (58,673) (34,537) (47416)
Gross (loss) profit E(8) 7 (3,300) 13,381 14,792 10,447 11,330
Other gains and losses, net ~ Ettl G R EBRFE (8,984) 2,023 4,269 (1,077) 2,039
Selling and distribution HERABRAX
expenses (3,317) (5,170) (7.023) (5,745) (7393)
Administrative expenses THAY (21,495) (29,450) (23,356) (13,942) (13,508)
Impairment loss under BEEEEREATHE
expected credit loss BREMRER)
model, net of reversal (3,662) (1,051) (1,520 (146) (3,103)
Impairment loss on property, #1% - BERRERE
plant and equipment B (799) = — (1,465) 2
Impairment loss on goodwill 75 & 5l (& & 12 - — (12,103) — —
Other expenses Ef Y - — (1,634) 3,302) (4,709)
Finance costs BAKA (5,010) (2,637) 666) (365) (1,313)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRHAEE (46,567) (22,904) (27241) (15,595) (16,657)
Income tax expense ERAX (258) — - - (2,562)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FRER (46,825) (22,904) (27241) (15,595) (19,219)
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Five Year Financial Summary (Continued)
hFHHEE(E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z-F - =F+-_A=+—HIFFE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
As at 31 December
R+=ZA=1+-AH
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= -E-z —E-% C"T-TF _T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET T THET FHET
TOTAL ASSETS EEHE 79,329 136,520 120,986 61,140 79,493
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEEE (59,941) (68,592) (29,221) (15,532) (37021)
19,388 67928 91,765 45,608 42,472
Note: it

The summary above does not form part of the audited financial statements for PRGBSI TIEREE_FT_=F+-_A=+—H1t
the year ended 31 December 2023. FENKERUBREN D -
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Schedule of Bloodstocks and Stallions
M B N A iE BT R

As At 31 December 2023 R-ZFE-—=Z#F+_-_HA=+—H

Broodmares

No. Name % Holding
i 5% BB REAREBR BRESL
1 Le Grand Cru 100.00%
2 Rockin Babe 100.00%
3 Shadow Of The Mist 50.00%
4 She’s On Time 100.00%
5 Sylpheed 100.00%
Racehorses

No. Name % Holding
#m 5% BB REAREBR BRESL
1 Bear Story 17.50%
2 Dysart 100.00%
3 Exceed Speed 25.00%
4 Getable 25.00%
13 Godzilla 10.00%
6 Going Nuclear 20.00%
7 Hachiman 40.00%
8 Immortal Island 10.00%
9 Kotaishi 25.00%
10 Leighton Hill 87.50%
1 Lord Admiral 20.00%
12 Mo'unga 5.00%
13 One Command 25.00%
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Schedule of Bloodstocks and Stallions (Continued)

EENEREENRGE)

As At 31 December 2023 R-ZFE-—=Z#F+_-_HA=+—H

No. Name % Holding
i 5% 2B REAREBZR FERESHK
14 Orion The Hunter 20.00%
15 Palauga 50.00%
16 Piercing Arrow 10.00%
17 Pimpernel 30.00%
18 Port Lockroy 25.00%
19 Raikoke 40.00%
20 Rock ‘N’ Reign 40.00%
21 Sly Boots 20.00%
22 Transatlantic 25.00%
23 Victoon 10.00%
24 Williamsburg 15.00%
25 Zouwaler 20.00%
26 Pierro x Don’t Cry Wolf 20 50.00%
Colts

No. Name % Holding
i 5% 2B REARBZR FREOHK
1 Le Grand Cru x Magnus 23 100.00%
2 Omniscient x Portland Sky 23 100.00%
3 Rockin Babe x Dubious 23 100.00%
4 Starspangledbanner x Vivid 21 25.00%
5 Sylpheed x Wootton Bassett 23 100.00%
6 Tagaloa x Le Grand Cru 22 70.00%
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Schedule of Bloodstocks and Stallions (Continued)
EELaEENNX(E)

As At 31 December 2023 R-ZFE-—=Z#F+_-_HA=+—H

Fillies it 55

No. Name % Holding
i 5% BB REAREBR BRESL
1 Capitalist x Shadow Of The Mist 21 100.00%
2 Portland Sky x She's On Time 23 100.00%
Stallions BE

No. Name % Holding
AR 5% BB REARBER BRESL
1 All Too Hard 1.67%
2 Denman 33.33%
5 Grunt 2.00%
4 Jacquinot 2.00%
5 Portland Sky 25.00%
6 Sooboog 2.50%
7 Star Witness 2.00%
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